ESSER LITERATURE BRIEFS

Dr. Joris M. Ray, Superintendent Dr. Angela Whitelaw, Deputy Superintendent William E. White II, Executive Director, Planning & Accountability Jessica Lotz, Director, Research & Performance Management



The Department of Research & Performance Management Authored By:

Anne Walton Garrison Cardella L. Leak, Ph.D. Hannah L. Pallotta Shelby G. Roberts, Ph.D. Marie A. Sell, Ph.D. Patrick L. Shipp, Ph.D. Angelica Thompson, Ph.D. Ashton Toone





Memphis-Shelby County Schools ESSER Literature Briefs

Contents

Academics	3
Extended Summer Learning	3
Tutoring as an Intervention	7
Implementing Blended Learning in Classrooms	13
Reading Advisors	16
RTI & Intervention Materials & Platforms	19
Student Readiness	25
Social Emotional Curriculum	25
Mental Health & Behavior Specialist Resources	31
Class Size Reduction with Educational Assistants	41
Home Literacy Kits	47
Foreign Language Expansion	53
English as a Second Language Support	59
Arts Expansion	64
Online Learning and Virtual Schools	70
College Readiness/ACT Preparation	73
AP Course Expansion	76
AgriSTEM Program Expansion	82
College, Career, & Technical Education: Coding	85
Naviance	91
Attendance & Truancy Supports	96
Educators	
Teacher Bridge Program	
Create Our Own - Teaching Profession	
Strategic Teacher Retention and Recruitment	
Proximity Learning	112



Extended Summer Learning Prepared by the Department of Research & Performance Management

Academics

Extended Summer Learning

April 2021 Author: Hannah L. Pallotta

Strategy

Provide an 8-week fifth quarter in the summer of 2021 with a focus on English/Language Arts (ELA) and mathematics.

Description

Targeted students in grades Kindergarten to 11th grade that are below a specific academic threshold will attend an 8-week fifth quarter in the summer of 2021 that focuses on ELA and mathematics instructional support.

Recommendations

- A significant portion of funds should focus on the instruction of mathematics and reading.^{7, 11, 14, 15, 16}
- Funds should be set aside for fostering the participation of disadvantaged students.^{7,} ^{11, 12, 14, 15, 16} Districts should encourage students to attend the program consecutive summers to increase the academic impact.¹²
- "Resist the temptation to micromanage programs and give local schools and teachers leeway in how to structure and deliver programs." 7; 11, 14, 15, 16
- Begin planning summer programming as early in the year as possible and ensure needed materials are delivered on time.^{7, 12, 15, 16}
- Give hiring preference to teachers who have taught past summer programs; "effective and motivated teachers."^{7, 13, 15, 16}

Background

The summer learning gap is uniquely American; although the summer break is lengthy, it does not significantly lower in-class time to learn in comparison to other nations.¹ A study that assessed summer learning loss found that children's test scores were on average at least one month lower in the fall than scores taken the previous spring.² The summer learning gap does not affect all students equally; as one study observed it is low socioeconomic status (SES) students who show the greatest loss of learning. Jencks and Phillips also estimate that half or more of the gap measured in the 12th grade reflects continuity of differences evident at the start of 1st grade.⁴ However, as noted by Kendi, when speaking of the gap between Black and white students' scores, it is important to make the distinction that, "the racial problem is the opportunity gap...not the achievement gap."⁵ Because of this, it is evident that some kind of intervention is needed to help students, specifically historically oppressed students, from falling behind. A study done about the cost of summer programming found that districts tend to spend less per-week, per-pupil on summer programming than they do on education during the academic year.⁶ "We conclude



that providing a summer learning program can cost between \$1,109 and \$2,801 per student per summer for a five-week schedule that includes food, transportation, and facilities." They noted that the key cost driver was staffing so lowering the student-to-instructor ratio has significant cost implications.

Summer programs have shown mixed results on both the long- and short-term academic benefits.

- A well cited^{9, 11, 15, 17, 18} meta-analysis of almost 100 studies⁷ found that students who completed remedial summer programs can be expected to score about one fifth of a standard deviation higher than the control group on outcome measures. They also found that middle-class students had more positive effects than students from disadvantaged backgrounds. Summer programs that provided small group or individual instruction produced the largest impact on student outcomes. The study showed that remedial summer programs may have a larger effect on math achievement than on reading. However, the achievement advantage gained by students who attended summer school may diminish over time.
- A study of Durham Public Schools' summer school program found similar results.⁸ Students who needed to pass both the mathematics and the reading portion in order to promote to the next grade only had a one in ten chance of being successful, while students who only needed the mathematics portion stood a much greater chance at promotion. Put differently, reading had a low success rate.
- The long-term effects of summer learning programs are still unknown.⁶ "There are not enough studies on large-scale summer learning programs to provide evidence that urban districts' students make achievement gains commensurate with the district's investment."¹⁹
- Contrasting the above findings that summer programs had better outcomes for math than for reading, another study found that in their study of summer school programs in charter schools in Kansas City, MO, students' reading achievement increased significantly.⁹ Data analysis showed that students' STAR Reading scale scores increased significantly between pre- and post-tests. Students self-reported that they improved their math skills more than their reading skills, however, the math scores were not available for analysis.
- Locally, the Superintendent's Summer Learning Academy (SSLA) has been in effect for three years in Memphis-Shelby County Schools. After the second year, the research department evaluated the program to see if any gains achieved during the program persisted.¹⁰ No statistically significant differences were found between the SSLA participants and the comparison cohort, with the exception of NWEA MAP Reading in the spring 2019. This shows that while there were not immediate academic benefits for rising Kindergarteners who participated in SSLA, participation in SSLA combined with a year of Kindergarten instruction gave students a boost in the end of the year reading formative assessment.
- A study more generally about out-of-school-time (OST) programs found that these programs can have positive effects on at-risk students' reading and mathematics



achievements.¹¹ OST programs that have one-on-one tutoring also have positive effects on at-risk students' achievement in reading.

• Lastly, in the longest study of summer learning programs, beginning in 2011 and ending in 2017, researchers tracked outcomes for three years after students entered the second and final year of summer programming.¹² The program offered short-term benefits to students in mathematics after one summer. Those who were high attenders outperformed the control group of students in mathematics in the fall and again the following spring. After two summers in the program, high attenders were rated higher on social-emotional skills than the comparable control group, however this did not continue into spring 2017. They found that three school years after the summer program, high attenders' academic benefits decreased in magnitude and were not statistically significant. Also, they did not find evidence that the program affected anything that was not specifically targeted such as suspension or attendance rates during the school year.

What does a Successful Summer Program Look Like? Small Class Sizes, Support Services, & Enriching

- Some form of parent involvement produced larger effect than programs without⁷; gaining 'parental buy-in' potentially increases enrollment and attendance.¹³
- Small learning groups were cited often as being successful^{7; 9, 12, 13, 14, 15, 20}; Individualized instruction produce the largest impact on student outcomes^{7; 9, 11, 14} Classes capped at 20 students were found to be more effective in producing achievement gains.^{7, 13}
- Support services were provided (meals, transportation, childcare, etc.)^{7, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16} "Policymaker should earmark funds for transportation...and for food services...and to provide childcare for younger family members."
- Teachers have creative freedom with lessons;^{7, 9, 13, 14, 15, 16} Teachers are encouraged to use new teaching strategies and use more hands-on activities to encourage student engagement.^{9, 13}
- A fun atmosphere; time for educational games, extra-curricular activities, opportunities for enrichment, etc.^{7, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16} "The programs provided many students with opportunities that they might not have had otherwise, such as to swim, rock climb, cook, and experience new environments."^{12; 9} "Programs should address the developmental needs of the whole child and offer a variety of activities."¹¹
- At least five weeks of programming with at least three hours of instruction per day; increasing the weeks could increase attendance rate.^{12, 13} Debate around the amount of hours/weeks a program should be differ greatly^{21, 22} but most agree that 5 weeks can produce short-term benefits^{12, 13, 21}



References

- 1. Wiseman, A. & Baker, D. (2004). The American Summer Learning Gap from an International Perspective. In *Summer Learning* (1st ed., 53–66). essay, S&S Learning Materials.
- Cooper, H., Nye, B., Charlton, K., Lindsay, J., & Greathouse, S. (1996). The Effects of Summer Vacation on Achievement Test Scores: A Narrative and Meta-Analytic Review. *Review of Educational Research*, 66(3), 227–268.
- 3. Alexander, K. L., Entwisle, D. R., & Olson, L. S. (2007). Lasting Consequences of the Summer Learning Gap. *American Sociological Review*, 72(2), 167–180.
- 4. Phillips, M., Crouse, J., & Ralph, J. (1998). Does the Black-White Test Score Gap Widen After Children Enter School? *The Black-White Test Score Gap*, edited by Jenck, C. & Phillips, M., 229-72.
- 5. Kendi, I. X. (2019). *How to be an antiracist*. Bodley Head.
- 6. McCombs, J. S. (2011). Cost of Summer Programming. In *Making summer count: how summer programs can boost children's learning.* essay, RAND.
- Cooper, H., Charlton, K. Valentine, J.C., & Muhlenbruck, L. 92000). Making the most of summer school: A meta-analytic and narrative review. Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 65(1), 1-118.
- 8. Haenn, J. (2001, April). The Effectiveness of Summer School in Getting Students To Function on Grade Level in Gateway Grades. Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association. Seattle; WA.
- 9. Almus, K., & Dogan, B. (2016). A Study of Summer School Enrichment Program in High-Poverty Urban Public Charter School. *Reading Improvement*, 1–16.
- 10. Sell, M. (2019, August). Superintendent's Summer Learning Academy: Year 2 Program Evaluation -Student Outcomes. Shelby County Schools Publications.
- Lauer, P., Akiba, M., Wilkerson, S., Apthorp, H., Snow, D., & Martin-Glenn, M. (2006). Out-of-School-Time Programs: A Meta-Analysis of Effects for At-Risk Students. *Review of Educational Research*, 76(Summer 2006), 275–313.
- 12. McCombs, J., Augustine, C., Pane, J., & Schweig, J. (2020). Every Summer Counts: A Longitudinal Analysis of Outcomes from the National Summer Learning Project. *RAND*.
- 13. McCombs, J. S. (2011). Effectiveness of Summer Learning Programs. In Making summer count: how summer programs can boost children's learning. essay, RAND.
- 14. Cooper, H. (2004). Is the School Calendar Dated? Education, Economics, and the Politics of Time. In *Summer Learning* (1st ed., 3–23). essay, S&S Learning Materials.
- 15. Cooper, H. (2001). Summer-school: research-based recommendations for policymakers. SERVE.
- 16. Cooper, H. (2003). Summer Learning Loss: The Problem and Some Solutions. *ERIC Digest*.
- Allington, R. L., Mcgill-Franzen, A., Camilli, G., Williams, L., Graff, J., Zeig, J., ... Nowak, R. (2010). Addressing Summer Reading Setback Among Economically Disadvantaged Elementary Students. *Reading Psychology*, 31(5), 411–427.
- 18. McCombs, J. S. (2011). Introduction. In *Making summer count: how summer programs can boost children's learning. essay, RAND.*
- 19. McCombs, J. S. (2011). Conclusions and Recommendations. In *Making summer count: how summer programs can boost children's learning.* essay, RAND.
- 20. Boss, S., & Railsback, J., (2002.) Summer School Programs: A Look at the Research, Implications for Practice, and Program Sampler.
- 21. McLaughlin, B., & Pitcock, S. (2009.) Building Quality in Summer Learning Programs: Approaches and Recommendations.
- 22. Winship, S., Hollister, M., Howich, J., Sharkey, P., & Wimer, C. (2005.) Promoting Education Achievement and Opportunity Through Summer Scholarships.



Tutoring as an Intervention

May 2021 Author: Shelby G. Roberts, Ph.D.

Key Findings

- Tutoring is consistently cited as an effective intervention that provides large, meaningful impacts on student learning even compared to other intervention programs.^{1, 2}
- "Tutoring—supplemental one-on-one or small group instruction—has been promoted as an effective method for helping students learn, particularly those who have fallen behind."²
- Elementary tutoring often shows the largest gains, but secondary mathematics tutoring is also effective.
- High-dosage tutoring is the gold standard for tutoring and has shown the largest student gains in reading and math.
 - Tutoring is most effective when delivered during school hours in 30–60 sessions at least 3 times per week.
 - Having tutoring built into student schedules allows for more equitable access to the services as well as consistent usage.
 - Tutors can be paraprofessionals, teachers, or recent, well-trained college graduates.
 - $\circ\,$ If strategically implemented, high-dosage tutoring can be implemented in a cost-effective manner.

Support for Tutoring as an Intervention

- Tutoring is cited as the most effective of all educational interventions followed only in scale by detailed student feedback and progress monitoring and cooperative learning.¹
- On average effective tutoring can move a student from the 50th percentile to the 66th percentile on academic gains, a stable gain of about 0.35 standard deviations (SD; which is considered substantial in educational settings) was found across three separate large scale meta-analyses.^{1, 2, 3, 4}
- A plethora of tutoring programs exist that have vast differences in their implementation. However, the findings are consistent that "tutoring interventions exert substantial effects on learning across a wide range of program characteristics."⁴

Difference in Student Groups

- Economically disadvantaged students are less likely to sign up for free after-school tutoring.⁵
- While other interventions often show lower effects for students of color, tutoring did not have a significantly different effect for these students compared to their White peers.¹
- Black students and female students took advantage of free after-school tutoring more often than their Hispanic/Latinx, White, Asian, and male peers.⁵

Elementary vs. Secondary Students

• Historically, younger students show the most benefit from interventions for a variety of reasons,⁶ and thus tend to exhibit a higher return on investment.⁷



Tutoring as an Intervention Prepared by the Department of Research & Performance Management

- While overall effects for math and reading tutoring programs are similar, reading tutoring tends to be relatively more effective for students in Pre-K through 1st grade, while math tutoring tends to be more effective for students in 2nd through 5th grade.⁴
- Additionally, high-school math tutoring can yield significant gains as well on both math assessment scores and grades.⁸
- Studies on tutoring are more common for elementary grades, thus the impacts of middlegrades and high-school tutoring could potentially be minimized due to their lower frequency of reporting.
- Reading programs focusing on "explicit instruction (e.g., in phonics, decoding, and/or structural analysis)" show strong results in 1st grade through 3rd grade.^{9, 10, 11}

Best Practices and High Dosage Tutoring

High dosage tutoring (HDT) typically consists of personalized tutoring that takes place multiple times per week during the academic school day and delivers hundreds of hours of tutoring in a single academic year.¹²

- "Based on the current research, high-dosage tutoring seems to be most effective in early grades literacy and high school math."¹³
- HDT incorporates the following characteristics, which could also be utilized as a bestpractices model in after-school programs:

Frequency

- Ideally, HDT should provide at least 30–60-minute tutoring sessions three times per week. $^{14,}_{18}$
- Studies have found little evidence that once-a-week tutoring is sufficient to generate meaningful gains.^{15, 16, 17, 25}
- 2nd through 5th grade students showed the most gains when tutoring occurred 3 days per week, while Pre-K-1st grade had more gains with 4-5 days per week.^{18, 19}
- Students who received at least 35 sessions in a year had significantly larger positive effects than those who participated at a lower rate (increase of 0.13–0.17 SD).²⁰

Group Size

- Ideal group sizes range between 2–3 with any more than 4 students tutoring moving into small group instruction which is not as effective.¹⁴ In grades 2–5, a 3:1 ratio has been shown to be ideal.⁴
- Novice tutors should not work with more than 2 students at a time.¹³
- 1:1 tutoring is the most effective form of tutoring,¹⁰ although this option can prove extremely costly for districts.^{2, 24}

Scheduling

- Tutoring should happen during the school day. Building tutoring into student schedules allows for consistent dosage of tutoring as well as equitable access to these services.¹³
- The impact of during-school tutoring programs (1.0 SD) is twice as large as that of afterschool programs (0.4 SD).⁴ After school tutoring programs can vary widely in their



implementation and their level of fidelity. This results in mixed outcomes for these types of programs.

- In a random assignment study of a national after-school program, no positive effects were found on reading test scores or grades for elementary or middle school students.²¹ Most large-scale control-studies find insignificant or minute effects for after-school programs.²⁷
- Alternatively, many small-scale after-school tutoring programs have shown moderate student growth as compared to their non-tutored peers.^{24, 28, 29}
- Parents indicated that they often selected tutoring programs based to the convenience and transportation logistics, and students who were on free and reduced lunch status signed up for free after-school tutoring at much lower rates.⁵
- Tutors should remain connected with the same students over the course of a year. This allows the students to build a relationship with their tutors and the tutors to understand the students' learning needs.¹⁴

Staffing and Training

- A different skill set is needed for tutors compared to teaching a normal size classroom. This lower skill set can likely open the door for effective tutors to be well-trained volunteers and college graduates.
- Teacher-led tutoring shows the strongest gains for students followed by paraprofessionals^a (with a formal tie to the school and tutoring role), community-volunteer, and parent-volunteers, respectively.^{4, 22}
- Tutors should receive high quality intensive training before engaging with students.
 - A four-week intensive training was implemented with college graduates prior to 9 months of on-site tutoring which significantly improved student test scores and grades.^{6, 23}
 - Modest, though smaller, effect sizes have been shown in non-experimental tutoring designs for tutors who have a modest amount of training (e.g., 4+ hours) though most of these volunteers were education majors.^{24, 26}

Cost

Cost of tutoring programs can be prohibitive for some districts; however, a few key strategies can vastly decrease the per-pupil expense and even make tutoring one of the most cost-effective school-based interventions.

- Using paraprofessionals including recent college graduates on single- or two-year contracts that are geared as a year of service can show strong benefits at a much lower cost than utilizing teachers.⁶
- Create tutoring pods of 3 students for upper elementary grades where students benefit from peer interaction and can increase the number of students served.²
- Frequently track data to best utilize the tutors and hone in on areas where students struggle.

^a Recent, well-trained college graduates who worked full time as tutors were classified as paraprofessionals in the meta-analyses.



Current Tennessee Programs

There are three current high-dosage pilot tutoring programs taking place in Tennessee school districts.¹³ While only one district is similar to Memphis-Shelby County Schools (MSCS) is size and scope, Memphis-Shelby County Schools should connect with each District to ascertain their success and challenges in order to build off of their models.

- Lenoir City Schools (LCS) near Knoxville has roughly 2.5K students. It sought to combat some of the learning loss associated with pandemic related closures. They piloted a highdosage tutoring program with 20 juniors and saw almost all students make growth as measured by pre- and post-ACT test. "Both tutors and participants reported strong engagement and found value in the tutoring opportunity." LCS is planning to pilot an 8th grade focused program using juniors as tutors in the fall.
- Metro Nashville Public Schools (MNPS) serves around 85K students. They piloted a tutoring program for seniors in 2020. During the program they saw a 95% attendance rate for tutoring and plan to scale this program. After evaluating and course-correcting challenges in the senior program, MNPS is now piloting a high-dosage tutoring program for 150 students focused on literacy in grades 3–5 and numeracy in grades 6–9 in spring 2021. They are conducting the pilot as a randomized control trial in order to evaluate its effectiveness.
- Trousdale County Schools (TCS) enrolls about 1.3K students. They implemented a highdosage tutoring program during a scheduling block for Tier 2 first grade students. The block scheduling will continue in Summer 2021 as part of a summer literacy camp program. They plan to implement the program district-wide in the following academic year.

Endnotes

Short research-based briefs, guides, and publications on tutoring best practices.

- 1. <u>High-dosage tutoring: Planning and implementation guide</u> by SCORE Institute of TN.
- 2. <u>High-dosage tutoring that works for students</u> by SCORE Institute of TN.
- 3. <u>The transformative potential of tutoring for prek-12 learning outcomes: Lessons from</u> <u>randomized evaluations</u> by Latif Jameel Poverty Action Lab.
- 4. Accelerated student learning with high dosage tutoring by EdResearch for Recovery.
- 5. <u>Toolkit for tutoring programs: Equitable access to quality tutoring</u> by National Student Support Accelerator. (Long guide)



References

- Dietrichson, J., Bøg, M., Filges, T., & Klint Jørgensen, A. M. (2017). Academic interventions for elementary and middle school students with low socioeconomic status: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Review of Educational Research, 87(2), 243–282. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654316687036
- 2. Nickow, A. J., Oreopoulos, P, & Quan, V. (2021). The transformative potential of tutoring for prek–12. Learning outcomes: Lessons from randomized evaluations. JPAL (Latif Jameel Poverty Action Lab).
- Ritter, G. W., Barnett, J. H., Denny, G. S., & Albin, G. R. (2009). The effectiveness of volunteer tutoring programs for elementary and middle school students: A meta-analysis. Review of Educational Research, 79(1), 3–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654308325690</u>
- 4. Nickow, A., Oreopoulos, P., & Quan, V. (2020). The impressive effects of tutoring on prek-12 learning: A systematic review and meta-analysis of the experimental evidence. Working paper 27476. <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w27476</u>
- Heinrich, C. J., Meyer, R. H., & Whitten, G. (2010). Supplemental education services under No Child Left Behind: Who signs up, and what do they gain? Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 32(2), 273–298. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373710361640</u>
- Guryan, J., Ludwig, J., Bhatt, M. P., Cook, P. J., Davis, J. M. V., Dodge, K., Farkas, G., Fryer Jr., R. G., Mayer, S., Pallock, H., & Steinberg, L. (2021). Not Too Late: Improving Academic Outcomes Among Adolescents (No. w28531). National Bureau of Economic Research. <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w28531</u>
- 7. Carneiro, P., & Heckman, J. (2003). Human Capital Policy. In James J. Heckman & A. B. Krueger (Eds.), Inequality in America: What Role for Human Capital Policies? (pp. 77–240). MIT Press.
- 8. Cook, P. J., Dodge, K., Farkas, G., Fryer, Jr., R. G., Guryan, J., Ludwig, J., Mayer, S., Pollack, H., & Steinberg, L. (2015). Not too late: Improving academic outcomes for disadvantaged youth. Institute for Policy Research Northwestern University Working Paper WP-15-01.
- Vadasy, P. F. & Sanders, E. A. (2011). Efficacy of supplemental phonics-based instruction for lowskilled first graders: How language minority status and pretest characteristics moderate treatment response. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 15(6), 471–497. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888438.2010.501091
- Vadasy, P. F., Sanders, E. A., & Peyton, J. A. (2006). Paraeducator-supplemented instruction in structural analysis with text reading practice for second and third graders at risk for reading problems. *Remedial and Special Education*, 27(6), 365–378. https://doi.org/10.1177/07419325060270060601
- 11. Vadasy, P. F., Sanders, E. A., & Tudor, S. (2007). Effectiveness of paraeducator-supplemented individual instruction: Beyond basic decoding skills. *Journal of Learning Disabilities, 40*(6), 508–525. https://doi.org/10.1177/00222194070400060301
- 12. Shawchuk, S. (2020) *High-dosage tutoring is effective, but expensive. ideas for making it work.* Retrieved from <u>https://www.edweek.org/leadership/high-dosage-tutoring-is-effective-but-expensive-ideas-for-making-it-work/2020/08</u>
- 13. SCORE Institute (2021) High Dosage Tutoring: Planning and Implementation Guide.
- 14. Robinson, C. D., Kraft, M. A., Loeb, S., & Schueler, B. E. (2021). Accelerating student learning with high-dosage tutoring. EdResearch for Recovery.
- Lauer, P. A., Akiba, M., Wilkerson, S. B., Athorp, H. S., Snow, D., & Martin-Glenn, M. L. (2006). Out-ofschool-time programs: A meta-analysis of effects for at-risk students. Review of Educational Research, 76, 275–313. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543076002275</u>
- Ritter, G., & Maynard, R. (2008). Using the right design to get the 'wrong' answer? Results of a random assignment evaluation of a volunteer tutoring programme. Journal of Children's Services, 3(2), 4–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/17466660200800008</u>
- Miller, S., & Connolly, P. (2013). A randomized controlled trial evaluation of time to read, a volunteer tutoring program for 8-to 9-year-olds. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 35(1), 23–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373712452628</u>
- 18. Gersten, R., Rolfhus, E., Clarke, B., Decker, L. E., Wilkins, C., & Dimino, J. (2015). Intervention for first graders with limited number knowledge: Large-scale replication of a randomized controlled trial.



American Educational Research Journal, 52(3), 516–546. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831214565787

- 19. Sirinides, P., Gray, A., & May, H. (2018). The Impacts of Reading Recovery at scale: Results from the 4-year i3 external evaluation. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 40(3), 316–335. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373718764828
- 20. Lee, Y. S., Morrow-Howell, N., Jonson-Reid, M., & McCrary, S. (2012). The effect of the Experience Corps® program on student reading outcomes. Education and Urban Society, 44(1), 97–118. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124510381262
- 21. James-Burdumy, S., Dynarski, M., Moore, M., Deke, J., Mansfield, W., & Pistorino, C. (2005). When Schools Stay Open Late: The National Evaluation of the 21st Century Community Learning Centers Program: Final Report. U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance. <u>http://www.ed.gov/ies/ncee</u>
- Parker, D. C., Nelson, P. M., Zaslofsky, A. F., Kanive, R., Foegen, A., Kaiser, P., & Heisted, D. (2019). Evaluation of a math intervention program implemented with community support. Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness, 12(3), 391–412. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2019.1571653</u>
- 23. Fryer, J. R. (2014). Injecting Charter School Best Practices into Traditional Public Schools: Evidence from Field Experiments. The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 129, 1355–1407. https://doi.org/10.1093/gie/giu011
- Lindo, E. J., Weiser, B, Cheatham, J.P., & Allor, J.H. (2018). Benefits of structured after-school literacy tutoring by university students for struggling elementary readers. *Reading & Writing Quarterly: Overcoming Learning Difficulties*, 34,2, 117–131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10573569.2017.1357156</u>
- 25. Slavin, R. E., Lake, C., Davis, S., & Madden, N. (2011). Effective programs for struggling readers: A best evidence synthesis. *Educational Research Review*, 6(1), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2010.07.002
- 26. Walker, C. S., Kronick, R., & Diambra, J. F. (2007). Assessment of a full-service school, after hours tutoring and enrichment program. *Journal of At-Risk Issues*, 13(2), 21–27.
- 27. Mattera, S., Jacob, R., & Morris, P. (2018). Strengthening children's math skills with enhanced instruction: The impacts of Making Pre-K Count and High 5s on kindergarten outcomes. MDRC.
- Hock, M. F., Pulvers, K. A., Deshler, D. D., & Schumaker, J. B. (2001). The effects of an after-school tutoring program on the academic performance of at-risk students and students with LD. *Remedial* and Special Education, 22(3), 172–186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/074193250102200305</u>
- Chappell, S., Arnold, P., Nunnery, J., & Grant, M. (2015). An Examination of an Online Tutoring Program's Impact on Low-Achieving Middle School Students' Mathematics Achievement. Online Learning, 19(5), 37–53. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.24059/olj.v19i5.694</u>



Implementing Blended Learning in Classrooms

April 2021 Author: Ashton Toone

Strategy

Implementing blended learning in classrooms.

Description

Providing tailored coaching support to teachers, paraprofessionals, central office support staff on virtual instruction.

Recommendations

- When considering curriculum choices for blended learning, a standardized and comprehensive curriculum has been shown to be most effective for both students and teachers.
- Reconfiguring staff support will require onboarding adjunct positions such as learning coaches to assist with online learning needs.
- For optimal gains in student achievement, students should have opportunities for self-paced work.

Overview

In 2016, Evergreen Education Group conducted a case study of nine schools who had integrated the Fuel Education (FuelEd) online curriculum and platform into their existing blended learning or virtual programs. Of the nine programs, five of the schools were whole school programs and the other four were credit recovery and remediation programs. Whole school programs applied a variety of blended learning techniques in order to support the FuelEd curriculum while the credit recovery and remediation programs were situated within traditional public and charter schools in which students participated in only the FuelEd courses to recover credits or improve their academic performance. Though each of the programs were at differing stages of the implementation phase, each of the schools reported improved student outcomes as a result of the FuelEd curriculum.

Blended learning allows students to access a variety of course offerings at various paces.

- All of the schools featured in the case study used the FuelEd curriculum as their primary curriculum.
 - The FuelEd course catalog includes core courses, electives, advanced courses, credit recovery and remediation for students in K-12 grades.
 - Crater Lake Charter Academy (CCLA) noted that teachers can customize a student's course through FuelEd to provide a personalized learning plan for students.
 - CCLA follows a block schedule in which students attend 1.5-hour blocks in which students participate in blended learning activities.
- For schools with limited course offerings, FuelEd provided courses that otherwise were unavailable to students at that school.
 - Carver Military Academy school leaders noted that the variety of course offerings encouraged students to stay enrolled as Carver is a choice school.



- Schools offered a wide range of schedule options that were flexible for students.
 - Of the five whole school programs, all five schools required their students to come on campus for a certain amount of time. The schedule options for the schools were as follows:
 - Elementary and middle school students spend 6 hours per day Monday through Thursday and high school students come as needed; K-8 students appeared on campus Monday-Thursday for 5.5 hour days while grades 9-12 appeared Thursday and Friday for 5.5 hour days; All students attend Monday-Friday in cohorts with staggered start times (8 a.m., 9:30 a.m., and 11:30 a.m.) for 5 hours each day; All students appear on campus on Tuesday and one additional day for 7 hours - grades 9-12 appear on Wednesday and grades K-8 appear on Thursday.
 - The fifth and largest whole school program required K-5 students to attend inperson on Friday and sometimes Wednesday as needed for intervention purposes. Students in grades 6-8 attended on Monday and Wednesday. Unlike the K-8 students, students in grades 9-12 were held to a trimester schedule where they had the option to attend in-person on Tuesday and Thursday.
 - Of the credit-recovery programs, all programs required students to take virtual classes in their campus' respective learning or media labs.
 - Of the four programs, only one program allowed students to complete their courses on the weekend rather than the school day. Other programs offered evening course options.
- Offering customized self-paced work empowers students to become independent workers and manage themselves.
 - Several schools showed student improvement reading and math gains and noted that the gains were due in part to students working independently.
 - The two longest-running FuelEd whole school programs reported an averaged 242% growth in middle school math MAP scores and an averaged 140% of growth for elementary school students comparable to students in traditional schools in their district and state.

By reconfiguring staffing needs to support blended learning, teachers are able to customize online learning and build better rapport with their students.

- Teachers responsible for delivering FuelEd courses typically are held to a standard school day. However, schools employ support staff who are responsible for tasks such as coordinating FuelEd enrollment, assisting with technical needs, and providing remedial support as needed.
 - Because Carver Military Academy opted to use FuelEd as a means of course recovery, they employed a coordinator who managed all related needs for the program.
- Poudre School District Global Academy (PGA) allows its teachers to supplement the FuelEd curriculum with offline materials in order to meet student needs.
 - PGA emphasizes utilizing student data in order to build supplemental materials.
 - PGA teachers both teach on-campus and online courses as well as tutor and coach students online. An integral part of PGA's model is parent involvement in the academic coaching process.



Implementing Blended Learning in Classrooms Prepared by the Department of Research & Performance Management

• The Springs Studio for Academic Excellence (SSAE) utilizes both the online teachers provided by FuelEd as well as five full-time Student Support Coaches (SSC) to provide remediation and instruction for students who need individualized support.

References

FuelEducation. (2016). Outcomes of Blended and Online Learning Programs Using Fuel Education Curriculum. Evergreen Educatoin Group.



Reading Advisors

April 2022 Anne Walton Garrison

Strategy

Continue employing Senior Reading Advisors to improve the literacy skills of struggling readers in middle and high schools.

Description

Memphis-Shelby County Schools (MSCS) instituted the position of Senior Reading Advisor (SRA) in 2018–19. It is designed to be a highly skilled, 12-month instructional position focused on addressing foundational literacy deficits in middle- and high-school students. Select middle and high schools have one SRA position each. These schools offer intensive reading classes, taught by their SRA, for students whose reading skills are significantly below their grade level. The SRA-led classes employ the online program Reading Horizons for part of the instructional content and for benchmarking students' reading progress.

Most, if not all, of the SRAs have extensive classroom instructional experience as well as administrative and/or instructional coaching experience. Beyond teaching struggling readers, SRAs also design and facilitate school-based and District-level content-literacy professional-development sessions for teachers of other subjects in grades 3–12.

Synthesis of Literature

The SRA position/program is unique to MSCS, and thus there is not a body of literature evaluating its specific effectiveness. However, the SRA role is similar to other programs that implement highly specialized, literacy-focused teaching positions, and Hanover Research has produced several reports on topics relevant to the SRA approach to improving secondary literacy. This report synthesizes information from the Hanover materials to provide SRA-relevant recommendations.

General Practices for Improving Adolescent Literacy²

The What Works Clearinghouse (WWC) reviewed National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) scores, along with a host of studies (correlational, longitudinal, quasiexperimental, and experimental) to determine several key recommendations for improving middle and high school literacy. Derived from "strong" or "moderate" evidence subjected to rigorous external peer review, WWC recommended the following (quoted from pp. 5–6):

- **Provide explicit vocabulary instruction**: Both English language arts and contentarea classes should include explicit vocabulary instruction, as this helps students learn new words and improves their ability to independently construct meaning from text.
- **Provide direct and explicit comprehension strategy instruction**: Comprehension strategies consist of "routines and procedures that readers use to help them make sense of texts." Examples of comprehension strategies include asking and answering questions, summarizing, paraphrasing, locating the main idea, and using graphic organizers. In addition to modelling and explaining the strategy, the



teacher should offer feedback on guided practice and emphasize the importance of independent application.

- **Provide opportunities for extended discussion of text meaning and interpretation:** Aimed at improving reading comprehension and encouraging critical analysis, such discussions may involve small groups of students or an entire classroom. Such discussions should incorporate varied points of view, based on textual evidence, personal experience, and reasoned arguments, expressed during prolonged exchanges with the teacher or other students.
- Increase student motivation and engagement in literacy learning: To create confident, lifelong readers, teachers should construct a supportive learning environment that provides useful feedback, treats mistakes as growth opportunities, encourages self-determination, and makes literacy experiences relevant to students' interests and everyday lives.
- Make available intensive individualized interventions for struggling readers that can be provided by qualified specialists: When students need more support than a typical classroom teacher can offer, schools should provide intensive interventions through reading specialists or highly-trained teachers. Since no single cause for reading difficulties exists, students may struggle with skills as varied as phonemic awareness, phonics, vocabulary, fluency, word analysis, and/or comprehension. Thus, schools should tailor interventions to the needs of each student.

Critical Components for Successful Implementation of Middle and High School Reading Intervention¹

The Consortium on Reading Excellence, Inc. (CORE), a research-focused implementation advisory board, reviewed evidence on the factors associated with the failure of reading interventions. Using that information, they created a framework of critical components for the successful implementation of reading interventions for the average middle and high school. These critical components are:

- Effective professional development that features the following characteristics:
 - Provides teachers time and guidance to "design their program, identify helpful tools, and ultimately bring their personal style to established theories" (p. 7).
 - Gives teachers a basic understanding of related theory, "which could take 20 to 40 hours due to reading instruction complexity" (p. 7).
 - Contextualizes theoretical models using "modeling and demonstrations, classroom visits and video media, and... workshops that simulate relevant conditions" (p. 7), allowing teachers to learn in a low-risk setting.
 - Is multidimensional, with "an appreciation for teachers' and students' background while also taking into account the larger context of the school environment" (p. 7).
 - $\circ~$ Integrates structured feedback and provides ongoing coaching once teachers are in the classroom.
- Effective and aligned instructional tools that "enable teachers to transform their professional development into action" (p. 7). According to research from the Southwest Educational Development Laboratory, successful reading intervention



programs for secondary students feature the following instructional components (quoted from p. 8):

- Motivation to read, specifically, intrinsic motivation to persist in a reading task.
- **Decoding skills and fluency**, which includes basic decoding skills and fluency.
- **Language comprehension**, which includes linguistic knowledge, background knowledge, making inferences, and self-regulation.
- **Transacting with text**, engaging in a dialog with the text, especially in making personal connections.
- **Significant systemic reorganization and support** that addresses systemic process issues in a holistic manner. The revamped system should include mechanisms for collective discussion and troubleshooting, monitoring of implementation, ongoing professional development, and coaching for continuous improvement.

Select Recommendations for Implementing Support Classes in Secondary School³

The Education Trust compared instructional practices in four high-impact high schools to instructional practices in demographically similar average-impact schools and found very different approaches between the two groups. "Through additional instructional time, the high-impact schools implemented supplemental academic support while allowing students to stay on track for on-time graduation. Average-impact schools, however, slowed course-taking for struggling students" (p. 6). The Education Trust therefore "cautions against slowing down the coursework progression of students who may struggle in a particular subject area, [as] it may inhibit students from completing college preparatory coursework and catching up to grade-level peers" (p. 6).

Another important finding from the above study was the following:

High-impact schools strategically organize struggling and average-performing students into smaller classes to enable teachers to spend more time with students who are considered to be more at-risk. At high-impact schools, administrators commit to smaller class sizes for struggling students even if it results in larger class sizes for Honors- and AP-level courses in an effort to help the lower-performing students "get to that next level." Meanwhile, average-impact schools maintain uniform class sizes regardless of students' proficiency levels. (p. 10)

References

- **1**. Hanover Research. (2014, June). Best practices in reading intervention implementation.
- 2. Hanover Research. (2015, April). Effective school-wide literacy strategies for secondary students.
- 3. Hanover Research. (2015, August). Best practices in high school support classes.



RTI & Intervention Materials & Platforms

May 2022 Author: Cardella L. Leak, PhD

Strategy

Memphis-Shelby County Schools (MSCS) utilizes the i-Ready, Edgenuity, Illuminate FastBridge, and Public Consulting Group (PCG) EdPlan platforms and tools to support the implementation of the Tennessee Department of Education Response to Instruction and Intervention (RTI²) Framework for students receiving academic interventions.

Key Findings

- iReady is highly correlated with the Tennessee Comprehensive Assessment Program (TCAP) assessment for reading and mathematics.
- On average, students with disabilities, English Learners, students who are economically disadvantaged, and students of color who used i-Ready instruction experienced greater learning gains than students in the same populations who did not use i-Ready.
- Edgenuity has had success at positively impacting score on national standardized test scores.

Response to Instruction and Intervention (RTI²) Overview^{1, 2}

In 2014, Tennessee launched the statewide initiative known as Response to Instruction and Intervention (RTI²) aimed at better supporting students' individual learning needs. Defined by the Tennessee Department of Education, Response to Instruction & Intervention (RTI²) is "a framework for teaching and learning that includes regular screenings to identify student areas of need and a tiered model of intervention for those that need additional help. In Tennessee, it is also used to determine the eligibility of students to receive special education services for specific learning disabilities (SLD)." RTI² emphasizes intervening with students as they begin to struggle academically to avoid prolonged academic difficulties. RTI² offers additional instruction with multiple entry and exit points based on students' needs. A student who is showing slight deficits in specific areas may receive targeted interventions through Tier II instruction for a specific period of time, while a student who has significant needs may receive extended, intensive interventions through Tier III instruction. RTI² has requirements for the type of screening, and intervention needs at each level. The requirements are found in Appendix A.

RTI² Within Memphis-Shelby County Schools²

Through MSCS's Curriculum and Instruction Department, a RTI² Team was developed to support schools in their implementation. Additionally, platforms and tools such as Illuminate FastBridge, i-Ready, Edgenuity, and PCG EdPlan are used by MSCS to support the implementation RTI². Below is more detail about these platforms/tools and how effective they may be in making academic improvement and gains.



Illuminate FastBridge^{2,3}

Illuminate FastBridge is research-based universal screening and progress monitoring for academics and social-emotional behavior (SEB) with accompanying intervention recommendations. FastBridge's valid and reliable assessments help educators identify students' academic and SEB needs faster, align the right interventions at the right time, and measure whether interventions are helping students catch up-all in one platform and in up to half the test time.

MSCS used Illuminate Fastbridge as the universal screening tool in 2019–20 through 2021–22. All students K–8th grade take the Universal Screener: fall, winter, and spring. All K–1st grade students are administered the earlyReading and earlyMath universal screening assessments. All 2nd–8th grade students receive the Illuminate FastBridge aReading and aMath assessments. Students scoring below the 10th percentile on either assessment receive follow-up benchmark assessments to assist in determining the appropriateness of a tiered intervention.

Due to disruptions related to the COVID pandemic, Illuminate Fastbridge completed a report that reflected actual learning loss from Fall 2019 to Fall 2020.⁴ In reading, the mean annual growth score declined significantly relative to baseline in Grades 1, 3, and 6. In math, the mean annual growth score declined significantly relative to baseline in Grades 3-8. This report also looked at learning loss by months. The results showed that kindergarten and first grade students performed about one-month behind, and Grade 5 and 6 students performed about two to three months behind the typical Fall scores. The learning loss for Grades 2, 4, 7, and 8 were close to typical yearly variation.⁴

i-Ready⁵

i-Ready Personalized Instruction (i-Ready) is a research-based program for students in kindergarten through eighth grade with an individualized plan for instruction based on each student's performance on the online, adaptive i-Ready Diagnostic (Diagnostic). Once students complete the Diagnostic, i-Ready builds a unique lesson plan with a differentiated starting point for every learner based on their overall and domain-level placement. i-Ready allows teachers to add lessons and/or adjust the lesson sequence provided to individuals or groups of students. Lessons provide explicit instruction and extensive practice, offer supportive feedback, and build conceptual understanding for learners of all levels.

Effectiveness⁶

Nationally, students using i-Ready Personalized Instruction for an average of 45 minutes or more per subject per week for at least 18 weeks showed statistically significantly greater growth than the average student who did not use i-Ready Personalized Instruction during the 2017–18 school year.

Overall, students (K-8) using i-Ready for Reading experienced score gains 46% greater than those not using i-Ready, and those students (K-8) using i-Ready for Mathematics experienced score gains 38% greater than those not using i-Ready, meaning those students who used i-Ready tended to grow more than those who did not.



Using data from over one million student who took i-Ready Diagnostic in the 2017–18, specific students groups using i-Ready Personalized Instruction all saw significantly greater growth than students from the same subgroups who did not have access to the program during the 2017–18 school year: English Learners (53% for reading and 49% for math), students with disabilities (27% for reading and 38% for math), students with socioeconomic disadvantages (35% for reading and 42% for math), and students of color (35% for reading and 42% for math).

Linked with Standardized Tests⁷

Data has been collected across the country to study the relationship between the i-Ready Diagnostic and leading national and state assessments for both English Language Arts (ELA) and Mathematics. Correlations demonstrate that when students score high on one assessment, they also tend to score high on the other. A high correlation between two assessments provides evidence that the two assessments are measuring similar constructs.

Correlations between i-Ready and consortium and state assessments consistently exceed established benchmarks in education (high correlations of greater than 0.70). Specifically in Tennessee, data was collected from approximately 63,000 students across 12 districts in Tennessee. The research study found a strong correlation between i-Ready Diagnostic scores and scores on the TCAP administered during the 2020–21 school year. On average, across grades 3–8, the correlation for English Language Arts was 0.81 between i-Ready Diagnostic and TCAP scores. On average, across grades 3–8, the correlation for English Language Arts was 0.81 between i-Ready Diagnostic and TCAP scores.

Edgenuity⁸

Edgenuity, renamed Imagine Learning, MyPath 6-12 is a research-based online intervention program for reading and math that delivers targeted, age-appropriate learning paths for secondary students. Every lesson uses a gradual-release instructional model, so students receive the exact instruction and practice they need at that moment. The data and reporting features give educators powerful tools to monitor student performance in real-time and provide additional help where needed.

Effectiveness

A case study completed in a Georgia high school of students who previously did not pass their Spring Georgia High School Graduation Tests (GHSGT) found that after completing, on average, about 73% of their Edgenuity courses, 78–93% of those students passed their GHSGT tests during the following fall test administration.⁹

In a limited study of students participating in a Michigan-based Success Virtual Learning Center (SVLC), certified teachers used Edgenuity to assist students with achieving significant improvement in their mathematics skills, as demonstrated by their growth on the Northwest Evaluation Association Measures of Academic Progress. Additionally, these students demonstrated significant improvement on the Basic Achievement Skills Inventory (BASI) mathematics, reading and written language tests, exceeding annual growth expectations in all tested subject areas.¹⁰



Public Consulting Group (PCG) Edplan¹¹

EDPlan is a suite of tools and services from PCG that helps promote a plan for student success. EDPlan's features have been designed in partnership with teachers, education professionals, and project management experts and has been used in more than 30 states.

MSCS transitioned from paper-based intervention plans to the EdPlan online platform in the 2017–18 school year. Specifically, MSCS utilizes the EdPlan RTI Tracker tool, which has allowed RTI² Advisors to work collaboratively to support schools in their implementation of RTI² by developing RTI² Plans within the EdPlan platform for Tier II/Tier III students to address specific deficit areas in literacy and/or mathematics.

Educators have instant access to real-time data and graphs in EdPlan, with each graph displaying the aim lines, scores, trends, and level of mastery that help educators tell the story of the student's progress toward their academic goals. When the student's session responses became erratic, the data prompts the teacher to make an instructional change to increase this student's achievement.

Conclusion

Overall, the Tennessee Department of Education has provided good guidance for the RTI² framework to ensure that districts and teachers have the structure and resources necessary to provide all students with access to and support for reaching high standards and expectations. Using TDOE's guidance, MSCS has utilized and implemented various platforms and tools that have previously shown to result in favorable academic progress and gains.



Appendix A

Required Elements of RTI² in Tennessee²

- School RTI² Teams: School RTI² Teams meet every 23 instructional days, at a minimum, to make data-based decisions that inform instruction/intervention.
- **Universal Screening**: The Universal Screening tool will be skills-based and provide national norms.
- **Tier I**: Quality core instruction will be provided to ALL students using grade-level Standards in ELA and Mathematics.
- Tier II and Tier III: Tiered interventions will be provided in addition to the core instruction provided at Tier I. Interventions will be research-based and will address a student's area of deficit. Tier II and III students intensive support in their skill areas of deficit in math or ELA. In total, Tier II elementary and middle school students must receive 30 minutes of daily intervention, and Tier II high school students must receive 150 minutes of weekly intervention. For Tier III students, the total minimums are 45 minutes daily for elementary and middle students and 225 minutes weekly for high school students.
- **Highly-Trained Personnel**: Highly-trained personnel will provide interventions. Highlytrained personnel are those who are adequately trained to deliver the selected intervention as intended with fidelity.
- **Progress Monitoring**: Progress monitoring, including careful review of student Performance data, will occur in the specific area of deficit either weekly or every other week.
- Fidelity of Implementation: Fidelity checks will occur for Tiers II and III.
- **Parent Contact/Communication**: Parents will be notified when their child is place in tiered intervention, as well as be provided with a monthly review of their child's progress.



References

1. Tennessee Department of Education. (2018). Assessing Progress: Four Years of Learnings from RTI² Implementation in Tennessee.

<u>https://www.tn.gov/content/dam/tn/education/reports/rpt_rti_report_assessing_progress.pdf</u> 2. Shelby County Schools. (November 2021). *RTI² District implementation guide*.

- https://drive.google.com/file/d/19RFPiS9bNFIIsYcoqYKIG6pEYCb2BGR_/view 3. Fastbridge. Illuminate Education. Retrieved May 13, 2022, from
- <u>https://www.illuminateed.com/products/fastbridge/</u>
 Bielinski, J., Brown, R., Wagner, K. (2021). *Findings from fall screenings: Data on Covid learning loss and updated recommendations for instruction*. Illuminate Education.
 <u>https://www.illuminateed.com/download/findings-from-fall-screenings-data-on-covid-learning-loss-and-updated-recommendations-for-instruction/</u>
- 5. i-Ready. Curriculum Associates. Retrieved May 12, 2022, from https://www.curriculumassociates.com/programs/i-ready-learning/personalized-instruction
- 6. Curriculum Associates. (2019). *i-Ready: Proven to Work*. <u>https://www.curriculumassociates.com/-/media/mainsite/files/i-ready/research-overview-proven-to-work-brochure-2019.pdf</u>
- 7. Curriculum Associates. (2022). *i-Ready Diagnostic: Correlation Study with Tennessee Comprehensive* Assessment Program (TCAP). <u>https://www.curriculumassociates.com/-/media/mainsite/files/i-</u> <u>ready/iready-diagnostic-assessments-correlation-study-tennessee-2022.pdf</u>
- 8. Edgenuity. Retrieved May 12, 2022, from <u>https://www.edgenuity.com/products-and-services/intervention/#mypath-6-12</u>
- 9. Edgenuity. Research Brief: Edgenuity Students Excel on the Georgia High School Graduation Test. https://www.edgenuity.com/Case-Studies/Gainesville_HS_GA_Research_Brief.pdf
- 10. Edgenuity. Evaluation of Success Virtual Learning Centers: 2013 to 2015. https://www.edgenuity.com/Case-Studies/Success-Virtual-Michigan-Research-Brief.pdf
- 11. EdPlan. Public Consulting Group. Retrieved May 12, 2022, from <u>https://www.publicconsultinggroup.com/education/education-products/edplan-student-success-platform/</u>



Student Readiness

Social Emotional Curriculum

May 2021 Marie A. Sell, Ph.D.

Description

Memphis-Shelby County Schools has purchased Rethink, a curriculum designed to support social emotional learning in a school community. This literature review provides a description of social emotional learning and then covers the following topics:

- The importance of social emotional support for students, especially when coming out of crisis
- Teacher professional development and support needed to understand how social emotional support for students impacts learning and classroom behavior
- The academic outcomes associated with best practices of implementation of a social emotional support curriculum
- Best practices, pitfalls, and lessons learned in implementing a social emotional curriculum

What is Social Emotional Learning?

- Social emotional learning (SEL) focuses on five competencies: 1) self-awareness, 2) self-management, 3) social awareness, 4) relationship skills, and 5) responsible decision-making (CASEL).⁵ One model suggests that increases in SE competencies learned through school based programing first improve students' positive attitudes toward self and others (short term outcomes) and then increase positive behavior, academic success, and mental health (long-term outcomes).¹³
- Effective SE skills are an integral part of development. Effectively managing SE skills goes beyond supporting students in PK-12 education to providing skills that will be useful when facing challenges in college or the workplace. ¹⁹
- Effective SEL programs feature six criteria including that they are 1) developmentally appropriate; 2) culturally relevant; 3) systemic; 4) comprehensive; 5) evidence-based; and 6) forward thinking. ¹⁹

The Importance of Social Emotional Support for Students

Research¹³ on school-based SEL programs has consistently found that they positively impact students' social behaviors and academic progress. Four meta-analyses together analyzed the findings from 459 SEL studies. Two of the meta-analyses examined outcomes immediately after program participation.^{8, 28} Both found moderate and significant effect sizes (.57 and .53) for SEL skills for students who participated in SEL programs compared to those who did not. They found small but significant effect sizes (range .19–.33) for attitudes, positive social behaviors, conduct problems, emotional distress, and academic performance with students trained in SEL performing better in all areas compared to non-participating peers.



- The other two meta-analyses^{23, 25} analyzed studies that gathered follow-up data at least seven months after the program ended. These analyses found lasting positive effects from SEL training in all outcome areas (SEL skills, attitudes, positive social behaviors, conduct problems, emotional distress, and academic performance) (effect sizes range .07–.33).
- A summary of early studies examining the impact of SEL curricula on student outcomes found that K-6 grade students involved in programs exhibited fewer risk-taking behaviors (i.e., alcohol or marijuana use), expressed emotions more appropriately, followed rules better, and more often stayed on task compared to students in control groups.²⁷
- In a school-to-school comparison, the school implementing a universal SEL program to all students and teachers had significantly fewer instances of internalizing behaviors and significantly more prosocial behaviors among students than the control school. These trends were evident for all students, however students at-risk for social-emotional problems before the program was implemented showed more positive gains in both areas compared to general education students.¹¹
- Randomized controlled studies showed that with SEL interventions there were improvements in academic effort and academic achievement using reading, writing, and math scores as indicators.¹⁹

Teacher Professional Development and Support

- Despite the research touting the benefits of incorporating SEL curricula into schools, there are very few teacher training programs that include SEL as part of their program requirements.^{6, 17} Yet, being effective as an SE teacher requires understanding the conceptual framework and why it is important,²⁴ being well-trained in the curriculum,²⁴ and having a certain level of competence in one's own social emotional skills.^{4, 22, 29}
- Teachers' own competence and ability to effectively use SE skills allows them to be better role models for students which is especially important in the younger grades;²⁹ and allows them to more effectively work through any unexpected reactions and responses from students which is especially important for students who have experienced trauma or have been in crisis.²⁰
- Additionally, leaders who have higher levels of emotional intelligence (including competence with SE skills) can navigate organizational change better. School administrators can use these skills to help teachers and staff work through school reform efforts or to make changes in school climate/culture.¹⁶
- School-based SEL programs in which teachers, administrators, and other school personnel are program participants along with students are most effective at creating positive changes in overall school climate.¹⁹ Successful programs allow for long periods of teacher and staff training in SE skills before implementing a curriculum at the school level for students. Not only do teachers need to learn additional skills and curriculum, other school staff face adjustments to their roles as well. For example, school counselors might need to shift their perspective conceptually. Instead of their role being to respond to a problem that occurs, their work would become consulting



with students to prevent problems from arising.²⁶ Additionally, school counselors could become strong leaders in supporting SEL practices.³

- Ongoing teacher PD and teacher support improved implementation fidelity with teachers who initially had low implementation fidelity initially. ^{7, 15}
- Bullying prevention programs have been more successful when teachers have had more training and coaching. Students exhibited higher emotional intelligence and earned better behavior grades with increased PD. ²¹
- Teachers' beliefs about their own teaching and the level of support they have received is linked to the degree of fidelity to which teachers implement SEL curriculum in their classrooms.²²

Academic Outcomes Associated with Best Practices of Implementation

- A study examining implementation of SEL curriculum and student outcomes compared high implementation schools to low-implementation schools in four school districts. Three districts displayed statistically significant differences in student outcomes related to level of curriculum implementation. One district each showed that high-implementation schools had higher math scores (Gr 3–8), reading scores (Gr 3–8), or English I scores. GPA in one district was higher in high-implementing schools but in another district was lower in high implementing schools.¹⁸
- Student academic achievement increased by 11 percentile points on an index based on report card grades and test scores when SEL programs have been implemented with fidelity. ^{8, 23}
- A meta-analysis of SEL intervention programs for students with social, emotional, and/or behavioral challenges showed that program participation improved academic outcomes (effect size 0.53) when program implementation adhered to key design elements. ⁹
- Lasting positive effects were observed for Kindergarten students who participated in an integrated social emotional awareness and emergent early literacy curriculum in Pre-K that was implemented with moderate to high fidelity. Students in the Pre-K treatment classrooms compared to students in Pre-K control classrooms showed less disruptive behavior, had higher levels of learning engagement and social competence, and better phonemic decoding skills in Kindergarten across all classroom contexts. Additionally, treatment students who ended up in Kindergarten classrooms with a strong emphasis on reading showed stronger letter-word identification and sight word efficiency.²
- A meta-analysis of 213 studies⁸ identified four practices for developing the new SEL skills that students acquired, including 1) using an sequential and integrated skills curriculum, 2) using active learning to promote the skills, 3) focusing sufficient attention on skill development, and 4) establishing explicit learning goals. Schools that used all four practices showed more improvements in student SEL skills and academic progress than those that used only some of the practices.



Best Practices, Pitfalls, and Lessons Learned in Curriculum Implementation

- When new programs are introduced to school staff and teachers, they run the risk of being received as something that will compete with the teaching time necessary for students to meet state academic standards. To alleviate this, SEL programs work best when they are integrated into the curriculum. Additionally, teachers need to fully understand how SEL supports academic progress. An analysis of the overlap of SEL skills and one state's academic standards showed that SEL skills overlapped with approximately 2/3 of the 204 state standards, including listening skills, communication skills, problem identification, and analyzing options and outcomes.
- SEL curricula that are too scripted might be more difficult for teachers to buy into because they do not meet the current and changing needs of the classroom or students. A strategy-based approach, where teachers learn different SEL strategies that can be applied to many contexts and activities as needed throughout the school day, has been well-received by teachers. ¹
- A study²⁴ that interviewed and surveyed teachers and students found that while teachers viewed their SEL programs to be empowering to students, students took away very different messages. For example, they viewed that being a leader in their classroom equated to being quiet and compliant. To avoid these kinds of disconnections between teachers and students, the author suggested ensuring that teachers fully understood the program, its implementation, and how adjusting it might impact the outcome. Additionally, schools should listen to their students to make sure the program is working as intended.
- The five competencies of SEL skills (self-awareness, self-management, social awareness, relationship skills, and responsible decision-making) look different across development. For example, what a 5- or 6-year-old is capable of in terms of self-management is much different than a middle-school student or a high-school student; likewise for responsible decision making. SEL programs with curricula that match development are more effective.^{1, 18} Likewise, assessments of student competency with SEL skills should reflect developmental changes in children.¹⁴
- One expert in promoting SEL skills in schools cautioned that implementation an SEL curriculum takes work on the part of teachers and school administrators and they should be prepared for that expectation.⁴
- Being aware of culture when using SEL curriculum in schools is important to help read social cues accurately.⁴
- Noting parallels between the skills SEL programs can teach and the needs of students who have experienced trauma, one article pointed out the importance of planning implementation. Pawlo and colleagues²⁰ argued that this is especially important in "urban, high-poverty areas where trauma is highly-prevalent [and] students often struggle to succeed in school (pg. 40)." Careful planning of implementation to allow teachers time for buy in is crucial, especially when teachers and school administrators may be burned out from cycling through different reform initiatives that do not seem to make significant, sustained changes in school success.



References

- Bailey, R., Stickle, L., Brion-Meisels, G., & Jones, S. (2019). *Re-imagining social-emotional learning: Findings from a strategy-based approach.* The Phi Delta Kappan, 100(5), 53-58. Retrieved May 6, 2021, from <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/26614883</u>
- Bierman, K., Nix, R., Heinrichs, B., Domitrovich, C., Gest, S., Welsh, J., & Gill, S. (2014). Effects of Head Start REDI on Children's Outcomes 1 Year Later in Different Kindergarten Contexts. *Child Development*, 85(1), 140-159. Retrieved May 6, 2021, from <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/24030526</u>
- 3. Bowers, H., Lemberger-Truelove, M., & Brigman, G. (2017). A Social-Emotional Leadership Framework for School Counselors. *Professional School Counseling*, 21(1b), 1-10. Retrieved May 6, 2021, from <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/90023606 4</u>
- 4. Brackett, M., & Heller, R. (2017). On the science and teaching of emotional intelligence: An interview with Marc Brackett. The Phi Delta Kappan, 98(6), 20-24. Retrieved May 6, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/26386966
- 5. CASEL. (no date). The Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning. www.casel.org
- Donahue-Keegan, D., Villegas-Reimers, E., & Cressey, J. (2019). Integrating Social-Emotional Learning and Culturally Responsive Teaching in Teacher Education Preparation Programs: The Massachusetts Experience So Far. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 46(4), 150-168. Retrieved May 5, 2021, from <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/26841580</u>
- 7. Dufrene, B.A., Noell, G.H., Gilbertson, D.N., & Duhon, G.J. (2005). Monitoring implementation of reciprocal peer tutoring: Identifying and intervening with students who do not maintain accurate implementation. *School Psychology Review*, *34*, 74-86.
- Durlak, J., Dymnicki, A., Taylor, R., Weissberg, R., & Schellinger, K. (2011). The Impact of Enhancing Students' Social and Emotional Learning: A Meta-Analysis of School-Based Universal Interventions. *Child Development*, 82(1), 405-432. Retrieved May 5, 2021, from <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/29782838</u>
- Dymnicki, A., Kendziora, K., & Osher, D. (2012). Adolescent development for stuents with learning disabilities and behavioral disorders: The promise of social emotional learning. In B.G. Cook, M. Tankersley, & T.J. Landrum (Eds.), *Classroom behavior, contexts, and interventions: Vol. 25.* Advances in learning and behavior disabilities (pp. 131-166). Bingley, England: Emerald.
- 10. Fixen, D.L., Naoom, S.F., Blasé, K.A., Friedman, R.M., & Wallace, F. (2005). *Implementation research:* A synthesis of the literature. Tampa: University of South Florida, Louis de la Parte Florida Mental Health Institute, National Implementation Research Network.
- 11. Kramer, T., Caldarella, P., Young, K., Fischer, L., & Warren, J. (2014). Implementing "Strong Kids" School-Wide to Reduce Internalizing Behaviors and Increase Prosocial Behaviors. *Education and Treatment of Children*, 37(4), 659-680. Retrieved May 4, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/44683942
- 12. Kress, J., Norris, J., Schoenholz, D., Elias, M., & Seigle, P. (2004). Bringing Together Educational Standards and Social and Emotional Learning: Making the Case for Educators. *American Journal of Education*, 111(1), 68-89. doi:10.1086/424720
- Mahoney, J., Durlak, J., & Weissberg, R. (2018). An update on social and emotional learning outcome research. The Phi Delta Kappan, 100(4), 18-23. Retrieved May 6, 2021, from <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/26552480</u>
- McKown, C. (2017). Social-Emotional Assessment, Performance, and Standards. *The Future of Children, 27*(1), 157-178. Retrieved May 6, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/44219026 14McKown, C. (2017). Social-Emotional Assessment, Performance, and Standards. The Future of Children, 27(1), 157-178. Retrieved May 6, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/44219026
- 15. Mihalic, S.F., Fagan, A.A., & Argamaso, S. (2008). Implementing the LifeSkills Training Drug Prevention Program: Factors related to implementation fidelity. *Implementation Science*, *3*(5), 1-16.
- 16. Moore, B. (2009). Emotional Intelligence for School Administrators: A Priority for School Reform? *American Secondary Education*, 37(3), 20-28. Retrieved May 5, 2021, from <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/41406313</u>
- 17. Nenonene, R., Gallagher, C., Kelly, M., & Collopy, R. (2019). Challenges and Opportunities of Infusing Social, Emotional, and Cultural Competencies into Teacher Preparation: One Program's Story.



Teacher Education Quarterly, 46(4), 92-115. Retrieved May 5, 2021, from <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/26841578</u>

- Osher, D., Friedman, L.B., & Kendziora, K. (2015). CASEL/NoVo Collaborating Districts Initiative: 2014 Cross-District Outcome Evaluation Report. American Institutes for Research, Washington DC. Retrieved 5/3/21 from <u>https://www.air.org/sites/default/files/downloads/report/Cleveland-Cross-DistrictOutcome-Evaluation-Report-2014.pdf</u>
- 19. Osher, D., Kidron, Y., Brackett, M., Dymnicki, A., Jones, S., & Weissberg, R. (2016). Advancing the Science and Practice of Social and Emotional Learning: Looking Back and Moving Forward. *Review of Research in Education, 40,* 644-681. Retrieved May 3, 2021, from http://www.istor.org/stable/44668633
- 20. Pawlo, E., Lorenzo, A., Eichert, B., & Elias, M. (2019). All SEL Should Be Trauma-Informed. The Phi Delta Kappan, 101(3), 37-41. Retrieved May 4, 2021, from https://www.jstor.org/stable/26837680
- Reyes, M.R., Brackett, M.A., Rivers, S.E., Elbertson, N.A., & Salovey, P. (2012). The interaction effects of program training, dosage, and implantation quality on targeted student outcomes for the RULER approach to social and emotional learning. School Psychology Review, 41(1), 82-99.
- 22. Schonert-Reichl, K. (2017). Social and Emotional Learning and Teachers. The Future of Children, 27(1), 137-155. Retrieved May 6, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/44219025
- 23. Sklad, M., Diekstra, R., De Ritter, M., Ben, J., & Gravesteijn, C. (2012). Effectiveness of school based universal social, emotional, and behavioral programs. Do they enhance students' development in the area of skill, behavior, and adjustment? *Psychology and Schools, 49*, 892-909.
- 24. Soutter, M. (2019). *Unintended lessons of SEL programs.* The Phi Delta Kappan, 100(5), 59-62. Retrieved May 6, 2021, from <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/26614884</u>
- 25. Taylor, R., Oberle, E., Durlak, J.A., & Weissberg, R.P. (2017). Promoting positive youth development through school-based social and emotional learning interventions. A meta analysis of follow-up effects. *Child Development*, 88, 1156-1171.
- 26. Van Velsor, P. (2009). School Counselors as Social-Emotional Learning Consultants: Where Do We Begin? *Professional School Counseling*, 13(1), 50-58. Retrieved May 5, 2021, from <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/42732919</u>
- 27. Weissberg, R., & O'Brien, M. (2004). What Works in School-Based Social and Emotional Learning Programs for Positive Youth Development. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 591, 86-97. Retrieved May 5, 2021, from <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/4127637</u>
- 28. Wiglesworth, M., Lendrum, A., Oldfield, J., Scott, A., ten Bokkel, I., Tate, K., & Emery, C. (2016). The impact of trial stage, developer involvement and intentional transferability on universal social and emotional learning programme outcomes: A meta-analysis. *Cambridge Journal of Education, 46,* 347-376.
- Zinsser, K., Denham, S., & Curby, T. (2018). Becoming a Social and Emotional Teacher: The Heart of Good Guidance. YC Young Children, 73(4), 77-83. Retrieved May 4, 2021, from <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/26783666</u>



Mental Health & Behavior Specialist Resources

May 2021 Author: Hannah L. Pallotta

Key Findings

- Universal programs and selective/indicated inventions paired together to create a whole-school multi-tiered framework is recommended
- Universal screenings can help pinpoint students that need more resources and more intentional mental health services
- While training teachers about trauma is vital, specialized personnel with formal training need to be in schools, helping both students and teachers navigate trauma and social emotional learning

Strategies for Implementing School-Based Mental Health Centers

- Universal intervention^{1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8}
- Indicated/selective intervention^{7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12}
- Multi-tiered intervention framework^{6, 8, 13}
- Mental health screenings^{9, 11, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19}
- Training/Professional Development (PD) for teachers^{3, 6, 20, 21}
- Behavior specialists/trained, specialized personnel^{9, 10, 11, 13}

Universal (Preventative) Intervention

The main goal of universal intervention is to broaden all students' social emotional wellness by using a curriculum or framework throughout the entire school. A good rule of thumb is that if 15-20% of the population of a given setting (school, district, etc.) has certain behavior issues that are wanting to be addressed (e.g. exclusionary disciplinary actions), resources are better served providing universal services rather than individualized, direct services.¹ Looking at only high schools in the 2019-20 school year, the suspension rate for the District overall was 13.9%. This rate was higher for Black students and for students with disabilities (SWD) (16.3 and 20.7 percent, respectively). Districtwide in 2019-20, over all grade bands the suspension rate was 9.2 percent with the SWD rate at 14.7% and the Black student rate at $11.2\%^{+}$ (See Figure 1 and 2 in the Endnotes for a look at the dashboard). Universal intervention is preventative intervention; this framework looks to teach students about coping mechanisms and social emotional well-being before any symptoms or behavior issues occur.

- Examples of successful models/studies of universal intervention:
 - A meta-analysis of seventy-three school-based universal programs showed that "the overall random effects mean was 0.21 (p < .001)," which indicates that students had significantly lower aggressive and disruptive behavior after participating in these interventions than the control group of students who did not participate. These programs tended to be more effective with lower socioeconomic status students and when the frequency of sessions was higher.^{2, 7}



School-Wide Positive Behavior Interventions and Supports (SW-PBIS) is a 0 universal program meant to lower school behavior problems and promote positive student outcomes. Over 200,000 schools in the United States have used this model since its inception in 2000. SW-PBIS is not a curriculum but a framework and set of strategies to create a nurturing school culture. In this model, school staff develop clear behavior expectations that they model. teach, and practice. School staff is expected to give students higher rates of positive attention over negative attention. Data are collected surrounding behavior issues, including location, time, type, etc. School leaders use these data to assess if this system is working and to find areas of improvement. "If a high number of infractions occurs on the playground, the team would decide how to reduce the problem perhaps by reteaching expectations, increasing adult supervision, and/or increasing positive attention rates."1 Studies of SW-PBIS have found reduced problem behaviors, and two randomized trials found that SW-PBIS is associated with improvements in "school safety, academic achievement, positive student behaviors, and school climate compared to control schools."

Indicated/Selective Interventions

This type of intervention is meant for specific students. Indicated interventions are for students who have shown problem behaviors. Selective interventions are for students who have not exhibited behavior problems but are assessed to possibly benefit from the program (anxious students).

- Examples of successful models/studies of indicated/selective interventions:
 - In the same meta-analysis mentioned above, forty-seven selective and indicated interventions were assessed and the overall effect size was similar at 0.26, which was significant. Interventions were found to be "more effective with regular education students than special-education students," and programs implemented by teachers or researchers were more effective than programs implemented by graduate students.^{2, 7}
 - One study observed statistically significant changes on social and behavioral scales in at-risk middle school students after completing Solution-Focused Brief Therapy (SFBT). The school provided SFBT group treatment to 26 students during school hours with four trained adults: two masters in social work interns, the school social worker, and the researcher who has a PhD in social work. These four each led a small group of students in SFBT for eight weeks. The students showed positive changes in their social skills at the posttest and maintained these gains at the follow up at six weeks. This group also improved their overall classroom behavior post treatment. This finding was supported by teacher feedback. Parents were also surveyed and reported fewer homework completion issues.¹²

Multi-tiered Intervention Framework

• A multi-tiered intervention framework uses a whole-school approach to support the success of students with trauma.⁹ In this framework there are three tiers; the first



two have been discussed previously. Tier 1 is universal supports, Tier 2 involves more specific supports for at-risk students or students with behavior issues, and Tier 3 is more intensive interventions for students suffering from trauma.^{6, 8, 13}

- In one specific example, the San Francisco Unified School District (SFUSD) 0 implemented a multi-tiered framework entitled Healthy Environments and Response to Trauma in Schools (HEARTS) in 2009-10 to combat the school to prison pipeline.⁶ Each of the tiers include intervention or training for students, staff and caregivers, and for the entire system. In Tier 1 students received training on how to deal with stress, school staff received training on trauma and secondary trauma, and social emotional learning curricula was put in place in all schools. In Tier 3, students affected by trauma had individualized services and teachers were given support and referrals for more intensive care (see Figure 3 in Appendix B for the entire diagram). The evaluation of the program found significant changes in knowledge about trauma, sensitive practices. Student engagement significantly increased. There was a significant decrease in behavioral incidents after one year; after five years there was an 87 percent decrease in total incidents. Out-of-school suspensions decreased by 95 percent after five years of HEARTS implementation.
- Another study followed the development of mental health centers in three different schools over five years.¹³ The study saw the continuation of the programs and the expansion of SEL to all students as success and did not detail the schools' data. Each school used local university graduate students to help implement their programs and used a tiered system. School B and C were able to continue and expand their programs, while School A did not continue after Year 5 due changes in school leadership.

Mental Health Screening

- There are two main types of mental health screenings: Universal screening and screeners for specific mental illnesses.
 - First, the universal screener is given to all students of the school to parse out whether students need mental health services.^{9, 11, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19} Screening all students ensure that services are not only given when there are disciplinary issues, as not all students will cause classroom issues when they are in need of mental health services.⁴ One study emphasizes this need by saying, "The movement from a reactionary to a preventive and comprehensive method of student identification and support provides an avenue for more complete and efficient use of the skills of the school psychologist."¹⁵
 - The second type of screener is for any specific mental illness (ex. PTSD¹⁸, Anxiety¹⁷, Depression, etc.¹¹) These could help point a school counselor/behavior specialist in the right direction. Some schools have used these as their main screener, but this could be limiting students' diagnoses.
- Some studies recommend screening parents or students at school entry.¹¹ "Early screening and detection can significantly support efforts to minimize risk for future emotional, academic, and social difficulties."¹⁶ School entry screening can also provide a framework for expanding targeted intervention programs.⁹



Training/Professional Development (PD)

- A study done in 2017 found that almost 50 percent of teachers surveyed felt they did not have suitable mental health training, and 85 percent expressed a desire to receive more training on the subject. Only 19 percent believed that their school had adequate mental health resources, while 22 percent believed their school had a clear plan to address students' mental health needs.³
- Trauma-informed training can reduce 'behavior issues' and exclusionary disciplinary actions in the classroom, which more often are given to Black students than to white students.^{6, 20, 22} This kind of trauma training can include information like, what is trauma, how it impacts children's behavior, establishing common language around trauma, and how to deal with burnout and secondary trauma.^{3, 6, 20, 21}

Behavior Specialists/School Counselors

- It is vital to have specialized personnel in the school building. There is a need for more
 of these professionals to be in the classroom and school setting to be able to meet
 the mental health needs of students.¹¹
- These specialized personnel can get to know the students and their unique needs. The student can engage with a trusted adult and the school counselor or similarly trained professional is able to bring their knowledge of the child's history into their work.¹³
- Many of the studies mentioned having outside, community-based partnerships to help create wraparound services for families.^{10, 11, 13, 23} Often times schools find their trained personnel through this kind of partnership. Schools may not be ready to have indicated/selective interventions, but community-based programs may be able to help. This can also help entire families, rather than just students; a family is more likely to get help if they are given resources and the parents are already familiar with the community-based partner's work.^{10, 13, 14, 23}
- There are different options in the research of what this person's title and training could be: examples in the literature show effective programs with a school social worker, a school psychologist, a school counselor, a community psychiatrist, a graduate or doctoral student from a local university in social work or psychology, a researcher with a PhD in those fields, etc. The most important aspect of this role is that the person has had formal training to interact with students with trauma and mental health issues.¹¹ While a meta-analysis found that programs led by graduate students were seen as less effective than programs done by teachers or researchers, this could be a more cost-effective way to boost the number of mental health workers in a school setting (as well as being a symbiotic relationship with local universities).², 7, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15

Return on Investment

- Setting realistic goals and timelines for measuring program effectiveness
 - It is important to remember that change in the social emotional learning of a child will take time. It is recommended that the Cabinet and Board allocate funds for these programs even if they have not shown immediate success in



the upcoming years. Investing in the social emotional needs of our children is one of the best things we can do for their overall outcomes in the future, as shown in the research below of untreated Adverse Childhood Experience (ACEs) and mental illnesses (see <u>Background</u> section). As one researcher notes, however, society often looks at children as though they will one day be adults, rather than viewing them as human beings right now that deserve the best social emotional care that we can provide to them.²⁴ Funding is often based on the evaluation of the program. One researcher warns, that schoolbased interventions are "often evaluated immediately or shortly after the intervention. However, there is increasing evidence that some long-term effects are emerging and that although effects gradually decrease over time they can remain substantial."⁴ It may feel as though funding SEL or schoolbased mental health centers is a waste of resources, but in reality, these programs could be having substantial effects on students and should be given time to develop before being discontinued or seen as a failure.¹³

- Evaluations should begin after at least two years so that the program has a chance to gain structure, and school staff and teachers get more time to learn best practices.
- Screening data can help schools/the District understand the scope/volume of student needs and resources can be adequately allocated.
 - More individualized screenings can show which students would benefit from intervention, but they can be costly in terms of both time and labor force.¹¹
 - "With these assessment data in hand [from screening at school entry], school districts are more able to advocate for additional funding to provide smaller classes, higher teacher-to-child ratios, and the hiring of mental health specialists."¹¹
- Spending: Invest first in universal/preventative interventions, as this type of program is likely to reduce behavior issues and help students' self-esteem and social emotional health overall^{1, 2, 5, 6, 15}

Background

- Around 20 percent of children and adolescents suffer from a mental illness²⁵ and around 60 percent of adults have said they experienced at least one ACE.²⁶ "The number of ACEs in childhood demonstrate a strong association with the likelihood of developing posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and/or other negative mental health outcomes in adolescence."¹⁶ One study has found that PTSD in children is underdiagnosed.¹⁸
- Children that experience ACEs or adolescents with depression are more likely to engage in risky behavior, such as alcohol and nicotine abuse or dependence, suicidal tendencies, school failure, aggressive behavior, etc. later in life.^{27, 28}
- Oftentimes without school-based programs, youth do not get the mental health services they should.^{29, 30} One study found that Black and white youth were equally likely to have a mental illness, but Black youth were half as likely as white youth to get help from specialty mental health services.²⁹ The same study found that school services, however, showed little ethnic disparity. Another study found that three



barriers are common for children getting the mental health help they need: "(1) Lack of knowledge about child mental health and help-seeking pathways, (2) Stigmatization and parent blame (3) Challenges of multiagency collaboration."³¹

 Secondary Traumatic Stress (STS) in an educational setting can be described as when an educator learns about a primary victim's (often a student) traumatic experience and then experiences vicarious trauma. Symptoms of STS can be burnout, compassion fatigue, PTSD, etc.¹⁰ "Untreated STS may be among the hidden causes of undesirable workforce turnover for principals and teachers, particularly when STS and children's trauma are clustered in high-poverty schools."¹⁰


- 1. Herman, K., Reinke, W., Thompson, A., & amp; Faloughi, R. (2015). Universal Prevention to Support Children's Mental Health in Schools. Critical Issues in School-Based Mental Health, 198–210. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315775425-20</u>
- 2. Westhues, A., Schmidt Hanbidge, A., Gebotys, R., & Marp; Hammond, A. (2009). Comparing the Effectiveness of School-Based and Community-Based Delivery of an Emotional Regulation Skills Program for Children. School Social Work Journal, 34(1), 74–95.
- 3. Moon, J., Williford, A., & Mendenhall, A. (2017). Educators' perceptions of youth mental health: Implications for training and the promotion of mental health services in schools. Children and Youth Services Review, 73, 384–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.01.006
- O'Reilly, M., Svirydzenka, N., Adams, S., & Dogra, N. (2018). Review of mental health promotion interventions in schools. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 53(7), 647–662. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-018-1530-1
- Taylor, R. D., Oberle, E., Durlak, J. A., & Weissberg, R. P. (2017). Promoting Positive Youth Development Through School-Based Social and Emotional Learning Interventions: A Meta-Analysis of Follow-Up Effects. Child Development, 88(4), 1156–1171. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12864
- Dorado, J. S., Martinez, M., McArthur, L. E., & Leibovitz, T. (2016). Healthy Environments and Response to Trauma in Schools (HEARTS): A Whole-School, Multi-level, Prevention and Intervention Program for Creating Trauma-Informed, Safe and Supportive Schools. School Mental Health, 8(1), 163–176. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-016-9177-0
- Wilson, S. J. & Lipsey, M. W. (2006). The Effects of School-Based Social Information Processing Interventions on Aggressive Behavior, Part II: Selected/Indicated Pull-Out Programs. Campbell Systematic Reviews, 2(1), 1–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.4073/csr.2006.6</u>
- Allen-Meares, P., Montgomery, K. L., & amp; Kim, J. S. (2013). School-based Social Work Interventions: A Cross-National Systematic Review. Social Work, 58(3), 253–262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/swt022</u>
- Essex, M. J., Kraemer, H. C., Slattery, M. J., Burk, L. R., Thomas Boyce, W., Woodward, H. R., & Kupfer, D. J. (2009). Screening for childhood mental health problems: outcomes and early identification. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 50(5), 562–570. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2008.02015.x
- Lawson, H., Caringi, J., Gottfried, R., Bride, B., & Hydon, S. (2019). Educators' Secondary Traumatic Stress, Children's Trauma, and the Need for Trauma Literacy. Harvard Educational Review, 89(3), 421–447. https://doi.org/10.17763/1943-5045-89.3.421
- 11. Stegelin, D., Leggett, C., Ricketts, D., Bryant, M., Peterson, C., & Holzner, A. (n.d.). Trauma-Informed Preschool Education in Public School Classrooms: Responding to Suspension, Expulsion, and Mental Health Issues of Young Children . The Journal of At-Risk Issues, 23(2).
- 12. Newsome, W. S. (2005). The Impact of Solution-Focused Brief Therapy with At-Risk Junior High School Students. Children & amp; Schools, 27(2), 83–90. https://doi.org/10.1093/cs/27.2.83
- 13. Doll, B., Nastasi, B. K., Cornell, L., & Song, S. Y. (2017). School-Based Mental Health Services: Definitions and Models of Effective Practice. Journal of Applied School Psychology, 33(3), 179–194. https://doi.org/10.1080/15377903.2017.1317143
- 14. Brown, M. M., & Grumet, J. G. (2009). School-based suicide prevention with African American youth in an urban setting. Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 40(2), 111–117. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0012866
- Dowdy, E., Furlong, M., Raines, T. C., Bovery, B., Kauffman, B., Kamphaus, R. W., ... Murdock, J. (2014). Enhancing School-Based Mental Health Services With a Preventive and Promotive Approach to Universal Screening for Complete Mental Health. Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation, 25(2-3), 178–197. https://doi.org/10.1080/10474412.2014.929951
- Eklund, K., Rossen, E., Koriakin, T., Chafouleas, S. M., & Resnick, C. (2018). A systematic review of trauma screening measures for children and adolescents. School Psychology Quarterly, 33(1), 30– 43. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000244
- 17. Kaajalaakso, K., Lempinen, L., Ristkari, T., Huttunen, J., Luntamo, T., & Sourander, A. (2020). Psychometric properties of the screen for child anxiety related emotional disorders (SCARED) among



elementary school children in Finland. Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, 62(1), 34–40. https://doi.org/10.1111/sjop.12677

- Miele, D., & O'Brien, E. J. (2010). Underdiagnosis of posttraumatic stress disorder in at risk youth. Journal of Traumatic Stress, 23(5), 591–598. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.20572
- Prochaska, J. D., Le, V. D., Baillargeon, J., & Temple, J. R. (2016). Utilization of Professional Mental Health Services Related to Population-Level Screening for Anxiety, Depression, and Post-traumatic Stress Disorder Among Public High School Students. Community Mental Health Journal, 52(6), 691– 700. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-015-9968-z
- 20. Loomis, A. (2019, August 22). We need trauma-informed preschool practices. The Connecticut News Project. The CT Mirror. https://ctmirror.org/category/ct-viewpoints/we-need-trauma-informed-preschool-practices/.
- Osofsky, J. D., Putnam, F. W., & Lederman, J. C. (2008). How to Maintain Emotional Health When Working with Trauma. Juvenile and Family Court Journal, 59(4), 91–102. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-6988.2008.00023.x
- 22. U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights. (2014, March). Civil Rights Data Collection 'Data Snapshot: Early Childhood Education'. Issue Brief No. 2 . https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/crdc-early-learning-snapshot.pdf.
- Villarreal, V., & Castro-Villarreal, F. (2016). Collaboration With Community Mental Health Service Providers. Intervention in School and Clinic, 52(2), 108–114. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451216636047
- 24. Vericat-Rocha, Á, & Ruitenberg, C. (2019). Trauma-informed practices in early childhood education: Contributions, limitations and ethical considerations. Global Studies of Childhood, 9(2), 132–144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2043610619846319</u>
- 25. Belfer, M. L. (2008). Child and adolescent mental disorders: the magnitude of the problem across the globe. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 49(3), 226–236. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01855.x
- 26. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019). Leveraging the Best Available Evidence. Preventing Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs). https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/preventingACES.pdf.
- Fergusson, D. M., & Woodward, L. J. (2002). Mental Health, Educational, and Social Role Outcomes of Adolescents With Depression. Archives of General Psychiatry, 59(3), 225. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.59.3.225
- Liming, K. W., & Grube, W. A. (2018). Wellbeing Outcomes for Children Exposed to Multiple Adverse Experiences in Early Childhood: A Systematic Review. Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal, 35(4), 317–335. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10560-018-0532-x
- Angold, A., Erkanli, A., Farmer, E. M., Fairbank, J. A., Burns, B. J., Keeler, G., & Costello, E. J. (2002). Psychiatric disorder, impairment, and service use in rural African American and white youth. Archives of General Psychiatry, 59(10), 893. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.59.10.893
- 30. Cheung, A. H., & Dewa, C. S. (2007). Mental Health Service Use among Adolescents and Young Adults with Major Depressive Disorder and Suicidality. The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 52(4), 228–232. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674370705200404
- Hansen, A. S., Telléus, G. K., Mohr-Jensen, C., & Lauritsen, M. B. (2021). Parent-Perceived Barriers to Accessing Services for Their Child's Mental Health Problems. Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health, 15(4). https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-66925/v1



Appendix B



Figure 1: Power Bi Dashboard: Student Profile (ILD): Districtwide high school discipline rates for 2019–20



Figure 2: Power Bi Dashboard: Student Profile (ILD) Districtwide all grade bands discipline rates for 2019–20



Mental Health & Behavior Specialist Resources Prepared by the Department of Research & Performance Management

LEVEL	TIER 3: Targeted/Intensive Supports (Tertiary Intervention)
Students	School-based, trauma-specific individual, group, and family therapy services for students with trauma-related mental health difficulties; includes intensive collateral work with students' teachers, as well as consultation around Individualized Education Program (IEP) assessment and plans when IEP is warranted
Adults (staff and caregivers)	Brief crisis support for trauma-impacted school staff, and referral for more intensive services if needed
	Engaging and supporting parents/caregivers as part of their children's psychotherapy
System	Consultation around central district office personnel efforts to improve the district-wide Educationally Related Mental Health Services (ERMHS) process
	TIER 2: Selected Supports (Secondary Intervention)
Students	Psychocducational skill-building interventions for at-risk students
Adults (staff and caregivers)	Wellness (non-treatment) support for school staff that addresses stress, burnout, and secondary trauma (e.g., teacher wellness groups)
	Participating in Coordinated Care Team meetings that address the needs of at-risk students and coordinate integrated responses, as well as; respond to school-wide concerns
System	Consultation to school or district efforts to re-examine and revise discipline policies and procedures, and alternatives to suspension
	TIER 1: Universal Supports (Primary Prevention)
Students	Classroom training for students on coping with stress
Adults (staff and caregivers)	Training and consultation for all school staff (e.g., teachers, administrators, support staff, paraprofessionals, and school medical and mental health staff) around (a) trauma-sensitive practices, and (b) addressing stress, burnout, and secondary trauma
	Psychoeducation and skill-building workshops for parents/caregivers on coping with stress

Figure 3: The HEARTS Tiered supports from Dorado et al., 2016.⁶



Class Size Reduction with Educational Assistants

January 2021 Author: Shelby G. Roberts, Ph.D.

Strategy

Reduce adult/student ratio (1:13) in Kindergarten through second grade.

Description

All K–2 classrooms will receive a full-time educational assistant that has been supported on foundational skills instruction and best instructional practices.

Recommendations

- When reducing class sizes, having additional certified teachers is likely to produce better results than reducing the adult to student ratio with paraprofessionals.
- If paraprofessionals are used, clear expectations of their role must be understood by both the supervising teacher and the paraprofessional.
- On-going, targeted professional development will improve the successfulness of the paraprofessionals in helping students with academic skills.
- Time should be allocated for paraprofessionals to plan with their supervising teacher.¹⁵
- Paraprofessionals should focus on implementing successful interventions for students in small group and one-on-one settings, but not solely focus on the lowest attaining students.¹⁵

Smaller class sizes (with certified teachers) have shown mixed results on both the long- and short-term academic benefits.

- The TN STAR program from the early 1990's remains the prominent study on small class sizes.^{1, 2, 3, 4} It found that small classes (13–17 students) in grades K–3 had a positive, albeit small impact on math and reading in 3rd and 5th grade. The largest gains were seen in the first year of being enrolled in a smaller class regardless of grade and decreased in the following years.^{5, 6, 7}
 - Follow-up studies showed that these students were more likely to enroll in college with Black students, free and reduced lunch recipients, and students from the poorest tertile of districts having even greater effects. They were also 1.6% more likely to earn a college degree.⁸
 - $\circ~$ The cost of program however, barely met the threshold for a positive return on investment.^2
- A large-scale study out of Minnesota used a quasi-experimental design to mimic controls and treatment groups. The authors found a positive effect of class size reduction by 10 students for reading and math on 3rd and 5th grade achievement scores. However, these effects were extremely small (0.04–0.05 standard deviations), thus the authors stated, "class size reductions are unlikely to lead to sizable increases in student learning."³



- Another quasi-experimental design used state data from Connecticut schools. This study found no support for smaller class sizes in the earlier grades on 4th and 6th grade achievement scores. Even effects as small as a 2–4 percent increases in scores were accounted for by other factors not related to class size.⁹
- A longitudinal study did not find support for smaller class sizes over a three-year period in Hong Kong primary schools. Students were enrolled in reduced class sizes for zero, two, or three years at the same school and their 3rd grade achievement was compared. Across all schools there were no consistent positive effects of the reduced class sizes, though some within-school positive effects were found.¹⁰
- In Texas schools, smaller class sizes in grade four and five did show positive effects on student achievement in 4th grade and slightly positive effects in 6th grade. However, the authors note that the benefits of the small classes pale in comparison to those resulting from improved teacher quality.¹¹

"By simply increasing the numbers of [teachers' assistants] in a school, the attainments of all pupils will not necessarily improve."¹²

- The STAR experiment mentioned above also investigated regular classrooms (22–25 students) with and without teachers' aids (TA). It found no evidence that students in a regular-sized class with a teacher and TA performed any better on tests in 3rd grade. By 5th grade, students in K–3 classes with a TA performed slightly worse on their standardized tests.^{6, 7} Because there was no significant difference between the treatment- and control-group, they are often treated the same in follow-up studies.^{5, 6}
- A UK based study looked at the amount of TA's support (as measured by the teacher) on students' math, science, and reading skills in the mid-2000's. Students in two cohorts (n = 8,200) were tracked over one year on academic skills and other influencing factors. They found no positive effect of the TA support for any subject across any year, and 76% of the results were in a negative direction. Students who often need the most support, such as students with special educational needs, tended to show even starker negative outcomes. Those students who received the most TA support had lower outcomes than those who had received little or no support.^{13, 14, 15}

Interventions where paraprofessionals have been successful often have focused training, adequate support, and clear job roles.

- Paraprofessionals (PP) often report confusion about job responsibilities,^{16, 17} a lack of planning time with the supervising teacher,^{15, 17} and limited training.^{15, 19, 30} Studies that address these issues found more success with their use of PPs. An indepth literature review of reading interventions in K-3 using PPs found that training, direct and on-going supervision and feedback, and scripted lessons were more important than the number or type of sessions for student success.²⁰
- A meta-analysis showed that targeted interventions using trained and supported TA's showed positive results when focusing on one-on-one or small group instruction in literacy for struggling students.¹²



- One study focused on the effect of fluency training for PPs on student reading. Paraprofessionals participated in five-hour training sessions focused on fluency instruction. They found the training to be effective with more PPs using praise and error correction accurately and to the required extent needed. However, the PPs struggled to maintain consistency with their new skills over multiple lessons. Student reading was not impacted by the PPs' successful training, likely because it remained highly accurate throughout the study.²¹
- Another meta-analysis²² showed that reading tutoring implemented by PPs improved student reading skills compared to control groups (i.e., no tutoring).^{23, 24} However, the studies that also had certified teachers as tutors showed that teachers were more effective than PPs in improving student reading.^{25, 26}
- Conversely, a meta-analysis on successful interventions in elementary mathematics found that paraprofessional-led tutoring (either in a small group or one-on-one) was as effective as teacher tutors. It is worth noting that the paraprofessionals had extensive professional development and were similarly credentialed with most holding bachelor's degrees in these studies.³⁴
- In another study, targeted professional development and coaching allowed PPs to implement various strategies with efficacy. A two-hour workshop follow by hour long in-person coaching sessions resulted in significant improvements in the fidelity of the PPs' implementation with special education students.²⁷ It is worth noting that singleday workshops do not provide this increase in effective implementation.^{28, 29}

Behavior modification and reduction can be supported by paraprofessionals with prior training.

- "Paraprofessionals are among personnel most often tasked with providing intervention for children with [disruptive behavior disorders]."³¹
- Paraprofessionals who are receiving professional development training on behavior interventions reported more "operationally defined behavior concerns" than those without training. The training gave the PP's the ability to accurately identify behaviors and appropriate intervention which is essential in modifying student behavior.³²
- When working with students with different learning needs, one case-study found that training and coaching for PPs (n = 3) resulted in more appropriate student behavior and less disruptive behavior for those students.³³

Paraprofessionals who move into teaching benefit from their prior experience in the classroom and are retained at higher rates.

- TA's who transition to full-time teaching positions tend to be more racially diverse, older, have lower test scores, and come in through alternative licensures. They persist in the field longer, and their elementary students show higher growth achievement when compared to other novice teachers specifically in reading.³⁵
- Teachers coming through the Leap to Teacher program, a paraprofessional to teacher pipeline, showed that six years into the program 60% of participants were still in the profession and in the city.³⁶ This higher retention rate was echoed in a study that compared paraprofessionals, emergency licensure teachers, and Peace-Corps



teachers, and found that those teachers who entered the profession through first serving as a PP had the highest retention rates.³⁷



- 1. Altinok, N., & Kingdon, G. (2012). New evidence on class size effects: A pupil fixed effects approach. *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics*, 74(2), 203–234.
- 2. Chingos, M. M. (2013). Class size and student outcomes: Research and policy implications. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 411–438.
- 3. Cho, H., Glewwe, P., & Whitler, M. (2012). Do reductions in class size raise students' test scores? Evidence from population variation in Minnesota's elementary schools. *Economics of Education Review*, *31*(3), 77–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2012.01.004</u>
- 4. Leuven, E., & Løkken, S. A. (2020). Long-Term Impacts of Class Size in Compulsory School. *Journal of Human Resources*, 55(1), 309–348. doi:10.3368/jhr.55.2.0217.8574R2
- 5. Nye, B., Hedges, L. V., & Konstantopoulos, S. (1999). The long-term effects of small classes: A five-year follow-up of the Tennessee class size experiment. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *21*(2), 127–142.
- 6. Nye, B., Hedges, L. V., & Konstantopoulos, S. (2000). The effects of small classes on academic achievement: The results of the Tennessee class size experiment. *American Educational Research Journal*, 37(1), 123–151
- Word, E., Johnston, J., Bain, H., Fulton, D. B., Boyd, Zaharias, J., Lintz, M. N., Achilles, CM., Folger, J., & Breda, C. (1990). Student/Teacher Achievement Ratio (STAR): Tennessee s K-3 class-size study. Nashville: Tennessee Department of Education.
- 8. Dynarski, S., Hyman, J., & Schanzenbach, D. W. (2013). Experimental evidence on the effect of childhood investments on postsecondary attainment and degree completion. *Journal of Policy Analysis and management*, 32(4), 692–717. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pam.21715</u>
- 9. Hoxby, C. M. (2000). The effects of class size on student achievement: New evidence from population variation. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *115*(4), 1239–1285.
- 10. Galton, M., & Pell, T. (2012). Longitudinal effects of class size reductions on attainment: Results from Hong Kong primary classrooms. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 53, 360–369.
- 11. Rivkin, S. G., Hanushek, E. A., & Kain, J. F. (2005). Teachers, schools, and academic achievement. *Econometrica*, 73(2), 417–458.
- 12. Farrell, P., Alborz, A., Howes, A., & Pearson, D. (2010). The impact of teaching assistants on improving pupils' academic achievement in mainstream schools: A review of the literature. *Educational Review*, 62(4), 435–448. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2010.486476</u>
- **13**. Blatchford, P., Russell, A. and Webster, R. (2012) *Reassessing the impact of teaching assistants How research challenges practice and policy.* Oxon: Routledge.
- 14. Giangreco, M. F. (2012). Reassessing the impact of teaching assistants: how research challenges practice and policy. *London Review of Education*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14748460.2012.729892
- 15. Sharples, J., Blatchford, P., & Webster, R. (2016). *Making best use of teaching assistants.* Education Endowment Foundation.
- 16. Brown, T. S., & Stanton-Chapman, T. L. (2017). Experiences of paraprofessionals in US preschool special education and general education classrooms. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, *17*(1), 18–30.
- 17. Giangreco, M. F., Suter, J. C., & Doyle, M. B. (2010). Paraprofessionals in inclusive schools: A review of recent research. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation, 20*, 41–57. doi:10.1080/10474410903535356
- 18. Stewart, E. M. (2019). Reducing ambiguity: Tools to define and communicate paraprofessional roles and responsibilities. *Intervention in School and Clinic,* 55(1), 52–57.DOI: 10.1177/1053451218782431
- **19.** Breton, W. (2010). Special education paraprofessionals: Perceptions of preservice preparation, supervision, and ongoing developmental training. *International Journal of Special Education*, 25, 34–45.
- 20. Samson, J. F., Hines, S. J., & Li, K. (2015). Effective use of paraprofessionals as early intervention reading tutors in grades K-3. *Mentoring & Tutoring: Partnership in Learning,* 23(2), 164–177.



Class Size Reduction with Educational Assistants Prepared by the Department of Research & Performance Management

- 21. O'Keeffe, B. V., Slocum, T. A., & Magnusson, R. (2013). The effects of a fluency training package on paraprofessionals' presentation of a reading intervention. *The Journal of Special Education*, 47(1), 14–27.
- 22. Slavin, R. E., Lake, C., Davis, S., & Madden, N. A. (2011). Effective programs for struggling readers: A best-evidence synthesis. *Educational Research Review*, 6(1), 1–26.
- 23. Jenkins, J. R., Peyton, J. A., Sanders, E. A., & Vadasy, P. F. (2004). Effects of reading decodable texts in supplemental first-grade tutoring. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, *8*, 53–85.
- 24. Vadasy, P. F., Sanders, E. A., & Tudor, S. (2007). Effectiveness of paraeducator-supplemented individual instruction: Beyond basic decoding skills. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 40(6), 508–525.
- 25. Ehri, L., Dreyer, L., Flugman, B., & Gross, Al. (2007). Reading Rescue: An effective tutoring intervention model for language-minority students who are struggling readers in first grade. American Educational Research Journal, 44(2), 414–448.
- 26. Brown, K. , Morris, D., & Fields, M. (2005). Intervention after grade 1: Serving increased numbers of struggling readers effectively. *Journal of Literacy Research*, 37(1), 61–94.
- 27. Brock, M. E., & Carter, E. W. (2015). Effects of a professional development package to prepare special education paraprofessionals to implement evidence-based practice. *The Journal of Special Education*, 49(1), 39–51.
- 28. Barnes, C. S., Dunning, J. L., & Rehfeldt, R. A. (2011). An evaluation of strategies for training staff to implement the picture exchange communication system. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 5, 1574–1583. doi:10.1016/j.rasd.2011.03.003
- 29. Hall, L. J., Grundon, G. S., Pope, C., & Romero, A. B. (2010). Training paraprofessionals to use behavioral strategies when educating learners with autism spectrum disorders across environments. *Behavioral Interventions*, *25*, 37–51. doi:10.1002/bin.294
- 30. Alperin, A., Reddy, L. A., Glover, T. A., Breeden, N., Dudek, C., & Regan, P. (2020). Behavior Support Coaching for a Paraprofessional Working with First-Grade Students Exhibiting Disruptive Behavior Problems in an Urban High-Poverty Elementary School. *Clinical Case Studies*, 19(5), 303–320.
- 31. Reddy, L. A., Alperin, A., & Glover, T. A. (2020). A critical review of the professional development literature for paraprofessionals supporting students with externalizing behavior disorders. Psychology in the Schools. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22381</u>
- 32. Bronstein, B., Breeden, N., Glover, T. A., & Reddy, L. A. (2020). Paraprofessionals' Perceptions of Behavior Problems in Elementary School Classrooms. *The Journal of Special Education*, (online only) <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022466920961085</u>
- 33. Walker, V. L., & Snell, M. E. (2017). Teaching paraprofessionals to implement function-based interventions. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 32(2), 114–123.
- 34. Slavin, R. E., & Lake, C. (2008). Effective programs in elementary mathematics: A best-evidence synthesis. *Review of Educational Research*, *78*(3), 427–515.
- 35. Fortner, C. K., Kershaw, D. C., Bastian, K. C., & Lynn, H. H. (2015). Learning by doing: The characteristics, effectiveness, and persistence of teachers who were teaching assistants first. *Teachers College Record*, *117*(11), 1–30.
- 36. Abramovitz, M., & D'Amico, D. (2011). *Triple payoff: The Leap to Teacher program.* New York: The City University of New York Murphy Institute.
- 37. Clewell, B. C., & Villegas, A. M. (2001). *Absence unexcused: Ending teacher shortages in highneed areas.* Washington, DC: The Urban Institute.



Home Literacy Kits

January 2021 Author: Marie A. Sell, Ph.D.

Strategy

Provide at-home literacy kits for parents of students in grades K–11 with training from a non-profit organization grounded in literacy research with proven results.

Description

Students and parents will receive literacy kits grounded in the "Big 5" components of reading. The kits will provide parents with the resources to reinforce strategies to learn how to read.

Recommendations and Take Aways

- Research largely supports training parents to use specific skills to teach their children the content of home literacy kits although it has not identified the best skills and strategies to use.²² Incorporating the specific reading skills appropriate for reinforcing instruction at each grade-level might maximize program success.
- Much of the literature covered incorporated the targeted reading skills into the context of a book that was basis of the home literacy kit. Using literacy kits with both books and targeted skills might be most effective.
- Program engagement is higher when books are of interest to the children.⁸ Using leveled readers as the basis for home literacy kits to bridge students' interests and reading levels could help program participation.
- Given that highly structured programs are much more effective than loosely structured programs,²⁰ any purchased home literacy curricula should have explicit, grade-level instructions and activities for parents and students to work on.
- Implementation quality should be maintained by ensuring that parents are trained to the level of mastery for the skills they are expected to teach. Perhaps demonstration videos available on the MSCS website for parents to review as needed would be a helpful tool.

Theme: The use of family/home literacy kits has been linked to improved reading in students in grades PK – 5.

- Correlational studies have shown that parent-child reading with young children is positively linked to emergent literacy and to reading achievement.^{6, 21}
- A significantly higher percentage of PK students who participated in a 12-week *Raising a Reader* program with their parents made significant gains in receptive vocabulary compared to a control group as measured by the PPVT. Participating and control students were in PK classrooms located in schools with low levels of third-grade reading achievement.⁷



- In a study conducted in schools serving middle-income, suburban families, parents of Kindergarten students were invited to opt into a 12-week reading intervention program that provided literacy exercises for students to practice at home. The exercises extended reading instruction occurring in the classroom. Students in the intervention group performed significantly better than those in comparison groups on reading tests after the 12-week program, controlling for parent interest in participating in the program and students' initial reading level. Additionally, a higher percentage of students in the intervention scored 80% or greater on the posttest than did comparison-group students.¹⁸
- A meta-analysis²² examined 16 peer reviewed studies that were designed with an intervention group and a control group to determine the impact of three types of parent-child reading activities on reading achievement for students in grades K-3. The biggest effect size (1.15) was for parents trained to do literacy exercises relevant to the books with their children, which equated to 17 points on a standardized test. Also having an impact was providing training to parents on how to listen to their children read to them (effect size = 0.52 or 8 points on a standardized test). Found to be not effective was asking parents to read to their children (effect size = 0.18, which was not statistically different from 0).
- This meta-analysis also found that interventions using family literacy kits were effective for students in grades K-3, for students reading at both grade level or below, and for students in families of working-class and middle to high economic class.²²
- A study of low-income students and their parents in grade 2 examined the effects of participating in a home fluency program. Parents attended parent training meetings, then basal readers were sent home twice a week with explicit instructions for parents. Findings showed that students in the intervention had higher posttest fluency standard scores than students in the control group. Additionally, a higher percentage of parents in the intervention group reported helping their children with homework and reading to their children multiple times per week compared to the control group.¹⁷
- A meta-analysis revealed that not all home literacy kit programs monitored implementation quality which can negatively influence program impact.⁹ Another study recommended that parents be trained to the level of mastery on the reading skills to be taught to children.¹⁰

Theme: Longitudinal analyses show positive effects can be long-term and can emerge months after tutoring ends.

 In an experimental design, an intervention developed to enrich Head Start parent language use, extend parent-child interaction, and promote dialogic reading through book kits and dramatic play kits rich with literacy activities resulted in significant gains for participating students in emergent literacy skills (letter and sight recognition, letter naming fluency, letter sound fluency, short word and nonsense word fluency) and teacher ratings of academic performance at the beginning of Kindergarten compared to non-participating students.³



- Students in British Infant School (5-7 years) and Junior School (8-13 years) who were tutored by their parents using paired reading techniques demonstrated both short-term (<=17 weeks) and long-term (17+ weeks) gains in reading accuracy compared to students not tutored.²⁵
- Students in grades 1-2 in high-poverty schools who participated in a three-year summer book program performed better on standardized reading achievement tests after the three years compared to students in the control group.¹
- Struggling readers in grade 1 and their parents participated in a summer reading program. Student reading levels did not improve from spring to fall, but did from fall to winter.⁸

Theme: Parents can be effective at teaching reading skills to children at home and are eager to do so.

- Given specific tutoring skills, appropriate materials and feedback, parents can have a positive impact on student academic success.^{11, 12, 16}
- Training parents with specific techniques for coaching children reading²⁴ and instructions for how to engage in paired reading²⁶ resulted in positive effects for children at risk of reading failure.
- Parents who participated in a reading program with their young children sought out activities (e.g., watching videos, attending workshops) to learn how to be better reading teachers.⁷
- A meta-analysis of studies examining the effectiveness of reading tutors for elementary and middle school students found that parent tutors were equally effective as college-student tutors and community volunteer tutors for all grade levels at improving overall reading, reading letters and words, reading fluency, and writing. Reading tutors did not impact students' reading comprehension.²⁰
- A meta-analysis of studies that examined training parents to tutor their primary (grades K-3) and intermediate (grades 4-6) children analyzed different parent instruction methods. Using written instructions, modeling, and supervised practice to train parents all had moderate to large effect sizes for the treatment group on reading fluency, word recognition, and reading comprehension at both age levels.¹⁰
- A study administering parent surveys found that parents of students in grades 1-3 reported knowing more about how to teach their children grade-level reading and writing skills after participating in a home literacy bag program during the year.¹³

Theme: The most effective literacy kit programs give explicit directions to parents on how to teach reading. Parent training should be detailed but can be done in a relatively short period of time.

• A meta-analysis of studies examining the effectiveness of reading tutors found a moderate effect size (0.59) for highly structured reading programs compared to a low effect size (0.14) for loosely structured programs on overall reading,



reading letters and words, reading fluency, and writing for tutored students in elementary and middle school.²⁰

- Another meta-analysis revealed that short parent training sessions (1-2 hours) and longer sessions (3-13.5 hours) were equally effective at training parents to teach reading skills to their children.²²
- Parents of Kindergarten students were trained to teach reading sight words, recognizing beginning and ending sounds, and blending sounds into new words in a 90-minute session that included opportunities for role playing and feedback. Literacy kits included activities and lessons structured for parents. Students in the intervention performed significantly better than comparison groups on reading tests after a 12-week program.¹⁸

Theme: Additional benefits of using literacy kits include boosting parent interest and involvement and promoting community engagement in children's reading acquisition.

- Using classroom traveling book kits has been linked to keeping parents engaged in their children's learning throughout the school year.^{4, 14, 19, 23}
- Parents reported home literacy kits from schools promoted more parent-child reading at home with PK students. Additionally, parents reported learning more about children's literature options.²
- Partnering with libraries can provide opportunities for parents to learn how to interact with their children through books. For example, attending story time can model effective ways to read books to children.⁵ Participation in book clubs can inform families of literacy resources.
- Library book clubs for elementary students can incorporate reading instruction to be more effective. Students in an intervention group that paired instructional techniques on effective reading practices with the book club books improved reading comprehension compared to a control group that only read the books.¹⁵



- Allington, R. L., McGill-Franze, A., Camilli, G., Williams, L., Graff, J., Zeig, J., Zmach, C., & Nowak, R. (2010). Addressing summer reading setbacks among economically disadvantaged elementary students, *Reading Psychology*, 31(5), 411-427.
- 2. Barbour, A. C. (1998). Home literacy bags promote family involvement. *Childhood Education*, 75(2), 71+.
- 3. Bierman, K., Welsh, J., Heinrichs, B., Nix, R., & Mathis, E. (2015). Helping Head Start Parents Promote Their Children's Kindergarten Adjustment: The Research-Based Developmentally Informed Parent Program. *Child Development*, *86*(6), 1877-1891.
- 4. Brock, D. R, & Dodd, E. L. (1994). A family lending library: Promoting early literacy development. Young Children, 49(3), 16-21.
- 5. Byrne, M., Deerr, K., & Kropp, L. (2003). Book a Play Date: The Game of Promoting Emergent Literacy. *American Libraries*, 34(8), 42-44.
- Bus, A. G., van IJzendoorn, M. H., & Pellegrini, A. D. (1995). Joint book reading makes for success in learning to read: A meta-analysis on intergenerational transmission of literacy. *Review of Educational Research*, 65, 1–21.
- 7. Chao, S. L., Mattocks, G., & Birden. A. (2014). The impact of Raising a Reader program on family literacy practices and receptive vocabulary of children in pre-kindergarten. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 43, 427-434.
- 8. Compton-Lilly, C., Caloia, R., Quast, E., & McCann, K. (2016). A Closer Look at a Summer Reading Program: Listening to Students and Parents. *The Reading Teacher*, 70(1), 59-67.
- 9. de la Rie, S., van Steensel, R. C. M., & van Gelderen, A. J. S. (2017). Implementation quality of family literacy programmes: A review of the literature. *Review of Education*, 5(1), 91-118.
- 10. Erion, J. (2006). Parent Tutoring: A Meta-Analysis. Education and Treatment of Children, 29(1), 79-106.
- 11. Fantuzzo, J. W., Davis, G. Y., & Ginsburg, M. D. (1995). Effects of parent involvement in isolation or in combination with peer tutoring on student self-concept and mathematics achievement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 87, 272-289.
- 12. Gang, D. & Poche, C. E. (1982). An effective program to train parents as reading tutors for their own children. *Education and Treatment of Children*, 5, 211-232.
- 13. Grande, M. (2004). Increasing parent participation and knowledge using home literacy bags. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 40(2), 120-126.
- 14. Hammack, B. G., Foote, M. M., Garretson, S., & Thompson, J. (2012). Family literacy packs: Engaging teachers, families, and young children in quality activities to promote partnerships for learning. *Young Children*, 67(3), 104-110.
- 15. Kim, J. S., & White, T. G. (2008). Scaffolding voluntary summer reading for children in grades 3 to 5: An experimental study. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, *12*(1), 1-23.
- 16. Koven, J. T. & LeBow, M. D. (1972). Teaching parents to remediate the academic problems of their children. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, *41*, 64-73.
- 17. Morrow, L., Kuhn, M., & Schwanenflugel, P. (2006). The Family Fluency Program. The Reading Teacher, 60(4), 322-333.
- 18. Niedermeyer, F. (1970). Parents Teach Kindergarten Reading at Home. *The Elementary School Journal*, 70(8), 438-445.
- 19. Paratore, J. R., & Jordan, G. (2007). Family literacy: Starting out together: A home-school partnership for preschool and beyond. *The Reading Teacher*, 60(7), 694-696.
- 20. Ritter, G., Barnett, J., Denny, G., & Albin, G. (2009). The Effectiveness of Volunteer Tutoring Programs for Elementary and Middle School Students: A Meta-Analysis. *Review of Educational Research*, 79(1), 3-38.
- 21. Scarborough, H. S., & Dobrich, W. (1994). On the efficacy of reading to preschoolers. *Developmental Review*, 14, 245–302.
- Sénéchal, M., & Young, L. (2008). The Effect of Family Literacy Interventions on Children's Acquisition of Reading from Kindergarten to Grade 3: A Meta-Analytic Review. *Review of Educational Research*, 78(4), 880-907.
- 23. Swain, H., & Coleman, J. (2014). REVISITING TRAVELING BOOKS: Early Literacy, Social Studies, and the Common Core. *The Reading Teacher*, 68(4), 267-273.



- 24. Toomey, D. (1993). Parents hearing their children read: A review. Rethinking the lessons of the Haringey Project. *Educational Research*, 35, 223–236.
- 25. Topping, K. (1992). Short- and Long-Term Follow-Up of Parental Involvement in Reading Projects. *British Educational Research Journal, 18*(4), 369-379.
- 26. Topping, K. J., & Lindsay, G. A. (1992). Paired reading: A review of the literature. Research Papers in Education, 7, 199-246.



Foreign Language Expansion

April 2022 Author: Marie A. Sell, Ph.D.

Strategy

Memphis-Shelby County Schools will expand its Foreign Language offerings in an effort to increase the number of students who speak two languages and who are linguistically and culturally competent.

Foreign Language Instructional Models

In K-12 education, foreign language instruction usually follows one of two models.² Students either spend a specified amount of time each week learning a language as a taught subject (e.g., 30 minutes of language instruction per week in elementary school, one class period per day in middle or high school) or they experience language immersion instruction in which the target language is used the entire day, including for academic instruction. Some language immersion programs are dual language immersion which usually serve students whose primary language is one of the two target languages. Generally, in dual immersion programs, each target language is used equally throughout the day.

Both models are effective as a means of language instruction, although initially there were questions about whether immersion programs would be confusing or hinder language development in the primary language for young students. A review¹⁰ by the University of Oxford, however, covers copious amounts of research demonstrating this to be not true. While research has found that although elementary students in English immersion programs might initially demonstrated lags in certain language skills such as spelling, word knowledge, and word discrimination among others, the lags generally resolved within a year or two of language exposure and did not recur. Further, some research has found that students in dual language immersion programs appeared to have an edge, demonstrating higher GPAs and more post-secondary enrollments compared to students in other program types.¹¹

Traditional classroom instruction is an effective model of foreign language instruction as well. To be most effective however, classroom interactions and instruction should be conducted in the target language at least 90% of the time to maximize students' exposure to the target language. Further, use of the target language should be purposeful and have complexity just above the students' level of competence to facilitate target language acquisition and proficiency.³

² This literature review does not focus on ESL instruction as part of its content, however some of the research reviewed may include ESL instruction as a factor. While English Learner students are learning a foreign language, the topic of ESL instruction and supports was covered in a separate literature review.



Best Practices in Foreign Language Instruction

An extensive literature review by the University of Oxford¹⁰ on foreign language instruction published in 2020 examined numerous studies that focused on the best ways to teach target language vocabulary and grammar for students in Pre-K through grade 12. Research on vocabulary acquisition found:

- For nouns, there was no difference between explicit teaching (e.g., using word lists) and learning vocabulary in context (e.g., reading texts, engaging in conversation), however vocabulary in context was better for acquisition of adjectives.
- Strategically switching into students' primary language to provide lexical information led to better vocabulary gains than using the target language only.
- Pre-teaching vocabulary prior to using it in context led to higher later vocabulary use compared to no pre-teaching.
- Pre-training on the phonological patterns connected to the vocabulary being taught led to higher vocabulary acquisition compared to both pre-training on the vocabulary meaning and no pre-training.
- The use of games and activities on vocabulary acquisition was greatest when the games required high involvement (i.e., the task required learners to need, search for, and evaluate the meaning of a word).
- Using television or videos worked better when viewing the video was accompanied by teacher interaction compared to no teacher interaction (grades PK-K), accompanied by full captions/subtitles compared to key word captions only or no captions (middle school), and accompanied by pre-teaching target vocabulary compared to no preteaching (middle/high school).

Research on grammar acquisition found:

- Explicit grammar instruction resulted in more gains of grammar knowledge than did using an implicit approach in which students learned grammatical forms solely through reading texts and engaging in other language activities, although these findings shift according to students' level of proficiency with the target language. More advanced students benefit more from explicit instruction. Further, explicit instruction can hamper progress for students who are new to the target language.
- Literacy-based instruction compared to predominately oral instruction led to slightly better acquisition of grammatical structure knowledge.
- Both traditional grammar translation and communicative instruction increased grammatical knowledge, but only communicative instruction produced gains in the use of grammatical forms in oral language.
- There is limited high-quality research on the role of technology. One study found that using an online workbook that provided immediate, scaffolded feedback to students resulted in better grammar acquisition that using written workbooks.
- Overwhelmingly, however, teacher competence and confidence in the target language, amount of practice time, and amount of exposure to the target language were the dominant factors impacting gains in grammatical knowledge.



Also included in the University of Oxford literature review¹⁰ was a synthesis of the research on reading, writing, speaking, and listening in the target language. There are several interesting individual findings from research that examined a specific aspect of one of these language domains. However, some general themes emerged that were common across the domains.

- Most effective instruction included at least some explicit instruction. For example, reading instruction that included explicit instruction in both lower-level and higher-level reading skills were more effective than those without.
- Teaching strategies related to the specific domain helped develop proficiency in the domain (e.g., teaching reading strategies improved reading comprehension, writing strategies improved writing performance).
- Ample practice improves skills (e.g., task repetition aids in correct pronunciation in spoken language).
- Technology designed to facilitate these domains of language acquisition require adequate teacher support to be effective, especially for students with limited technological skill.

Outcomes of Foreign Language Instruction

Outcomes of foreign language study can fall into two areas. First is the question of how much foreign language is acquired after a specified period of study. For example, how competent or proficient is a typical student in the target language after one year of high school instruction? The second question looks at how studying a foreign language can impact other areas, either academic or non-academic.

Acquisition of Target Language

There is limited research about how much of a target language is acquired by K-12 students over a specific period of time. One study⁹ examined a program providing 1-hour-per-week language instruction for 7- and 8-year-old students over the course of the school year (38 hours total). The program predominately provided oral language instruction and used role-play, stories, songs, and crafts to introduce students to the target language. Post-test measures revealed that students made gains in an elicited imitation test, but not in vocabulary knowledge. The authors concluded that 1-hour-per-week was insufficient for elementary students to acquire language proficiency. Another study by the Center for Applied Second Language Studies (CASLS)⁸ concluded that time (total time of instruction by the program) and intensity (number of sessions per week and weeks per year) were the two most important factors in determining proficiency outcomes for K-8 students.

A second study conducted by the Center for Applied Second Language Studies⁷ examined the proficiency level of high school students who studied Spanish or French for up to four years. Student data from 56 school districts across 21 states were included in the analyses. Proficiency was determined by analyzing student performance on the STAMP (STAndardsbased Measurement of Proficiency) Language Proficiency test (<u>https://avantassessment.com/stamp#</u>) which assesses students' second language proficiency according to the ACTFL proficiency levels.² The American Council on the Teaching



of Foreign Languages (ACTFL) is an international organization that supports the teaching of foreign languages (<u>www.actfl.org</u>).

The ACTFL guidelines provide 11 levels of proficiency including Novice, Intermediate, Advanced, Superior, and Distinguished. The Novice, Intermediate, and Advanced levels are further subdivided into low, mid, and high levels of proficiency. Study findings revealed that student scores predominately fell between Novice-low and Intermediate-mid levels. Further, after 720 hours of study (1 hour per day, 180 school days per year for four years), the majority of students remained at the Novice levels for speaking, with only approximately 15% of students achieving Intermediate-mid level proficiency in reading and writing.

The authors of this limited body of research generally conclude that educators, parents, and the community at-large tend to overestimate the amount of target language high school students acquire as it relates to actual target language proficiency. However, while the researchers caution not to have too high of expectations related to proficiency, they see definite benefits from K-12 students studying foreign language.

Impact of Foreign Language Learning on Other Areas

Although proficiency in the target language may take longer than time allows, there are still several benefits for students who study a second language in K-12. The research around these findings is generally grouped into three areas: academic benefits, other cognitive benefits, and increased social or cultural awareness.

Academic Benefits

Since the 1960s numerous studies have examined the impact of foreign language learning on students' performance in other academic subjects. Two annotated bibliographies^{4,5} provide detailed overviews of this research. Some highlights of the findings are listed here.

- Studying a second language helps students achieve in their first language, including in vocabulary, reading comprehension, language mechanics, language expression, and language arts skills. Additionally, students studying a second language have scored higher on standardized tests than students in the control group (no second language instruction).
- Studying a second language increases linguistic awareness and creates a better meta-understanding of language.
- Studying a second language increases performance in other core subjects (math, science, and social studies) on standardized tests.
- Studying a second language narrows achievement gaps for children of color and economically disadvantaged students, regardless of language skills in their native language. Some of these findings were particularly noted for elementary students.

Other Cognitive Benefits

Foreign language study has been linked to increases in cognitive functioning, divergent thinking, problem solving, abstract thinking, and performance on intelligence tests such as the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children (WISC).



Social and Cultural Awareness

K-12 students who study a second language have more positive attitudes about speakers of the target language and their culture compared to students not exposed through second language study. In addition, another literature review⁶ noted that students studying a second language tended to be more empathic, have better perspective-taking skill, and better communication skills compared to students not studying a second language.



- 2. ACTFL Language Connects. (2012). ACTFL Proficiency Guidelines 2012. Retrieved from: https://www.actfl.org/resources/actfl-proficiency-guidelines-2012
- 3. ACTFL Language Connects. (no date). *Facilitate Target Language Use*. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.actfl.org/resources/guiding-principles-language-learning/target-language</u>
- 4. ACTFL Language Connects. (no date). What Does the Research Show about the Benefits of Language Learning? Retrieved from: <u>https://www.actfl.org/assessment-research-and-development/what-the-research-shows</u>
- 5. The Benefits of Second Language Study: Research Findings with Citations (2007). Regarding World Language Education. NEA Research. Retrieved from: <u>https://portal.ct.gov/-/media/SDE/World-Languages/BenefitsofSecondLanguage.pdf</u>
- 6. Canto, D. (2019). The Importance of Language Education at the Elementary Level. Master's Theses and Capstone Projects. Department of Education. Northwestern College, Iowa. Retrieved from: https://nwcommons.nwciowa.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1161&context=education_masters
- 7. Center for Applied Second Language Studies. (2010a). *How Many Hours of Instruction Do Students Need to Reach Intermediate-High Proficiency?* A report by CASLS. University of Oregon. Retrieved from: <u>https://casls.uoregon.edu/wp-content/uploads/pdfs/tenquestions/TBQHoursToReachIH.pdf</u>
- 8. Center for Applied Second Language Studies (2010b). What Factors are Important for an Effective K-8 Program? A report by CASLS. University of Oregon. Retrieved from: <u>https://casls.uoregon.edu/wpcontent/uploads/pdfs/tenquestions/TBQK8Programs.pdf</u>
- 9. Mitchell, R., & Myles, F. (2019). Learning French in the UK setting: Policy, classroom engagement and attainable learning outcomes. *Apples: Journal of Applied Language Studies*, 13(1), 69-93.
- 10. Murphy, V. A., Arndt, H., Briggs Baffoe-Djan, J., Chalmers, H., Macaro, E., Rose, H., Vanderplank, R., & Woore, R. (2020). Foreign language learning and its impact on wider academic outcomes: A rapid evidence assessment. Education Endowment Foundation. University of Oxford: Oxford, England.
- 11. Williams Fortune, T. (2012). What the Research Says about Immersion. In *Chinese Language Learning in the Early Grades*. Asia Society. Retrieved from: <u>https://carla.umn.edu/immersion/documents/ImmersionResearch_TaraFortune.html</u>



English as a Second Language Support

April 2022 Author: Marie A. Sell, Ph.D.

Strategy

Memphis-Shelby County Schools will expand its English as a Second Language (ESL) supports in efforts to improve academic grade level performance and English proficiency for English learners (ELs), and to expand the District's ability to communicate effectively with parents of EL students resulting in improved parent engagement and participation at schools.

Improving Academic Grade Level Performance and English Proficiency Effective ESL Instructional Models and Supports

While several models of K-12 ESL instruction exist, the service models used in a specific school district can vary and may depend on state or local guidance. In Tennessee, approved service models for ESL instruction include: ^{4, 10, 16}

- ESL pull-out programs, where students spend part of the day in a mainstream classroom and are pulled out part of the day for ESL instruction
- Push-in models, in which a classroom teacher and an ESL teacher co-teach within the classroom
- Sheltered content classes, where EL students are taught academic content in English that is adapted to their proficiency level
- Structure immersion grades/classes, where students are in English only classes with no explicit ESL instruction, however teachers might use the students' primary language to clarify English instruction
- Scheduled ESL class periods

Research has identified instructional strategies and supports that can be implemented within a number of different ESL instructional models that support academic outcomes and/or English language proficiency of ELs.^{5, 13, 14, 15, 17, 20, 21}

- Integrate instruction of rigorous grade-level academic content and academic content language/vocabulary along with English language development (ELD) instruction. Instruction should include regular, structured opportunities for small group/student pair discussions and for developing written language skills.
- Provide content instruction in ELs' primary language as needed.
- Include explicit instruction for vocabulary development and reading comprehension strategies in addition to foundational skills instruction.
- Use small-group instruction to support literacy and ELD for EL students needing more support (particularly in K–5).
- Screen and identify ELs who need academic intervention beyond Tier 1 instruction.

Newcomer ELs often need additional supports to help them adapt and be successful in the school environment. Further, some immigrant students may arrive with limited or no formal



education experience and/or no familiarity with written language (even in their primary language). This can create additional challenges for older newcomer or immigrant ELs, in particular, who must learn the school environment, foundational print language skills, and English language, all while learning academic content. In addition to the points listed above, newcomer ELs can benefit from:^{17, 21}

- Instructional scaffolding that allows newcomer ELs to learn grade-level content, especially when their English skills are below their grade level.
- Linking new content with students' prior knowledge.
- Dynamic expectations for engagement and expression that change as students learn English.
- Purposeful student groupings that vary and at times include students with similar or different English language/literacy skills.

Impact of ESL Instruction and Best Practices for Implementing Instructional Models and Supports

Research on the impact of ESL instruction is limited and generally focuses on how long it takes for students to become proficient in English for the purpose of moving students out of ESL services. The most noted study⁹ in this area examined data from four school districts, two in California and two in Canada. The authors found that it takes three to five years for EL students to become proficient in oral language and four to seven years to become proficient in academic language.

Additional data reviews found that the rate of English acquisition varied across students^{7, 22} and that students often did not achieve at expected rates.^{7, 8} Factors affecting how long it takes students to be reclassified as English proficient include demographic variables^{3, 6, 18, 19} (sex, grade level), priority group membership^{6, 19} (eligible for free/reduce-priced lunch, students with disabilities), amount of formal education in the primary language,¹¹ initial level of English proficiency,¹⁹ the student's primary language,¹⁸ and the ESL instructional model being used.^{19, 22} Further, limiting access to appropriate level of ESL services prematurely can have long-term detrimental impacts on student progress.¹¹

Despite limited research on the impact of ESL instruction, several recommendations of best practices for implementing ESL instructional models and support have been made. These include:

- Create integrated classes with non-EL and EL students learning together in a bilingual or dual language instruction model are ideal to support ELs in school.
- The use of strategic supports (e.g., multilanguage word walls, cognate charts, collaborative activities in reading and writing groups) in ELs' primary language(s) benefit ELs at all grade levels.
- Provide multiple opportunities for practice and review in different formats (e.g., class group assignments, class individual assignments, instructional conversations, homework assignments).
- Differentiate instruction for individual students to meet them at their level. ELs should not be considered a homogeneous group, even if they speak the same primary language.



- Provide ESL instruction that is culturally responsive and do not discourage the students' use of their primary language(s), especially when they are communicating with peers who share their primary language.
- Support the social-emotional needs of newcomer ELs with classroom and school strategies that create a welcoming environment, build rapport, emphasize strengths, and provide encouragement. Newcomer and immigrant students and their families face stressors that can include trauma experienced in their home country, resettlement, acculturation, and isolation.¹⁷

Improving ESL Parent Engagement and Participation at School

MSCS proposes to expand translation services and hire additional bi/multilingual personnel to assist with their communication with parents of EL students. Below are some best practices for successfully engaging parents.^{1, 2, 12}

- Communication should be two-way (i.e., can be initiated by either school staff or the parent) and should be formal, consistent, and reliable. If possible, communicate with parents in their home language.
- Avoid relying on students, relatives, or friends to translate between teachers and parents, especially if the information is sensitive or confidential.
- As with EL students, provide parents with a welcoming, culturally responsive environment in their interactions with the school and its staff.
- Offer information on resources that can help their student succeed (e.g., homework help, tutoring, study groups).
- Create an adult resource center at the school with information on the community and helpful community resources that EL, newcomer, or immigrant families might need.
- Create a family mentor program to help link new EL families with existing EL families in the community to assist new families with acclimating to the school environment.



- Breiseth, L., Robertson, K., & Lafond, S. (2011). A Guide for Engaging ELL Families: Twenty Strategies for School Leaders. ¡Colorín Colorado! Washington, DC. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.colorincolorado.org/sites/default/files/Engaging_ELL_Families_FINAL.pdf</u>
- 2. Community and Family Toolkit. (2018). TESOL International Association, Alexandria, VA. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.tesol.org/docs/default-source/advocacy/tesol-community-and-family-toolkit.pdf?sfvrsn=0</u>
- 3. Conger, D., Hatch, M., McKinney, J., Salas Atwell, M., Lamb. A. (no date). *Time to English proficiency for English language learners in New York City and Miami-Dade County*. Institute for Education and Social Policy. New York University. Retrieved from: https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED556750.pdf
- 4. English as a Second Language Program Guide. (2016). Office of Consolidated Planning and Monitoring. Tennessee Department of Education. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.tn.gov/content/dam/tn/education/special-</u> <u>education/eligibility/esl_english_as_a__second_language_program_guide.pdf</u>
- 5. English Language Program Benchmarking In-Depth Interview Analysis. (2017). A report by Hanover Research. Arlington, VA.
- Haas, E., Huang, M., Tran, L., Yu, A. (2015). The achievement progress of English learner students in Arizona. Regional Educational Laboratory West. Retrieved from: <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED559979.pdf</u>
- Haas, E., Huang, M., Tran, L., Yu, A. (2016). The achievement progress of English learner students in Nevada. Regional Educational Laboratory West. Retrieved from: <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED568355.pdf</u>
- Haas, E., Huang, M., Tran, L., Yu, A. (2016). The achievement progress of English learner students in Utah. Regional Educational Laboratory West. Retrieved from: <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED568356.pdf</u>
- 9. Hakuta, K., Butler, Y.G., & Witt, D. (2000). How long does it take English learners to attain proficiency? University of California Linguistic Minority Research Institute Policy Report 2000-1. Santa Barbara, CA: University of California-Santa Barbara. Retrieved from: <u>https://web.stanford.edu/~hakuta/Publications/(2000)%20-</u> %20HOW%20LONG%20DOES%20IT%20TAKE%20ENGLISH%20LEARNERS%20T0%20ATTAIN%20P R.pdf
- 10. Haynes, J. (2016). Pull-out vs push-in ESL programs in elementary schools. TESOL Blog. TESOL International Association. Retrieved from: <u>http://blog.tesol.org/pull-out-vs-push-in-esl-programs-in-elementary-schools/</u>
- 11. How Long does it Take English Learners to Acquire English? (2018). Our Blog. Lectura Books. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.lecturabooks.com/how-long-does-it-take-english-language-learners-to-acquire-english/</u>
- 12. Hughes, R., Reumann-Moore, R., Rowland, J., & Lin, J. (2016) Working Together to Support English Language Learners: School-Family-Community Engagement. Philadelphia Education Research Consortium Brief. Retrieved from: <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED571777.pdf</u>
- 13. Improving Outcomes for English Learners. (2020). A report by Hanover Research. Arlington, VA.
- 14. Interventions for Elementary English Learners. (2017). A report by Hanover Research. Arlington, VA.
- Mavrogordato, M., Callahan, R., DeMatthews, D., Izquierdo, E. (2021). Supports for Students Who are English Learners. EdResearch for Recovery, Brief No. 15. Retrieved from: <u>https://annenberg.brown.edu/sites/default/files/EdResearch_for_Recovery_Brief_15.pdf</u>
- 16. Program Models for Teaching English Language Learners (1993). ¡Colorín Colorado! Washington,DC. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.colorincolorado.org/article/program-models-teaching-english-language-learners</u>
- 17. Sattin-Bajaj, C., Boix-Mansilla, V., & Strom, A. (2020). Supports for Students in Immigrant Families. EdResearch for Recovery, Brief No. 9. Retrieed from: <u>https://annenberg.brown.edu/sites/default/files/EdResearch_for_Recovery_Brief_9.pdf</u>
- 18. Slama, R. B. (2014). Investigating whether and when English learners are reclassified into mainstream classrooms in the United States: A discrete-time survival analysis. *American Educational*



Research Journal. Retrieved from:

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.3102/0002831214528277

- 19. Slama, R., Brodziak de los Reyes, I., Molefe, A., August, D., Gerdeman, D., Cavazos, L., & Herrera, A. (2017). *Time to proficiency for Hispanic English Learner students in Texas*. Regional Educational Laboratory Southwest. Retrieved from: <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED577092.pdf</u>
- 20. Supporting English Learners in the COVID-19 Crisis. (2020). Council of Great City Schools. Retrieved from:

https://www.cgcs.org/cms/lib/DC00001581/Centricity/domain/35/publication%20docs/CGCS_EL L%20and%20COVID_web_v2.pdf

- 21. Supporting Newcomer ELLs in Middle School. (2019). A report by Hanover Research. Arlington, VA.
- 22. Umansky, I. M., & Reardon, S. F. (2014). Reclassification patterns among Latino English learner students in bilingual, dual immersion, and English immersion classrooms. *American Educational Research Journal*. Retrieved from: <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/stoken/rbtfl/xpuEp7WkeX43s/full</u>
- 23. Thompson, K. D. (2015). English learners' time to reclassification: An analysis. *Educational Psychology*. Retrieved from: <u>https://ir.library.oregonstate.edu/concern/parent/p5547t11s/file_sets/7m01bn50g</u>



Arts Expansion

April 2022 Author: Shelby G. Roberts, Ph.D.

Key Findings

- Successful expansion builds teacher capacity through professional development and networking with national arts organizations.
- Schools should partner with their local arts community and work to seek eternal funding to support their programs.
- Students from historically underrepresented groups often benefit the most from arts education programs.
- Other large K-12 Districts have seen positive student outcomes after expanding their arts programs.
- Students who participate in the arts gain socio-emotional benefits and are more engaged and connected with their school.

Arts Education

Arts education is curriculum and instruction designed to deepen students' creativity, expression, cultural awareness, strengthen their artistic ability, and foster an appreciation for the fine arts (including, but not limited to visual, performing, media, and music).¹ The American public is in favor of arts education in schools and 88% believe that it is an essential component of a well-rounded education.² Over the last three decades access to arts education has declined primarily as result of the focus on test-based accountability measures in schools.^{3, 4} Schools are now shifting to focus on this important area and some are already seeing the whole-student benefits of arts participation in their schools and communities.

Best Practices in Implementation Supporting Arts Educators

Teachers are the backbone of any educational program and their importance in sustained arts education cannot be minimized. Districts should focus on building capacity and continually developing their current roster of arts educators. Art teachers are often isolated in their school building as the sole arts provider at their location.⁵ Making sure that art teachers can engage with other art educators is essential and should not be limited to the district-network. Districts should facilitate professional development and networking and emphasize discipline specific national networks like the Institute for Teachers of Color and National Honor Society for Dance Arts.^{6, 7, 8}

Partnerships with the Local Arts Community

The local arts community can provide a rich source of knowledge and resources for arts educators and districts. "The most successful programs tend to take the form of a coalition that links cultural organizations and artists to local schools with oversight provided by a board that includes school and district officials, leaders of cultural institutions and



organizations, government officials, philanthropists, and researchers."⁹ Districts in Houston, Chicago, New Orleans, Boston, New York City, Seattle, Los Angeles, and Dallas all have thriving partnerships with their local arts community. The arts community can provide teaching-artists residencies, field trip locations, school arts events, afterschool programs, professional development, and grants.⁹

Alternative Funding

A primary constraint with any public educational program is securing funding. Arts have consistently seen cuts in funding over the last two decades. To make up for the lack of government funding many outside organizations have created grants to offset the costs for K-12 school. Utilizing different funding sources like ESSA's Assistance for Arts Education Program, NEA's Collective Impact Program in Arts Education, and other grant programs can help sustain expansion efforts. Successful programs in other districts have sought out alternative funding to meet the needs of their students.

Focus on Equity

Schools that primarily enroll students of color have disproportionally seen cuts in funding for the arts resulting in lower arts engagement for these students.¹⁰ These students along with other special populations though often see the most benefit from arts education programs. Adjudicated youth, students with disabilities, chronically absent students show more gains from arts programs than their peers.^{11, 12}

Other K-12 Districts

Very few districts collect arts education measures and there are not many rigorous methods or large data sets available for study.⁹ However, there are a handful of large districts who have made a concerted effort to expand their arts education programs and are already seeing the benefits of those programs.

Boston's Art Expansion Initiative

Boston Public Schools launched a large-scale arts expansion program from 2009–12. They sought to expand direct arts instruction, build district- and school-capacity, and strength partnerships with the community. From 2009 to 2014 BPS showed a 20% gain for elementary and middle grades students receiving year-long weekly arts education with almost 90% of students enrolled each year.¹³ As a result they saw gains in attendance, engagement, and test scores.

Arts Connect Houston

Houston Independent School District works with Arts Connect to ensure "that every student, in every school has equitable access to a well-rounded education that includes the arts."¹⁴ Their partnership helps prepare students for college and careers and supports students social-emotional learning through the arts. A recent study revealed that Houston ISD students who received arts education 1) achieved higher writing scores, 2) received fewer disciplinary infractions, 3) showed more empathy, 4) had higher engagement, and 5) aspired more for college.¹⁵



Chicago Arts Partnerships in Education

Chicago's Arts Partnerships in Education (CAPE) allows one teacher and one teaching artists to collaborate to develop arts integrated curriculum for students. These partnerships allow for integration of "music, visual arts, dance, digital media, and drama into their academic lessons in order to improve academic and social-emotional outcomes such as creativity, critical thinking, problem solving and collaboration skills."¹⁶ CAPE's partnership with local educational researchers has allowed their district to conduct rigorous studies that show that academic benefits for their students and even greater gains for their economically disadvantaged populations.¹⁷

Outcomes

Numerous student outcomes are evident when children patriciate in the arts. In research, the outcomes studied are normally the arts' impact on social-emotional learning (SEL), processing ability, art learning and engagement, school engagement, and academic achievement. Generally, arts education across the board shows positive student outcomes in all these areas.¹ Students are not the only ones who benefit from arts education though, adults and their communities see many positive benefits as well.¹⁸

Student Outcomes

<u>SEL</u>

"Exposure to arts opportunities allows students and teachers to engage with one another in a way that often stands in contrast to how they engage with each other in the context of regular academic instruction and that provides rich opportunities for social-emotional learning."¹⁹

- The arts support the development of:
 - Self-awareness²⁰
 - Self-management²⁰
 - Social/cultural awareness²⁰
 - Relationship skills²⁰
 - Self-concept²¹
 - Decision making²⁰
 - Emotional competence²²

<u>Academic</u>

Research has produced mixed results when it comes to the impact of art on academic outcomes.

- Music education, specifically music composition courses, can improve arithmetic skills.²³
- A meta-analysis on classroom drama found positive outcomes for story understanding, writing, reading readiness and achievement, and oral language development.²⁴
- One meta-analysis did not find significant casual relationships between arts education and wider academic outcomes.²⁵



Engagement

- Boston public schools found significant, consistent, positive effects on attendance. Students' attendance increased by 1/3 of a day and a full day for chronically absent students taking art courses compared to other students after all other influences were controlled.²⁶
- A review of the ADD Health data set found that for each year enrolled in art, there was a 20% reduction in the likelihood of suspension.¹⁸
- Students who participate in the arts are less likely to engage in delinquent behavior or use drugs and alcohol.¹⁸
- Students also report high level of interest in taking more art during school and having access to a variety of art forms such as dance, theater, visual arts.²⁶

Community Outcomes

"Arts education can also lead to socially empowered and civically engaged youth and adults."²⁷

Research has found that later as adults, students who participated in arts in schools were more likely to have earned a college degree and that for each additional year of arts coursework, their odds increased by 12%.¹⁸ Adults with art experience were generally more optimistic than non-arts peers. Adults with art experiences as youth are less likely to engage with illegal substances (i.e., drugs) and less likely to be involved with the criminal justice system as adults.¹⁸

Conclusion

Overall, arts education can benefit students not just academically, but as a whole person. Developing creativity, connecting and understanding other cultures, problem-solving, and increased attendance and engagement all stem from students engaging with the art in schools. While funding is often a challenge, collaborations with the local arts community, focusing on equity, and building teacher capacity can make expanding the arts possible. Other large districts have created successful arts expansion programs and can provide robust examples of what works and help avoid areas of challenge.



- 1. Wan, Y., Ludwig, M. J. & Boyle, A. (2018). Review of Evidence: Arts Education Through the Lens of ESSA. Link
- Cohen, R. (March, 2016). The American Public Says YES to Arts Education! Published by ArtsBlog. Retrieved from <u>https://blog.americansforthearts.org/2019/05/15/the-american-public-says-yes-to-arts-education</u>
- Rabkin, N., & Hedberg, E. C. (2011). Arts Education in America: What the Declines Mean for Arts Participation. Based on the 2008 Survey of Public Participation in the Arts. Research Report# 52. National Endowment for the Arts. <u>Link</u>
- 4. Government Accountability Office. (Feb., 2009). Access to Arts Education: Inclusion of Additional Questions in Education's Planned Research Would Help Explain Why Instruction Time Has Decreased for Some Students. (GAO: GAO-09-286).
- 5. American Academy of Arts & Sciences. (2021). Art for Life's Sake: The Case for Arts Education. Cambridge, Mass. Link
- 6. Chen, F., Lui, A. M., Andrade, H., Valle, C., & Mir, H. (2017). Criteria-referenced formative assessment in the arts. Educational Assessment, Evaluation and Accountability, 29, 297–314.
- 7. Horowitz, R. (2016). District 75, New York City Department of Education Everyday Arts for Special Education impact evaluation. New York, NY: U.S. Department of Education, Office of Innovation and Improvement.
- Mastrorilli, T. M., Harnett, S., & Zhu, J. (2014). Arts Achieve, impacting student success in the arts: Preliminary findings after one year of implementation. Journal for Learning through the Arts, 10(1), 1–24.
- 9. Bowen, D. H. & Kisida, B. (2017). The art of partnerships: Community resources for arts education. Link
- 10. Rabkin, N. & Hedberg, E.C. (2011). Arts education in America: What the declines mean for arts participation. Based on the 2008 Survey of Public Participation in the Arts. Research Report #52. Washington, DC: National Endowment for the Arts.
- 11. Abedin, G. (2010). Exploring the Potential of Art-Based Education for Adolescents with Learning Disabilities: A Case Study of Engagement in Learning Through the Arts (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from

https://drum.lib.umd.edu/bitstream/handle/1903/10505/Abedin_umd_0117E_11421.pdf

- 12. Rapp-Paglicci, L., Stewart, C., & Rowe, W. (2012). Improving outcomes for at-risk youth: Findings from the Prodigy Cultural Arts Program. *Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work*, 9(5), 512–523.
- 13. Wolf, D. P., & Holochwost, S. (ND). Students Speak: The Arts Advantage from the Youth Perspective. Link
- 14. Arts Connect Houston. (2019). 2018-2019 Annual Report. Link
- 15. Bowen, D. H., & Kisida, B. (2019). Investigating Causal Effects of Arts Education Experiences: Experimental Evidence from Houston's Arts Access Initiative, Research Report for the Houston Independent School District 7, no.4.
- 16. CAPE. (2022). Arts Integration. Retrieved from https://capechicago.org/arts-integration/
- 17. Scripp, L. (2018). CAPE's PAIR Project: Closing the Achievement Gap. Retrieved from https://youtu.be/HvII2WIIj14
- 18. Elpus, K. (2013). Arts education and positive youth development: Cognitive, behavioral, and social outcomes of adolescents who study the arts. *National Endowment for the Arts*, 1-56. <u>Link</u>
- 19. Ingenuity. (2019). Arts Education & SEL: Developing a Theory of Action. Link
- Eddy, M., Blatt-Gross, C., Edgar, S. N., Gohr, A., Halverson, E., Humphreys, K., & Smolin, L. (2020). Local-level implementation of Social Emotional Learning in arts education: moving the heart through the arts, *Arts Education Policy Review*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10632913.2020.1788681</u>
- 21. DeBettignies, B. H., & Goldstein, T. R. (2020). Improvisational theater classes improve self-concept. *Psychology of Aesthetics, Creativity, and the Arts,* 14(4), 451.
- 22. Qiao, S., Tapalova, O., Nasyrova, L., Tarasova, I., & Kozlovskaya, D. (2021). Role of art programs in young children's social-emotional learning. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, *41*, 100858. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2021.100858</u>



- 23. Bugos, J., & Jacobs, E. (2012). Composition Instruction and Cognitive Performance: Results of a Pilot Study. *Research and Issues in Music Education*, 10(1). <u>Link</u>
- 24. Podlozny, A. (2000). Strengthening verbal skills through the use of classroom drama: A clear link. Journal of Aesthetic education, 34(3/4), 239-275
- 25. See, B. H., & Kokotsaki, D. (2015). Impact of arts education on the cognitive and non-cognitive outcomes of school-aged children. A review of evidence.
- 26. Bowen, D. H., & Kisida, B. (2021). The arts advantage: Impacts of arts education on Boston students. EdVestors. Link
- 27. American Academy of Arts & Sciences. (2021). Art for Life's Sake: The Case for Arts Education. Cambridge, Mass. https://www.amacad.org/sites/default/files/publication/downloads/2021-Artsfor-Lifes-Sake.pdf



Online Learning and Virtual Schools

April 2022 Author: Hannah Pallotta

Strategy

Memphis-Shelby County Schools (MSCS) received Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief (ESSER) funds which aim to address the ongoing impacts that the Covid-19 pandemic has on K-12 education. A portion was allocated to online learning and virtual schooling. MSCS wants to increase the number of enrollments in advanced online coursework for courses not physically offered at the schools in which students attend; this is intended for small population of students in grades 4-12. This will help expand student access to a diverse selection of course offerings, allowing students to learn at their own pace and earn Early Postsecondary Opportunities (EPSOs) that are needed for graduation.

Key Findings

- Students who do well in online learning are motivated and self-regulate
- Teachers can help students self-evaluate by using the Formative Feedback Loop
- Established standards and goals and open communication are key to successful online learning spaces

Learning Online—Successful Student Learners

Students who are successful in online learning often:

- Are motivated and self-regulate.
 - "Self-regulated learning refers to the process by which students set learning goals and monitor the cognitive strategies, emotional strategies, and specific actions they use to achieve goals."¹
 - Students use the following self-regulation strategies:
 - Set goals
 - Make plans to achieve said goals
 - Self-evaluate
 - Give self-consequences
 - Keep records/Monitor progress
 - Seek information and assistance²
- Have the following characteristics: good time management, effective communication, independent study habits, self-motivation, academic readiness, and technological preparedness.³
- Have foundational academic and technological skills.³
- Are older students.
 - Student demographics do not determine if a student is successful in an online space, but older students often outperform younger students.³
- Actively engage in online activities and discussions.



"Research also finds positive effects of self-evaluation in online learning environments...Students who participate in self-reflection activities earn higher final course grades, although the strength of this association decreases at higher grade levels."¹

Best Practices for Teaching Online⁴

- Create teaching presence early in the course by showing your personality, posting announcements, appear on video; continue throughout the course.
- Provide clear expectations with a detailed syllabus, due dates, and assignment directions.
- Provide timely feedback.
- Give students opportunities to interact with other students, with discussions or group work.
- Make real world connections to show students how they would apply what they are learning.
- Help students navigate the online course space by setting expectations around participation and netiquette and by providing technical support or information when needed.

Teachers can help students in both of areas (self-regulation and motivation) by:

- Ensuring peer collaboration and supports by building community in the digital classroom
 - $\circ~$ Encourage students to work together and provide clear expectations for group work
 - \circ $\;$ Create opportunities for students to talk with the instructor and one another $\;$
- Encouraging emotional self-regulation
 - Use and teach students to use reflective questions to identify emotions and ways to respond to those emotions
- Connecting instruction to students' interests
- Regularly checking in with students on their progress and grades and reminding, praising, and encouraging students to stay the course when necessary
- "The American Psychological Association recommends that teachers provide student with an age-appropriate degree of choice in learning activities to support motivation and develop self-regulation skills. Research finds that choice in learning activities develops intrinsic motivation and self-efficacy in students across grade levels." ²

Teachers can support self-assessment in students by using the "Formative Feedback Loop"¹:

- Developing success criteria with students
- Modeling how the criteria will be applied to work
- Letting students apply criteria to their own work
- Discussing with students how well they are assessing their own learning
- Helping students use feedback to develop individual learning goals and clarifying next steps in their learning¹



- 1. Strategies for Students to Self-Evaluate Virtual Learning. (2021). Hanover Research. Retrieved April 5, 2022.
- 2. Self-Regulation for Online Learning. (2020). Hanover Research. Retrieved April 5, 2022.
- 3. Profile of a Successful Online Student. (2021). Hanover Research. Retrieved April 5, 2022.
- 4. Online Learning Platforms' Impact on Student Achievement. (2020). Hanover Research. Retrieved April 5, 2022.


College Readiness/ACT Preparation

April 2022 Author: Ashton Toone

Key Findings

- Students benefit both academically and socially from the experience of having a peer mentor.
- Peer mentoring has been proven to be positively associated with positive academic gains.
- Overall, research suggests that pretest intervention is associated with an increase in standardized testing scores.

Peer Power Program Overview

Peer Power is a non-profit organization that employs high-performing college students to serve as tutors and mentors to high school students in public schools. These college students are known as success coaches that work in classroom settings. Peer Power is currently situated in the following schools in Memphis-Shelby County Schools: Central High School, Cordova High School, Douglass High School, East High School, Hamilton High School, Kingsbury High School, Melrose High School, Ridgeway High School, and Whitehaven High School. Peer Power has two focuses with MSCS students. One focus is offering ACT prep courses for high school students at participating schools, and the other is providing general mentoring and assistance to students.

Peer Learning

Peer Power relies on the process of peer learning through the lens of a near-peer intervention model. Peer learning has been proven to be successful in increasing students' academic gains. It provides an opportunity for students to learn from each other and take an active role in their learning experience.⁴ There are three main types of peer tutoring: (1) Reciprocal Peer Tutoring (RPT), (2) Class-Wide Peer Tutoring (CWPT), and (3) Cross-Age Peer Tutoring. (Ali et al., 2015).

- Reciprocal Peer Tutoring: peers learn from each other by alternating between tutor and learner roles
- Class-wide peer tutoring: whole class is broken down into small groups and groups learn from each other
- Cross-Age peer tutoring: elder students with more academic experience tutor younger students

Peer Power primarily employs the Cross-Age Peer Tutoring approach using the Near-Peer mentor model. Near-peer mentoring occurs when a mentor is close to the social, professional or age level of the mentee.⁷

Ali and colleagues noted that there are several benefits of peer tutoring such as students are empowered to be active participants in their learning, additional individualized time



spent on classroom content, and the development of interpersonal skills among both tutors and learners.² Those same benefits appear in the near-peer mentoring model.

Test Preparation

A primary component of the Peer Power program is ACT Prep University where students receive preparation and coaching for the ACT test. Previously, the effects of test preparation on students' test scores showed mixed results and moderate positive effects.⁵ A 2015 study examined the relationship between SAT score gains and factors of test preparation sessions.³ They found that time spent on individual tutoring was positively associated with an increase in the total SAT score - each hour spent on tutoring increased the final SAT score by 2.34 points. They also found that the time spent preparing was positively associated with score gains.

There was a similar trend found in research done on the ACT test. Schiel and Valiga found that students who prepared for and took the ACT for a second time gained an average of 1.4 points on their composite score.⁶ Additionally, ACT found that longer-term interventions such as consistent coursework were associated with increases of 2.5 to 5.8 points in ACT Composite score.¹ Moore, Sanchez, and San Pedro also found that test preparation was equally effective for students of multiple marginalized identities (i.e., sex, race, household income).⁵

There is additional evidence that suggests that intervention in the form of a test preparation course could result in positive general academic achievement gains. What Works Clearinghouse found a statistically significant positive effects on students' general academic achievement after participating in test preparation courses, citing three studies that compared students who received treatment versus students who did not prior to taking or re-taking a standardized test.⁸

Conclusion

Overall, students can benefit from any type of standardized testing intervention. Not only could the intervention improve composite scores, but it can also contribute to greater classroom academic gains. Additionally, the individualized peer tutoring and mentoring that Peer Power provides can be invaluable to students as they are preparing for the ACT and post-secondary opportunities as it combines both academic and social reinforcements.



- 1. ACT. (2005). Issues in college readiness: What kind of test preparation is best? Iowa City, IA: ACT.
- 2. Ali, N., Anwer, M., & Jaffar, A. (2015). Impact of Peer Tutoring on Learning of Students. *Journal for Studies in Management and Planning*, 1(2), 61–66.
- 3. Appelrouth, J. I., Zabrucky, K. M., & Moore, D. (2015). Preparing students for college admissions tests. Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice, 24(1), 78–95.
- 4. Johnson, D. W., Johnson, R. T., & Holubec, E. J. (1994). The new circles of learning: Cooperation in the classroom and school. *ASCD*.
- 5. Moore, R., Sanchez, E., & San Pedro, M. O. (2018). Investigating Test Prep Impact on Score Gains Using Quasi-Experimental Propensity Score Matching. ACT Working Paper 2018-6.
- 6. Schiel, J., & Valiga, M. (2014). How the amount of time spent on test preparation relates to ACT scores. Iowa City, IA: ACT.
- 7. Singh S. (2010). Near peer role modeling: the fledgling scholars' education paradigm. *Anatomical Sciences Education*, 3, 50–51.
- 8. U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, What Works Clearinghouse. (2016, October). *Transition to College intervention report: ACT/SAT Test Preparation and Coaching Programs.*



AP Course Expansion

May 2021 Author: Anne Walton Garrison

Strategy

Launch AP Academy, a centralized virtual delivery method for Advanced Placement (AP) courses so that students at schools with few or no onsite AP offerings can have access to AP courses.

Key Findings

- Despite AP's dramatic expansion since its inception and despite ongoing efforts to increase AP participation among disadvantaged groups, racial/ethnic and economic participation gaps persist. Intentional expansion of AP offerings in schools that serve disadvantaged populations has not brought about equitable AP participation, as privileged groups have used their resources and status to increase their own AP access and participation, thus maintaining their competitive advantage in college preparation and admissions.
- Most research on AP effectiveness is fatally flawed, in that it cannot establish whether differences in outcomes between AP and non-AP participants are program effects or selection effects. However, one well-designed study indicated a causal link between learning enough in an AP course to pass the AP exam and subsequently scoring higher on the ACT. Merely taking an AP course, however, showed no benefit for ACT performance.
- Two large-scale studies comparing the effectiveness of online versus in-person AP participation yielded opposite results, with one showing that online participants outperformed in-person participants, and the other showing the reverse. The former study contained no control variables, however, while the latter controlled for demographics and prior achievement. (Neither study was designed to establish causation.)

Introduction

The College Board's AP program has an established reputation for academic rigor, and AP participation in high school can work to students' advantage in college admissions and scholarship decisions and can even count for college credit. Given these factors, educators, education scholars, policymakers, and the College Board itself have turned their attention to democratizing AP access and expanding AP participation to underrepresented groups as a means to bridge persistent racial/ethnic and economic achievement gaps and to increase college readiness, college enrollment, and college persistence among historically marginalized populations.

A school's ability to offer AP coursework depends on a variety of factors. Small schools in particular struggle to offer AP courses, because the student population may not be big enough to support multiple levels of coursework in the same subject within a given grade level (e.g., regular, honors, and AP English). Beyond school size, other factors include having



enough teachers trained to teach AP courses and having enough students interested in taking them.

Technology has introduced a way around these dilemmas, enabling students to take AP courses online regardless of whether their school has both the staff and student body to make offering a given AP course onsite feasible. The development of online instruction has opened up the landscape of AP coursework to populations that have not traditionally had access to it. From rural schools to understaffed/underfunded urban schools to small schools of any stripe, expanded access to AP can now be achieved without juggling limited resources and making difficult tradeoffs. As policymakers seek to increase AP equity through online course offerings, it would be helpful to consider studies examining the effectiveness of this strategy.

Overview of the Literature

Unfortunately, the scholarly literature does not contain many high-quality, independent studies focused specifically on the effectiveness of and/or best practices for broad-access online AP courses. For the most part, the literature pertinent to this topic requires surveying scholarship from three areas of inquiry: effectiveness of the AP program, effectiveness of online instruction, and access to AP courses. Some studies may bridge two of the three subject areas, but studies considering all three in tandem are scant. Thus, this literature review considers studies from all three areas, with priority given to studies that treat at least two of the three topics together.

Tension Between AP Access and Effectiveness

In a recent review¹ of the AP literature entitled "Advanced Placement: The Dual Challenge of Equal Access and Effectiveness" Kolluri (2018) explored the tension between the somewhat competing goals of expanding AP access and maintaining AP's academic rigor. The author noted that while AP was once the province of elite students at elite schools, participation in AP has grown steadily since its inception. However, the rise in AP participation has been accompanied by a decline in AP exam scores and a weakening of the association between AP participation and success outcomes, leading many scholars to conclude that many students now taking AP are underprepared, and as such, they are not set up to benefit from the instruction.

Kolluri pointed out, however, that of the many quantitative studies included in his literature review, only one² employed a quasi-experimental design; the rest were correlational and thus could not establish causation. The extant studies on AP effectiveness thus may not have successfully ruled out the influence of student-level and school-level characteristics that affect both AP participation and outcomes such as AP exam performance and college success.

Indeed, the methodological shortcomings of research on AP effectiveness was a focal point in another review of the literature³ published around the same time. Warne (2017) noted that earlier studies simply compared AP students to non-AP students while controlling for few or no confounding variables. Later studies have tended to control for many more student-



and school-level variables that would affect both AP participation and outcomes, resulting in much weaker associations than had been found in the studies that lacked such controls.

Warne also pointed out that merely controlling for confounding variables does not indicate a causal impact of AP on college success or other desired outcomes, noting that only a randomized control trial could do so conclusively, and that none had ever been implemented for the AP program. Thus, the question remains as to whether the somewhat better college outcomes observed among AP participants is attributable to their AP experience or to other factors such as economic, social, and cultural capital; school quality; or academic preparedness unrelated to AP coursework (to name a few).

That said, one strong quasi-experimental study⁴ examined AP's impact on ACT scores using propensity score analysis with marginal mean weighting to match four groups of students (non-AP students, AP exam nonparticipants, AP exam non-passers, and AP exam passers) on a wide variety of demographic and academic variables. The study found little benefit to merely enrolling in an AP course. However, students who took and passed the AP exam did obtain higher ACT scores than their rigorously matched counterparts, suggesting a causal link between learning enough in an AP course to pass the AP exam and subsequently scoring higher on the ACT.

Moving back to the issue of expanding access to AP, Kolluri's (2018) literature review emphasized that racial, ethnic, and class inequities in AP access and participation still persist, despite the massive growth in AP that has taken place over the decades. Underscoring this point, a large-scale study⁵ of AP participation in California found that as the state attempted to expand AP access,

California's intervention resulted in increased AP subject offerings and enrollments in high schools serving disadvantaged and less advantaged students, but these reductions in deprivation had trivial effects on inequalities, since schools serving advantaged students increased their own AP offerings and enrollments. In addition, high schools serving White and Asian students had larger increases in AP offerings and enrollments than high schools serving Black and Hispanic students (p. 1).

In a similar vein, Schneider (2009) compiled a history of AP access and participation⁶ that highlighted the "difficulty of combating inequality with school reform, particularly in light of continuing moves by privileged groups to gain a measure of distinction" (p. 813). A subsequent study⁷ demonstrated this phenomenon, finding that high schools' programmatic and non-programmatic resources influenced college outcomes and mediated the effect of socioeconomic status on college choices. The author concluded that:

... the fragmented secondary school system in the United States is an avenue for affluent parents to seek relative advantages for their children in terms of reportable marks of distinction (namely AP course-taking and high SAT scores) and also in terms of social influences that lead to successful applications to selective colleges.



Inequalities between schools substantially explain inequalities in college destinations based on family socioeconomic status (p. 803).

A study examining unfulfilled AP potential⁸ found that most students demonstrating AP potential did not fulfill it, and this was especially the case for students of color and economically disadvantaged students. Moreover, the study "did not find support for many of the student-centered reasons for forgoing AP, such as lack of motivation and constraints on time due to work or extra-curricular activities" (p. 1).

Another study9 examined Black-White gaps in AP participation within racially diverse schools and "found that an additional AP course increased the Black-White AP gap in schools by 1.1 percentage points, net of other variables" (p. 642), indicating that expanding AP course offerings alone does not bring about equitable AP participation.

While access to AP has expanded dramatically over the years, the above overview underscores how persistent AP participation gaps can be, even in response to policies specifically designed to close them. Will the expansion of online AP programs help move the needle in ways that other policies have not?

Online AP Programs

New York state's Virtual Advanced Placement (VAP) program aimed "to increase access to AP courses for students who would have otherwise been underrepresented in AP programs" (p. 40)¹⁰. An evaluation¹⁰ of the program found that the percentage of Black students in VAP was very similar to the percentage of Black students in the state, but the proportion of Latinx students in VAP lagged their proportion within the state population. Economically disadvantaged students, English language learners, and students with disabilities all had much lower VAP participation than their respective proportions within the state would indicate. Thus, while the VAP program helped Black students reach parity, it did not do the same for other marginalized groups.

A case-study evaluation¹¹ of an online pilot program designed to expand AP opportunities at a large urban high school in Ohio revealed an attrition rate of nearly 62%. The evaluator cited the following as being detrimental to the program: insufficient time to plan the pilot rollout; lack of support for students; and poor communication among the virtual vendor representatives, the virtual teacher, the program administrator, the program mentor, and the participating students.

As to the effectiveness of large-scale efforts to expand AP access via online course offerings, a survey of the literature yielded two studies that compared outcomes for students in the online program to those receiving in-person AP instruction. One of these studies¹² looked at Florida Virtual School (FVS), comparing FVS students' AP exam performance to that of non-FVS students (i.e., to students in site-based AP courses). The FVS students outperformed the non-FVS students, but given that no control variables were employed, one cannot conclude that the differences were program effects rather than selection effects.



The other study¹³ considered AP courses offered through Virginia Virtual (VVA). Here is a summary of the findings:

After controlling for demographic and prior achievement differences, students in face-to-face courses were more likely to score higher and demonstrate proficiency on SOL [state-administered achievement tests] and AP exams than students taking the same courses through VVA across most subject areas. Because the study design was correlational, additional research is needed to determine whether the difference in performance is due to the characteristics of the students in online courses, aspects of the VVA program itself, or some other factor such as students' reasons for enrolling in the course or the supports available in their local schools (p. 1).

As for research focusing on the implementation of online AP, one study¹⁴ examined the role of the facilitator in the teacher-facilitator model of online instruction. In this model, an online teacher delivers instruction virtually while a facilitator is onsite to help troubleshoot technical problems, proctor exams, monitor student progress, and provide a supportive learning environment for students. One emergent theme from this qualitative study was the perception among facilitators that teacher-student interactions could be improved. Another theme was the inadvertent overlap that can develop between the roles of the online AP teacher and the onsite facilitator, such that facilitators sometimes find themselves delivering direct AP instruction, which is beyond their purview and their training.

Another qualitative study¹⁵ probed teachers' and students' perceptions about online interactions within a statewide Virtual Advanced Placement program. The study found that while teachers had a generally positive appraisal of the online interactions within their courses, students' perceptions were more mixed.



- **1.** Kolluri, S. (2018). Advanced Placement: The dual challenge of equal access and effectiveness. *Review of Educational Research*, 88(5), 671–711.
- 2. Parker, W., Mosborg, S., Bransford, J., Vye, N., Wilkerson, J., & Abbott, R. (2011). Rethinking advanced high school coursework: Tackling the depth/breadth tension in the AP U.S. government and politics course. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 43, 533–559.
- 3. Warne, R. T. (2017). Research on the academic benefits of the Advanced Placement program: Taking stock and looking forward. *SAGE Open*, 7(1), 2158244016682996.
- 4. Warne, R. T., Larsen, R., Anderson, B., & Odasso, A. J. (2015). The impact of participation in the Advanced Placement program on students' college admissions test scores. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 108(5), 400–416.
- 5. Klugman, J. (2013). The Advanced Placement arms race and the reproduction of educational inequality. *Teachers College Record*, 115(5), 1–34.
- 6. Schneider, J. (2009). Privilege, equity, and the Advanced Placement program: Tug of war. *Journal of Curriculum Studies, 41*(6), 813–831.
- 7. Klugman, J. (2012). How resource inequalities among high schools reproduce class advantages in college destinations. *Research in Higher Education*, 53(8), 803–830.
- 8. Rodriguez, A., & Hernandez-Hamed, E. (2020). Understanding unfulfilled AP potential across the participation pipeline by race and income. *Teachers College Record*, 122(9).
- 9. Rodriguez, A., & McGuire, K. M. (2019). More classes, more access? Understanding the effects of course offerings on Black-White gaps in Advanced Placement course-taking. *The Review of Higher Education*, 42(2), 641–679.
- 10. Fenty, N. S., & Allio, A. (2017). Using distance learning to impact access of diverse learners to Advanced Placement programs. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 18(2).
- **11**. Beese, J. (2014). Expanding learning opportunities for high school students with distance learning. *American Journal of Distance Education*, *28*(4), 292–306.
- 12. Johnston, S., & Barbour, M. K. (2013). Measuring success: Examining achievement and perceptions of online advanced placement students. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 27(1), 16–28.
- 13. Mislevy, J., Schmidt, R., Puma, M., Ezekoye, A., & Saucedo, D. (2020). Comparing the achievement of students in Virtual Virginia and face-to-face courses. SRI International.
- 14. Hendrix, N., & Degner, K. (2016). Supporting online AP students: The rural facilitator and considerations for training. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 30(3), 133–144.
- 15. Blaine, A. M. (2019). Interaction and presence in the virtual classroom: An analysis of the perceptions of students and teachers in online and blended Advanced Placement courses. *Computers & Education, 132, 31–43.*



AgriSTEM Program Expansion

April 2022 Author: Ashton Toone

Strategy

Memphis-Shelby County Schools will expand its Agriculture Program in an effort to enhance student preparedness for and access to post-secondary opportunities and improve the culture and climate of schools.

Key Findings

- Students who participate in Career and Technical Education (CTE) courses graduate high school and enter postsecondary programs or careers at higher rates than their peers.
- CTE programs within a school rather than a CTE-only school are more cost efficient for school districts.
- Research suggests that participation in CTE programs is associated with higher wages for students and an increased motivation to attend school.

Career and Technical Education Overview

In the state of Tennessee, career and technical education (CTE) is defined as the rigorous academic, technical, and employability skills or content that is taught through careerfocused standards and courses designed to prepare learners for advanced education, training and employment in aligned occupations (TDOE, 2020). CTE is organized into the following major industry sectors: advanced manufacturing; agriculture, food, and natural architecture and construction; resources; arts. audio/visual technology, and communications; business management and administration; education and training; finance; government and public administration; health science; hospitality and tourism; human services; information technology; law, public safety, corrections, and security; marketing, distribution and logistics; STEM (science, technology, engineering, and mathematics); and transportation (TDOE, 2020). The skills acquired in CTE programs are intended to prepare students to enter postsecondary or career environments.

According to a study done by the Tennessee Higher Education Commission (2020), 42% of PK-12 students in Tennessee concentrate in a career and technical education program of study, and 72% of Tennessee students in CTE programs enrolled in advanced training or entered the workforce after graduation. In 2018, the Tennessee Department of Education reported that Agriculture, Food, & Natural Resources was the third most popular industry that students sought a concentration in.

Benefits of Career and Technical Education

There are many challenges that may arise in CTE expansion, but operating costs is one of the primary barriers to the success of CTE programs. CTE education often requires specialized equipment, facilities, and materials in order to operate at its optimal level. Additional barriers may include hiring adequately trained staff to lead agricultural programs



of study. However, research suggests that having a CTE-focused school, rather than a CTE only school proves to be more cost efficient to the district and beneficial for students. Not only could CTE programs solve potential enrollment issues (i.e., under enrollment and overcrowding), but CTE can provide labor for the local workforce which would in turn strengthen the local economy (EAB, 2017).

CTE courses are also often structured as small learning communities which can prepare students for postsecondary programs and early career opportunities (EAB, 2019). While there is not much experimental and long-term data on students who participate in CTE programs, CTE program participation has been associated with higher wages for students in postsecondary and career and higher motivations to attend school more frequently (Kreisman & Stange, 2017). The U.S. Department of Education found that high school students who participated in CTE programs graduated high school at slightly higher rates than their peers and entered postsecondary programs at slightly higher rates than their peers (USDOE, 2017).

Agriculture CTE Programs

Agriculture-focused CTE programs, also known as school-based agricultural education (SBAEs), largely focus on topics of agriscience and agribusiness, but program pathways can vary from power and structural systems to veterinary science. Instruction in the agriculture pathway is comprised of three main components: (1) classroom/laboratory instruction, (2) supervised agricultural experience programs, and (3) student leadership through Future Farmers of America (FFA). In Tennessee, the following programs of study within agriculture are available:

- Agribusiness
- Agriculture, Engineering, Industrial, and Mechanical Systems
- Environmental and Natural Resource Management
- Food Science
- Horticulture Science
- Veterinary and Animal Science

Students are also able to receive credentials in both animal science and horticulture science.

Conclusion

Though the longitudinal effects of CTE are still being explored, data does suggest that participating in any CTE pathway can be beneficial to the student. And because the agricultural program is only being expanded in one school, challenges associated with staffing and budget are less likely to impact the success of the pathway's implementation.



- 1. Agriculture, Food, & Natural Resources. Tennessee State Government TN.gov. (2021). Retrieved April 21, 2022, from <u>https://www.tn.gov/education/career-and-technical-education/career-clusters/cte-cluster-agriculture-food-natural-resources.html</u>
- 2. Education Advisory Board. (2017). Career and Technical Education-Focused High Schools. Retrieved from https://eab.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Career-and-Technical-Education-Focused-High-Schools_032018.pdf
- 3. Education Advisory Board. (2019). *Establishing Career Academies*. Retrieved from <u>https://eab.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Establishing-Career-Academies_EAB.pdf</u>
- Kreisman, D., & Stange, K. (2017). Vocational and Career Tech Education in American High Schools: The Value of Depth Over Breadth. Retrieved from <u>https://aysps.gsu.edu/files/2017/10/17-12-Kreisman-VocationalTech.pdf</u>
- Strengthening Career and Technical Education in Tennessee. Tennessee State Government TN.gov. (2020). Retrieved April 21, 2022, from <u>https://www.tn.gov/content/dam/tn/education/ccte/TN_2020_State_Plan.pdf</u>



College, Career, & Technical Education: Coding

April 2022 Author: Patrick L. Shipp, Ph.D.

Strategy

Launch **Coding**, a language that programmers use to create video games, apps, websites and computer software, so that students have access to post-secondary opportunities and improve the culture and climate of schools.

Key Findings

- Since school districts and policymakers have embraced the idea that coding(computing) should be for everyone, coding education has been integrated into the educational system for students at a very early age.
- Coding provides students with the necessary skills to thrive in today's fast changing technological world as well as with other 21st century skills (problem-solving, collaboration, risk-taking, creativity, communications, computational fluency) that can lead to a career.
- Coding becomes more motivating and meaningful for students when they have opportunities to create their own projects and express their own ideas.
- Scratch and Python are the two most popular coding languages.

Introduction

Considered to be a 21st century skill, coding enhances problem solving, critical thinking, communication, collaboration, computational thinking, and innovative thinking skills.^{2, 10, 16, 18, 19} Coding offers a competitive advantage in the workplace and requires important technical skills.¹⁶ According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics, computing jobs are growing by over 20% every year, and there are roughly 1 million more computer-related jobs than people to fill them.¹ Fulfilling demand in this technology intensive field requires significantly expanding and broadening the trained computing workforce. Consequently, school systems and policymakers are now embracing the idea that computer science should be offered to everyone and should be regarded as a mainstream discipline.^{20, 22}

Coding Languages for K-12 Schools

Scratch and Python are two of the most popular coding languages in many curricula.⁷

Scratch

A growing number of schools around the world use Scratch, a free program, as a gateway to coding. Scratch is one of the new programming languages that has the advantage of eliminating complex syntax language. An age appropriate programming language, Scratch allows children to personalize the programs they create using the interface with music, colors, or stories. Scratch coding has been successfully utilized in subjects including mathematics, science, and arts.¹⁵ Currently, Scratch is being offered to students within MSCS.



Python

While being one of the most popular languages for developers, Python is easy to read and makes a great programming language for beginners as well. Students learn coding fundamentals to give them a solid foundation for learning additional programming languages. A benefit for students is that Python can be used during their professional career.¹⁴ Currently, Python is not being offered as a course to students within MSCS.

Best Practices, Barriers, and Lessons Learned in Curriculum Implementation in K-12¹⁴ Introduce Computer Science Early

In elementary classes, students learn computing concepts and develop problem-solving abilities through practical activities involving art, languages, mathematics, science, and social studies. Younger students develop computational reasoning skills by resolving puzzles, sorting and organizing data, using virtual media to build and illustrate stories, plus developing games using drag-and-drop coding tools while learners in the higher elementary grades work together to build apps, explore professions and evaluate the social and moral issues of computing.¹³ Currently, MSCS is offering Scratch at several elementary schools.

- One study examining the effects of learning to code on different cognitive skills of elementary school-aged children found that the learn-to-code education program using Scratch coding significantly increased computational thinking scores from pretest to post-test compared to the control group.¹⁷
- A study cited the need to include coding in the curriculum as early as primary education or sooner because code-literacy and computational thinking play an important role in K-12 STEM education. Students trained in computational thinking are significantly better prepared for the daily tasks and their future professional work.⁶
- Another study revealed that children who have lower levels of problem-solving skills before learning programming could benefit more from a visual programming language like Scratch compared to a traditional programming language like Python coding.¹⁵
- Although it is recommended that students begin programming as early as Kindergarten, successful implementation for young programmers at the K-5 level can be stymied by the lack of teachers, course offerings, and educational support.⁹

In middle school courses, students thrive when their classes are challenging, helpful and individually relevant. During these years, learners must comprehend computing instruments and networks, determine how computing promotes communication, and apply computational reasoning abilities to solve societal problems.¹³ Currently, MSCS is offering Scratch at several middle schools.

• Scratch coding is cited as a useful tool for coding in school settings and that its application has a positive effect on students' learning. ^{3, 4, 10, 15} One research study found that students showed significantly more positive attitudes towards mathematics after Scratch-based activities, where they developed mathematical games.¹¹



• Career exploration should provide middle school students with an awareness of postsecondary options, engage student thinking about the future, and help students make connections between future interests and academic choices and achievement.⁸

In high school, students need access to thorough, standards-based computing courses in varying settings, such as regular or local high schools, tech hubs, community and mechanical colleges, or instructor-facilitated online courses.¹³ Currently, sixteen MSCS high schools are offering Coding (Computer Science) courses aimed at preparing students for post-secondary credentials and careers. The courses include Computer Science Foundations, Coding I and II, Coding Practicum, Mobile App Development, AP Computer Science A, and AP Computer Science Principles. In fact, MSCS high school juniors and seniors who are prepared for advanced coursework can jump start their college career with dual enrollment and earn college credit for these same courses.

- High school students should go beyond a fundamental understanding of the operation of computers and explore more complex and interesting topics of computer science such as interface design, limits of computers, and societal and ethical issues of software engineering. These courses should also help students improve their problem-solving and programming skills in preparation for Advanced Placement Computer Science courses.²²
- Secondary students planning on entering the workforce, continuing their education in a post-secondary technical school, or entering a two-year college program should enroll in computer science courses leading to industry certification. Industry certification provides a standard that is useful to potential employers in evaluating a candidate who has no prior work experience. Students who complete certification courses should be encouraged to take the corresponding exam as proof of acquired knowledge.²²

Develop Curriculum that Represents Diverse Student Interests

In the design of curriculum to support coding and learning, one study recommends that students be assigned meaningful projects so that they experience the process of turning an initial idea into a creation that can be shared with others; that students be allowed to work on projects connected to their own interests so that they work longer and harder and learn more in the process; that students work in teams to encourage collaboration and sharing but learn to build on the work of others; and that students be allowed to take risks, try new things, and experiment playfully in an environment where they feel safe.²⁰

- Findings from a study conducted with 69 high school students using Scratch to design a computer game showed increases in motivation and interest in programming.¹²
- Another study on the effects of coding on learning English words found that Scratch was more effective compared to traditional teaching methods in creating a better learning environment, raising student motivation and in-class social interaction, and lessening teacher dominance.¹⁸
- When designing the coding curriculum, school districts should choose coding languages that require only content at or below target grade level and use drop-down



menus to interface, whenever possible.⁵ Content standards for computer science education need to be developed and adopted in a way that parallels what has occurred in disciplines such as science, mathematics, and language arts.²² Additionally, curriculum materials should be linked to standards in different content areas.⁵

 Most teachers lack familiarity with coding resources as well as with the instructional basics to introduce their classrooms to coding. Additionally, most teachers expressed the feeling of loneliness and asked for a colleague to share teaching strategies, ideas, and resources.² An interdisciplinary team of computer scientists, educational researchers, and teachers should be created to bring together content knowledge, research on how students learn, and knowledge on how the curriculum will fit into the current norms and expectations in the classroom.⁵

Define Short-term Benefits and Learning Outcomes

- Coding teachers need to continually define goals and benefits for students to retain their interest. A place-based education approach, which immerses students in local heritage, culture, landscapes, opportunities and experiences, may be a successful strategy to define goals for students to serve their local communities through servicelearning projects.²¹
- Job shadowing, on-site visits as well as interactions with employers and guest speakers can introduce students to a variety of computing careers, setting the stage for more opportunities like internships and apprenticeships.⁸



- 1. Abraham, N. (2015). Getting a coding job for dummies. Hoboken, NJ: For Dummies.
- 2. Arfe, B., Vardanega, T. Montuori, C., & Lavanga, M. (2019). Coding in primary grades boosts children's executive functions. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 1-19.
- 3. Dohn, N. B. (2020). Students' interest in Scratch coding in lower secondary mathematics. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 51, (1), 71-83.
- 4. Francis, K., Khan, S., & Davis, B. (2016). Enactivism, spatial reasoning and coding. *Digital Experiences in Mathematical Education*, *2*, 1-20.
- Franklin, D., Hill, C., Dwyer, H., Iveland, A., Killian, A., & Harlow, D. (2015). Getting Started in Teaching and Researching Computer Science in the Elementary Classroom. *Proceedings of the 46th ACM Technical Symposium on Computer Science Education*, 552-557. Retrieved: <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/2676723.2677288</u>
- 6. García-Peñalvo, F. J., Reimann, D., Tuul, M., Rees, A., & Jormanainen, I. (2016). An overview of the most relevant literature on coding and computational thinking with emphasis on the relevant issues for teachers. Belgium: TACCLE3 Consortium. doi:10.5281/zenodo.165123.
- 7. Gokbulut, B., & Bakangoz, M. M. (2021). Instructor views on technology use and coding training. International Journal of Progressive Education, 17(3), 299-315.
- 8. Hanover Research, December 2020. Best practices in middle school career and technical education and expansion. [online] Hanover Research, pp. 1-22. Retrieved: <u>https://hanoverresearch.secure.force.com/customerportal/sfc/servlet.shepherd/version/download/</u> 0681T00000EEBhTQAX
- 9. Kalelioglu, F., & Gulbahar, Y. (2014). The effects of teaching programming via scratch on problem solving skills: a discussion from learners' perspective. *Informatics in Education*, 13(1), 33-50.
- 10. Kanbul, S., & Uzunboylu, H. (2017). Importance of coding education and robotic application for achieving 21st-century skills in north cyprus. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning*, 12(1), 130-140.
- 11. Ke, F. (2014). An implementation of design-based learning through creating educational computer games: A case study on mathematics learning during design and computing. *Computers & Education*, 73, 26-39.
- 12. Kritzer, K. L., & Green, L. (2021). Playing with code: An innovative way to teach numeracy and early math concepts to young DHH children in the 21st century. *American Annals of the Deaf*, 166(3), 409–423.
- 13. Kuzmiakova, A. (2020). Computer science and technology in schools. Arcler Press.
- 14. Meszarosova, E. (2015). Is python appropriate programming language for teaching programming in secondary schools? *International Journal of Information and Communication Technology in Education*, 4(2), 5-14.
- 15. Mladenovic, M., Krpan, D., & Mladenovic, S. (2016). Introducing programming to elementary students novices by using game development in python and scratch. *International Conference on Education and New learning Technologies*, 1622-1629.
- 16. Monroy-Hernandez, A., & Resnick, M. (2008). Empowering kids to create and share programmable media. *Interactions*, 15(2), 50-53.
- 17. Ozcan, M. S., Cetinkaya, E., Goksun, T., & Kisbu-Sakarya, Y. (2021). Does learning to code influence cognitive skills of elementary school children? Findings from a randomized experiment. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 91, 1434-1455.
- 18. Ozden, C., & Tezer, M. (2018). The effect of coding teaching on students' self-efficacy perceptions of technology and design courses. *Sustainability*, 10(3822), 1-29.
- 19. Psycharis, S., & Kallia, M. (2017). The effects of computer programming on high school students' reasoning skills and mathematical self-efficacy and problem solving. *Instructional Science*, 45, 583-602.
- 20. Resnick, M., & Rusk, N. (2020). Coding at a Crossroads. Communications of the acm, 63(11), 120-127.
- Sadik, O., Ottenbreit-Leftwich, A. T., & Brush, T. A. (2020). Secondary Computer Science Teachers' Needs. International Journal of Science Education in Schools, 4(1), 1-21.



22. Tucker, A., Deek, F., Jones, J., McCowan. D., Stephenson, C., & Verno, A. (2003). A Model Curriculum for K-12 Computer Science. Final Report of the ACM K-12 Task Force Curriculum Committee. Retrieved: <u>http://csta.acm.org/Curriculum/sub/K-12ModelCurr2ndEd.pdf</u>.



Naviance

April 2022 Author: Anne Walton Garrison

Strategy

Continue use of the Naviance platform and services for middle and high school students to develop robust career pathway opportunities.

Introduction

MSCS adopted Naviance in 2020–21. Naviance is an online platform designed to assist students with college and career readiness. It serves as a one-stop-shop for multiple types of information, including student information (e.g., college entrance exam scores, grade point average [GPA], individualized graduation plans), college information (e.g., admissions requirements, applications, financial aid forms), and a variety of assessments and questionnaires pertinent to the college selection and application process. School counselors and students can use Naviance to explore college and career options that match students' academic performance, interests, and goals. Students can also organize their college choices and applications as well as request transcripts and recommendation letters inside the platform. The District's current subscription includes all Naviance offerings except for AP and SAT test preparation and a feature for coordinating volunteer opportunities.

A thorough search of the scholarly literature using the term *Naviance* revealed that only four peer-reviewed studies of the platform have been conducted thus far. An overview of each of these studies, along with their recommendations, is presented in chronological order.

Naviance Use and College Application Rate¹ Study Synopsis

Noting high student-to-counselor ratios that prevent many school counselors from being able to give students as much one-on-one attention as they need, the authors of this study sought to learn whether the Naviance platform might fill in some of the gaps. The study aimed to find out whether college application rate was associated with the number of years students had access to Naviance and the number of times they accessed the platform each year.

The study focused on the first four cohorts of graduates who had access to Naviance: the first cohort were seniors during the first year of Naviance adoption, while the fourth cohort had access to Naviance for all four years of high school. The study found that college application rate was significantly associated with both the number of times students accessed Naviance (to a strong degree) and the length of time students had access to the platform (to a smaller degree), controlling for sex, socioeconomic status, and weighted GPA. It is worth noting that there was a strong correlation between students' length of access to Naviance and the average number of times they logged into Naviance each year, explained at least in part by the fact that counselors increasingly relied on more Naviance features over time. As with any program implementation, it took time for counselors to fully integrate



Naviance into their work processes, and the increase over time in students' average annual logins reflected that.

While unable to establish a *causal* relationship between Naviance use and college application rate, the authors concluded that Naviance is an appropriate way for school counselors to promote college access.

Recommendations

The authors gave the following recommendations for Naviance implementation (pp. 40-41):

- Naviance should be a supplement for college counseling services already provided, not a replacement.
- Counselors should make Naviance available no later than the ninth grade.
- It is important for school counselors to make Naviance necessary for all students.
- School counselors should use Naviance to help students select rigorous coursework.
- Counselors need to involve all stakeholders in the implementation of Naviance.

School Counselors' Acceptance and Use of Naviance³ Study Synopsis

This study aimed to find out why school counselors (N = 38) choose to use or not use Naviance and whether their "acceptance and use of Naviance enhances counseling practices, job productivity, and efficiency" (p. 369). The study incorporated the following data sources: a survey questionnaire, face-to-face semi-structured interviews, Naviance staff usage reports (showing the number of times counselors accessed the platform), and Naviance engagement reports (showing which features counselors used to support students' academic, college, and career development).

The school district in the study gave Naviance implementation "a low to medium priority, with the expectation that school counselors would at least minimally use the technology" (p. 372). Most (66%) of the school counselors reported that they used Naviance daily, 24% indicated weekly usage, 5% reported using it monthly, and 5% said they did not use Naviance at all.

Most of the counselors reported that they liked using Naviance and had a favorable attitude toward it, and that it "was desirable to use for academic and related counseling purposes" (p. 377). Additionally, most of the school counselors in the study agreed that Naviance:

- Has a friendly interface for students and counselors
- Requires minimal effort
- Is easy to use
- Is clear and understandable
- Increases job-related effectiveness and productivity
- Enhances counseling practices
- Is useful



In sum, most of the counselors in this study used Naviance frequently and felt that it enhanced their job performance. In particular, counselors liked that Naviance better enabled them "to introduce college-related material to help students develop individual education plans, identify courses, provide social and emotional resources, and advise on graduation status and college eligibility" (p. 379) and that they could also use it to share information with teachers, administrators, and parents.

Recommendations

Several counselors attributed their comfort level and positive attitude in part to having participated in multiple trainings on the platform. For the small minority of counselors who did not have a favorable impression of Naviance, some of their frustrations with the program stemmed from slow internet connections and limited access to computer labs. Therefore, Naviance training should be thorough and offered on an ongoing basis, and barriers to well-networked computers should be removed.

The authors offered two recommendations for future practice regarding Naviance: "leveraging the reports and analytic features to emphasize programmatic effectiveness and student outcomes, and infusing the college-related curriculum into subject matter classes" (p. 380).

Accuracy of High School Seniors' Self-Report in Naviance of Intended College Enrollment² Study Synopsis

This study was less about evaluating the performance of Naviance as a platform and more about using survey data collected through Naviance to measure the accuracy of high school seniors' self-report of intended college enrollment. The authors compared the college that students reported in Naviance that they planned to attend, with students' actual college enrollment records obtained through the National Student Clearinghouse.

A high percentage (81%) of self-reported intended enrollments matched actual enrollments, which the authors asserted was consistent with summer melt studies that found that "approximately 80% of college-intending students enroll in college the fall following high school graduation" (p. 7). The following factors increased the probability of an accurate self-report: higher socioeconomic status, higher GPA, higher number of college acceptances, having a college entrance exam score, and enrolling in a public (versus private) college.

Recommendations

For districts whose typical students diverge significantly from the above factors, the authors recommended using alternative sources of college enrollment information (such as National Student Clearinghouse) in addition to students' self-reports.

Naviance's Influence on Students' College Application Choices⁴ Study Synopsis

This was a high-quality, quasi-experimental study focusing on a particular feature of the Naviance platform that "shows students how, for individual colleges, their academic profiles compare with previously admitted schoolmates. This information is conveyed in



scattergrams, which are scatterplots showing the grade point average (GPA) and SAT (or ACT) scores of prior applicants from a student's school to a specific college as well as the admissions decision each of these applicants received" (pp. 220–221).

The purpose of the study was to determine the causal impact of this Naviance feature on students' college application choices. The study yielded the following four main findings (p. 222):

- Access to a college's admissions information increases applications and attendance at that college, especially for students with a high admissions probability.
- Students prefer to apply to colleges where they are most similar to previous admits.
- Students use the average admissions lines and the color coding of their scores as heuristics to simplify their application choices.
- The information in Naviance leads application portfolios and attendance choices to reflect the set of colleges with visible and relevant information.

The impacts were not uniform across students, however, but depended in part on student and school characteristics:

Naviance increases 4-year college enrollment for low-income, Black, and Hispanic students when it provides them with information about local public colleges where they are likely to be admitted. It also increases the selectivity of colleges attended by students who are shown information on many relevant match and reach colleges. Students who attend high schools with weaker college-going cultures, however, are more likely to be nudged to less selective colleges based on the available scattergrams. (pp. 224–225)

Recommendations

Essentially, the study established that the scattergram feature of Naviance, which displays information only for the colleges to which previous cohorts of schoolmates applied, influences students to constrain their college application choices to only those colleges. Thus, students "in schools with suboptimal college choices among older cohorts will be nudged to repeat the suboptimal choices of their peers" (p. 257). The author thus advised districts to pool data across high schools to give students admissions information for a much wider landscape of colleges. She also recommended that counselors and/or Naviance staff provide guidance to students on how to interpret the scattergram data so that they better understand their limitations.



- 1. Christian, D., Lawrence, A., & Dampman, N. (2017). Increasing college access through the implementation of Naviance: An exploratory study. *Journal of College Access*, 3(2), 28–44.
- 2. Christian, D. D., Stuckey, A. G., Boykin, A. A., & Adams, J. J. (2020). Predicting college enrollment of graduating high school seniors: How accurate is self-report? *Professional School Counseling*, 23(1, part 3), 2156759X20903512.
- 3. Deslonde, V., & Becerra, M. (2018). The Technology Acceptance Model (TAM): Exploring school counselors' acceptance and use of Naviance. *Professional Counselor*, *8*(4), 369–382.
- 4. Mulhern, C. (2021). Changing college choices with personalized admissions information at scale: Evidence on Naviance. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 39(1), 219–262.



Attendance & Truancy Supports

April 2022 Author: Hannah Pallotta

Strategy

Memphis-Shelby County Schools (MSCS) received Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief (ESSER) funds which aim to address the ongoing impacts that the Covid-19 pandemic has on K-12 education. A portion was allocated to increasing attendance and decreasing truancy. MSCS will invest funds in this area to provide additional support in improving attendance and truancy rates. The following positions will be included in the investments to improve culture and climates as well as increase attendance rates and attendance accuracy: Discipline/Registration/Truancy Analysts, Advisors, and Specialists.

Key Findings

- Many studies indicate that transportation tends to be the biggest barrier for school attendance. Funding creative solutions, like partnering with public transit, creating a 'walking-school bus' for neighborhood students, or increasing school bus use should be highly considered to reduce absenteeism.
- Attendance Works, the leading experts on the topic, recommend two strategies to increase attendance: mentors and teacher home visits.
- Graduation coaches have had positive effects on graduation rates and attendance rates.
- Incentivizing families, as well as students, can increase attendance, especially for younger students who rely on family for transportation.

Overview of Absenteeism: Barriers to Attendance & Effects of the Pandemic on an Already Existing Issue

- A study done in February 2019 found that an estimated 6.5 million students (13% of all students) nationwide miss 15 or more days in a given school year.¹
- Hillsborough County Public Schools (HCPS in Tampa, Florida) began the 2021-2022 school year fully in-person, but less than a week into school more than 2.5% of students (5,600) had to quarantine.
- Twenty-two percent (22%) of Newark students were chronically absent from remote learning last fall, even after they laxed their attendance rules. This was 5 percentage points more than the year before.²
- During the pandemic, more than half of Detroit students were considered chronically absent (missing 10% or more of the school year).
- See the Appendix C for a chart showing the change in attendance rates from 2020– 21 to 2021–22 in over 30 school districts, with the median change being –6.2%.
- Nearly 100,000 students missed school when classes resumed on January 3rd, 2022 after winter break in Miami-Dade County.³
- One study looked at absenteeism in Detroit, MI students; they found that the biggest barriers to attendance were transportation and health issues.⁴



 The barrier of transportation was due to "unreliable or inconsistent availability of transportation, weak social networks, parents' work schedule, unsafe conditions, and more."⁴

Solutions

- Chalkbeat Detroit hosted a panel of researchers and Michigan community partners to discuss how to increase school attendance. Panelists agreed that Districts sharing their data with community partners is vital to having their help.⁵
- Two strategies discussed during that conversation that are shown to increase attendance are parent-teacher home visits and mentoring.^{5, 6, 7}
 - $\circ~$ Including a community partner involved in the home visits could work even better to create connection.
 - \circ $\,$ It is important that teachers are compensated for their extra time.
 - Teenagers could be mentors to younger students in paid positions. This strategy could be especially beneficial for the community by reducing chronic absenteeism in younger students, grounding them to someone in the community, and giving teenagers a chance to bring in income to their families.
- Creative ways to incentivize students to come to school can include: school-based health services, breakfast for all, laundry at school, rethinking recess, threshold greetings, activities at the school that families can come to, tutoring or intervention based on needs, etc.^{8, 9}
- Develop new, system-wide solutions for school transportation, including creative solutions for back-up transportation to ensure that all children have access to school-provided transportation.⁴ Such creative solutions could include capitalizing on public transportation or creating a 'walking-school bus' where teachers and parents lead an organized walk to school and pick up students on their way.¹⁰ One study found that Kindergarteners who took a bus to school were "absent fewer days over the year and were less likely to be chronically absent than students who took other transportation methods to school."¹⁰ This study was the first of its kind to study a nationally representative sample of Kindergarteners and shows the validity of having a bus program. The study also found that the association between taking the bus to school and lower absenteeism was experience by all students, rather than affecting one group more so than the others.¹¹
- Graduation coaches have had positive effects on graduation rates and attendance rates. A graduation coach works in a middle or high school and works with the school's attendance officer to track daily attendance and ensures there is open communication with students, families, and staff. One of their biggest objectives is to connect with students who often skip class to help increase graduation rates. These coaches work with data to identify trends in student absences and find ways to encourage students to attend class.¹²
 - "Students across various high schools who were assigned a graduation coach attended classes more often, had fewer instances of misbehavior, and earned more credits than at-risk students who were not assigned a graduation coach. In addition, the students with a graduation coach were suspended less frequently and missed fewer days of school."¹²



- In a focus group about having reduced chronic absenteeism in their schools, principals of MSCS discussed what their schools have done to create change around this issue. Many of these principals mentioned incentivizing students for having improved attendance, tracking their data weekly or even daily, and having a positive school culture. One principal mentioned that the greatest change in attendance for their at-risk students came after they began to incentivize parents with a raffle for grocery store gift cards.¹³
- The literature seems to lean towards school level solutions such as changing the school climate around attendance (rather than rewarding perfect attendance begin to reward students who have improved their attendance) and by pairing students with a mentor or coach rather than creating district level positions to analyze the district's attendance data. Data should be analyzed at the school level. Attendance Works is the leading expert on this topic. They recommend that school leaders who oversee attendance data should be trained to understand and use data effectively.⁷



Appendix C

CGCS District	Overall Change from 2020 to 2022
Rochester	-11.6%
Indianapolis	-10.6%
Philadelphia	-10.6%
Pittsburgh	-9.4%
Oklahoma City	-9.4%
St. Louis	-8.7%
Boston	-8.6%
Long Beach	-8.0%
Portland	-7.8%
Houston	-7.3%
Austin	-7.2%
Chicago	-7.2%
St. Paul	-7.0%
San Diego	-6.7%
Tulsa	-6.5%
Shelby County	-6.4%
Anchorage	-6.2%
Dayton	-5.9%
Milwaukee	-5.9%
San Francisco	-5.4%
Kansas City	-4.6%
Orange County	-4.6%
Guilford County	-4.5%
Fresno	-4.2%
Denver	-3.8%
Palm Beach	-3.3%
Oakland	-3.1%
Cleveland	-3.0%
Jefferson	-2.2%
Baltimore	-1.7%
East Baton Rouge	0.3%
Hillsborough	0.8%
Hawaii	6.0%



- 1. <u>https://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/143/2/e20183648</u>
- 2. https://newark.chalkbeat.org/2021/1/12/22227859/newark-attendance-fall-2020
- 3. <u>https://www.miamiherald.com/news/local/education/article257012672.html</u>
- 4. <u>https://detroit.chalkbeat.org/2021/2/19/22291990/want-to-fix-the-chronic-absenteeism-problem-in-detroit-schools-start-with-transportation</u>
- 5. <u>https://detroit.chalkbeat.org/2021/3/22/22345165/michigan-missing-students-chronic-absenteeism-covid-19-pandemic-education-trust</u>
- 6. https://www.facebook.com/watch/?v=953646762043267
- 7. https://www.attendanceworks.org/
- 8. <u>https://www.future-ed.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/REPORT_Attendance-Playbook-Covid-Edition-1.pdf</u>
- 9. https://www.attendanceworks.org/how-covid-relief-dollars-can-help-improve-attendance/
- 10. Addressing Elementary Chronic Absenteeism. (2019). Hanover Research. Retrieved April 4, 2022.
- 11. Gottfried, M. A. (2017). Linking getting to school with going to school. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 39(4), 571–592. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373717699472
- 12. Best Practices for Improving Attendance in Secondary Schools. (2016). Hanover Research. Retrieved April 4, 2022.
- 13. Thompson, A. (2021, April). *Beating the Odds: April 2021.* http://scsk12.org/rpm//files/2021/Beating%20the%20Odds%20-%20Chronic%20Absenteeism.pdf



Teacher Bridge Program Prepared by the Department of Research & Performance Management

Educators

Teacher Bridge Program

January 2021 Author: Angelica Thompson, Ph.D.

Strategy/Accountability

Provide a 4-week summer bridge for new teachers, paraprofessionals, & afterschool stakeholders (Summer 2021).

Description

Instructional support personnel receive targeted professional development on curriculum, science of reading, RTI, & instructional strategies to engage all learning styles.

Key Recommendations

- DO use experienced teachers who apply, interview, & provide recommendations to become mentors.^{6,11}
- DO hold sessions frequently & in-person if possible, otherwise, online or by phone^{6,10}.
- DO pair mentors with mentees that teach at the same school; when intra-school pairing is not possible, keep mentor-mentee ratio low.^{6,9}
- DO individualize mentoring differentiated by need, as well as subject- & grade-based.^{6,12}
- DO focus on mentee's mental & emotional health. Provide mentors with the capacity to look beyond professional goals and address a mentee's need for emotional support. Offer quarterly retreats for rest, reflection, & networking with other teachers in similar situations, reducing feelings of isolation & loneliness.⁶
- DO provide PD for mentors—a mentor-the-mentor component.^{6,11} Mentors can receive Cognitive Coaching training, have experienced coaches serve as their mentors, & obtain PD on learning how to collect evidence, provide actionable feedback & guide themselves & their mentees through self-reflection.
- DO provide administrative/principal support for PD.^{7,9,12} Principals can show support by arranging school schedules so that expert teachers can teach model lessons or meet with new teachers one-on-one or in small groups. They can also help teachers prioritize professional goals & identify & recommend PD opportunities.
- DO support the principals who are implementing the program.⁶
- DO include a research, evaluation, & tracking system to document mentoring outcomes.^{6,7}
- DO include observations of mentees teaching class live or via video. ^{6,9,11}
- DON'T tie mentorship sessions to teacher evaluations and allow mentors & beginning teachers to work openly, without fear of consequences. "They need to learn how to be a teacher in a nonthreatening environment."⁶
- •



Comprehensive teacher induction reduces teacher attrition.

- Having a quality mentor from the same field and collaboration or common planning time with other teachers in the same subject reduced teacher turnover by 30% and 43%, respectively.^{8, 14}
- One district's PD strategies led to a reduction in the annual attrition rate from 31% from 2000–2003 to 9% from 2013–2016. The district also saw a reduction in new teachers' third-year attrition rates from 70% to 26%.¹¹

Comprehensive teacher induction improves student outcomes.

- Comprehensive induction consists of mentoring (matching new teachers with one or more experienced & trained teacher), common planning time & collaboration ongoing PD, peer networking opportunities, standards-based evaluation.²
- Inducted teachers develop better teaching practices that meet students' learning needs & improve achievement². A district reform in Philadelphia yielded about a 17point increase in the percentage of elementary students proficient in Math and Reading between 1996 and 2000.^{13, 16}
- Among the findings from the 1998 to 1992 pilot study of the California New Teacher Project (CNTP) were that compared to other new teachers, beginning teachers in the pilot project more consistently motivated diverse students to engage in productive learning activities & they gave the same complex, challenging assignments to classes of diverse students as they did to classes that were more ethnically & culturally homogeneous.^{2, 4}
- Participation in a high intensity teacher induction program (orientation, same-subject mentor, PD, program evaluation, & follow-up) explained 74% of the variance in minority students' reading achievement.¹⁵

Mentors need specific skills to help new teachers focus on issues of diversity & equity in teaching.

- Pedagogical knowledge for equity—knowledge of ways to teach diverse youth & knowledge of ways to teach or guide teachers during mentoring sessions to promote equitable learning—92%.¹
- Knowledge of contexts relevant to teaching diverse youth—strategies/resources to help teachers learn local culture, community & about negotiating the professional world & Broader social & structural issues related to diversity & inequities in society & schooling—43.2%.¹
- Knowledge of what diverse learners bring to class—help new teachers learn about assets diverse learners bring to class; "help novices move beyond viewing culturally & linguistically diverse youth as 'problems'"; move past "'othering' of students as different from themselves, to a closer knowing of individuals"—27%.¹
- Mentor's knowledge of self-related to diversity & equity—mentors need to have engaged in self-reflection on their attitudes toward educational inequities; know his or her own beliefs, values, & practices related to "diverse youth & the challenge of closing the achievement gap"—27%.¹



- 1. Achinsteing, B. & Athanases, S. Z. (2005). Focusing new teachers on diversity and equity: Toward a knowledge base for mentors. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *21*, 843-862.
- Alliance for Excellent Education. (2004). Tapping the potential: Retaining & developing high-quality new teachers. Washington, DC. Retrieved: <u>https://all4ed.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/2007/07/TappingThePotential.pdf.
- 3. Alliance for Excellent Education. (2005). Teacher attrition: A costly loss to the nation and to the states. Issue Brief, Washington, DC. Retrieved: <u>https://mk0all4edorgjxiy8xf9.kinstacdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2007/06/TeacherAttrition.pdf</u>
- 4. Bartell, C. A. (1995). Shaping teacher induction policy in California. *Teacher Education Quarterly,* 22(4), 27-43. Retrieved: <u>http://www.teqjournal.org/backvols/1995/22_4/bartell.pdf</u>
- 5. Bauer, T. N. (2010). *Onboarding new employees: Maximizing success*. Alexandria, VA: SHRM Foundation. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.shrm.org/foundation/ourwork/initiatives/resources-from-past-initiatives/Documents/Onboarding%20New%20Employees.pdf</u>.
- 6. Brown, E. A. (2019). Coach approach: Mentoring works best when experienced educators grow alongside new teachers. *District Administration*, 55(2), 31-33
- 7. Canaran, O. & Hakki Mirici, I. (2019). An overview of the recent views and practices in teacher professional development. *Journal of Theory and Practice in Education*, 15(4), 350-362.
- 8. Ingersoll, R. M. (2012). Beginning teacher induction: What the data tell us. *Phi Delta Kappan Magazine*, 93, 47-51. Retrieved:

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/003172171209300811

- 9. Johnson S. M. & Kardos, S. M. (2002). Keeping new teachers in mind. *Redesigning professional development*, 59(6), 12-16.
- 10. Lakhwani, M. (2019). Insights into new teacher professional development: A focus on culturally responsive teaching practices. *Journal of Behavioral & Social Sciences, 6*, 101-107.
- 11. Moore, A. (2016). Stepping up support for new teachers. Educational Leadership, 73(8), 60-64.
- 12. Reitman, G. C. & Karge, B. D. (2019). Investing in teacher support leads to teacher retention: Six support administrators should consider for new teachers.
- 13. Rhodes, A. (2002). Civic engagement & urban school improvement: Hard-to-learn lessons from Philadelphia. *CPRE Research Reports*. Retrieved: <u>http://repository.upenn.edu/cpre_researchreports/27</u>
- 14. Smith, T. M. & Ingersoll, R. M. (2004). What are the effects of induction & mentoring on beginning teacher turnover? *American Educational Research Journal*, *41*(3), 681-714.
- 15. (Strong, M. A. (2008). An investigation of the effects of variations in mentor-based induction on the performance of students in California. *Teachers College Record*, *110*(10), 2271-2289. Retrieved: <u>https://www.tcrecord.org/Content.asp?ContentId=14719</u>.
- 16. Supovitz, J. A. (2003). Developing communities of instructional practice: Lessons from Cincinnati & Philadelphia. CPRE Policy Briefs Retrieved: <u>http://repository.upenn.edu/cpre_policybriefs/28</u>



Create Our Own - Teaching Profession

April 2022 Author: Patrick L. Shipp, Ph. D.

Strategy

Launch **Create Our Own** teacher program, a long-term approach to recruit and train prospective teachers from within the Memphis-Shelby County community and bring greater racial, ethnic, and cultural diversity to the educator workforce so that students have access to post-secondary opportunities and improve the culture and climate of schools.

Introduction

Teachers are needed to teach in K-12 schools, due both to the teacher shortage, retention issues, and teacher diversity gap across the United States. **Grow Your Own (GYO)** teacher programs are associated with positive outcomes for students, teachers, and their communities—especially for diverse student populations. GYO programs engage in a variety of strategies that aim to recruit students from local school communities.^{1, 5, 9} Currently, only one high school within MSCS offers Teaching as Profession program aimed at preparing students for post-secondary credentials and careers as educators. The courses within this program include Fundamentals of Education, Teaching as a Profession I and II, and Teaching as a Profession Practicum.

Strategies to Increase Interest in Teaching Across K-12^{2, 4, 6} Exposure

- Hold career day presentations in the elementary grades
- Administer high school career interest surveys
- Host education-focused career fairs in high school
- Support career exploration activities in the middle grades

Experience

- Sponsor clubs with a focus on education, such as Future Teachers of America, at the middle and high school fairs
- Host colleges with education programs at college fairs
- Recruit students for participation based on district needs related to cultural diversity recommendations
- Provide job-shadowing experiences for select middle and high school students

Education

- Provide training and experiential learning opportunities for aspiring teachers
- Align instruction with standards such as those published by Educators Rising and Teacher Cadets
- Offer internships for Grade 12 students
- Offer scholarships or loan forgiveness
- Incorporate training related to cultural responsiveness.



Best Practices for Grow-Your-Own Program Implementation

- Although academic research on GYO programs is limited, individual programs have demonstrated positive effects on outcomes, including students' expressed interest in teaching and pursuit of teaching degrees.
 - A school district participating in the Pathways2Teaching program reported that around 50 percent of graduating students pursue education majors in college, while 37.3 percent of students who completed the South Carolina Center for Educator Recruitment, Retention, and Advancement Teacher Cadet Program during the 2017-2018 school year reported planning to pursue a career in teaching.³
 - A survey conducted to evaluate the Recruiting Washington Teachers program found that 59% of recent graduates reported that the program increased their interest in a teaching career.³
- GYO programs address equity and diversity in the teaching workforce in addition to increasing the overall pool of potential teachers. Grow your own programs can support equity and diversity by partnering with community organizations to support students and bring cultural knowledge into the curriculum. For example, Pathways2Teaching's curriculum incorporates action research projects focused on equity and diversity.⁸
- Postsecondary partnerships can include dual enrollment components that allow students to earn credits in high school. The Recruiting Washington Teachers program recommends that participating districts develop articulation agreements with local colleges and universities.³ GYO programs generally recruit through two pre-collegiate pathways.
 - Pre-Collegiate, Selective: The South Carolina Teacher Cadet program is heralded as one of the oldest and better-known GYO programs in the nation. Located on the campus of Winthrop University, this state-funded program is committed to the recruitment of high-achieving, homegrown students. In 2015-2016, 32% of completers were non-White and 22% were males. Significantly, the program was available in 70% of all South Carolina public high schools.⁸
 - Pre-Collegiate, Non-selective: The Pathways2Teaching program allows students to earn up to nine college credits and certification as a paraprofessional while in high school. Unlike the Teacher Cadet model, this program makes no distinction between high- or low- achieving students. Chosen by their commitment to youth in their respective inner-city schools, carefully-selected "pathways teachers" work collaboratively in partnership with university staff who play a supportive role in the classroom. Today, many of its graduates are either enrolled in teacher education programs or in other areas like social work. Pathways2Teaching now has programs in nine



Colorado high schools located in seven school districts, including three in Nashville.⁸

• Partnerships with postsecondary and community institutions can improve the longterm outcomes of GYO programs. For example, the South Carolina Teacher Cadet Program partners with the Center for Educator Recruitment, Retention, and Advancement to provide curriculum, training, and support for teachers. Likewise, the Pathways2Teaching program is led by professors at the University of Colorado, Denver, who provide professional development for high school instructors.³

Current Tennessee Programs

In June 2021, the Tennessee Department of Education announced the award of \$4.5 million in GYO grants to help establish partnerships between Educator Preparation Providers and local school districts and create innovative pathways to becoming a teacher in Tennessee for free. These grant funds will remove barriers to the teaching profession by providing funds to entirely cover tuition, textbooks, and fees for all selected participants, while providing dual licensure or initial licensure opportunities with an additional endorsement.⁷



- 1. Bianco, M., & Marin-Paris, D. (2019). Pathway2Teaching: Addressing the teacher diversity gap through a grow your own program. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 52, 38-40.
- Ding, C., Richardson, L.I., Gates, J. T., & Bickel, M. E. (2007). Recruiting future educators, present, and future: A survey of Phi Delta Kappa's Future Educators Association. St. Louis, MO: The Hoenny Center.
- 3. Hanover Research, July 2019. Best practices for high school grow your own teacher programs. [online] Hanover Research, pp. 1-23. Retrieved: <u>https://hanoverresearch.secure.force.com/customerportal/sfc/servlet.shepherd/version/download/</u> <u>0681T000006zUd9QAE</u>
- Missouri Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. (2016). Grow your own! A resource guide to creating your own teacher pipeline. Retrieved: https://dese.mo.gov/sites/default/files/Grow-Your-Own-Resource-Guide.pdf
- Ramirez, A. Y. (2009). Ethnic minorities and teaching: An examination of the low numbers in the teaching profession. *Multicultural Education*, 16(4), 19-24.
- 6. Swanson, P.B. (2011). Georgia's grow your own teacher programs attract the right stuff. *The High School Journal*, 94(3), 119-133.
- 7. Tennessee Department of Education. (2022, January). *Grow your own*. Retrieved: <u>https://www.tn.gov/education/educator-resources/educator-pipelines-innovative-pathways/grow-your-own.html</u>
- 8. Valenzuela, A. (2017). Grow your own educator programs: A review of the literature with an emphasis on equity-based approaches (ED582731). ERIC. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED582731.pdf
- Xu, N., Ross, B., Lara, G. D., Davis, C., & Kramer, B. (Oct. 2021). *Teacher workforce development:* Grow your own teacher programs. Penn State Social Science Research Institute: University Park, PA. Retrieved from: <u>https://research2policy.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Grow-Your-Own-Teacher-Workforce_FINAL-1.pdf</u>



Strategic Teacher Retention and Recruitment

April 2022 Author: Hannah Pallotta

Key Findings

- One study found that mentoring dosage was positively and significantly related to new teacher retention after one year.
- Mentor programs for new teachers should last at least two years, and time with mentors should be protected and frequent.
- School climate that prioritizes teacher wellbeing—including reducing classroom size and giving teachers designated time for planning and rest—and promotes teacher engagement can increase teacher retention.
- Newly placed principals in districts that had a principal pipeline were more likely to stay at their school for two years than principals at other districts.

ESSER Strategic Teacher Retention & Teacher Recruitment Program Overview

Memphis-Shelby County Schools (MSCS) received Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief (ESSER) funds which aim to address the ongoing impacts that the Covid-19 pandemic has on K-12 education. A portion was allocated to strategic teacher retention and establishing sustainable teacher recruitment models. The Human Resources team will implement and expand a variety of strategies designed to recruit and retain the best District leaders and teachers in the nation, immerse them in professional development to embrace and teach. The District will expand the leadership development pipeline for School and District Leadership to Central Office Employees.

Teacher Turnover

- School-level turnover is higher in schools where 75% or more of the students are eligible for free and reduced lunch.¹
- 44% of new teachers leave the profession within five years.²
- Schools with highly rated principals with high achievement growth have less turnover than schools with lower rated principals. ⁶
- It can cost a district around \$75,000 to replace one school principal. ⁶
- Teachers of color leave teaching at a higher rate than white teachers, citing dissatisfaction with organization conditions as their primary reason for leaving. Teachers of color disproportionately work in schools located in higher-poverty districts with fewer resources and little administrative support. Teachers of color often feel pressure to represent the needs of students of color, and this extra labor often goes unnoticed, without recognition or compensation.¹
- Teachers who earn their credentials through alternative certification programs are 25% more likely to leave their schools than teachers who participate in traditional certification programs.¹


Mentoring Programs Teacher Mentor Programs

- One study found that "mentoring dosage was positively and significantly related to new teacher retention after one year".³ About 97% of new teachers in the moderatedosage group and 94% of new teachers in the high-dosage group were retained in the district between school years compared with only 78% of new teachers in the lowdosage group. New teacher retention was significantly higher in the two higher dosage groups than in the low-dosage group. The difference between the moderate and high groups was negligible.
- A successful mentor program should include:4
 - Rigorous mentor selection based on qualities of an effective mentor
 - Qualities could include evidence of outstanding teaching practice, strong intra- and inter-personal skills, experience with adult learners, respect of peers, current knowledge of PD, etc.
 - Ongoing beginning teacher PD
 - Ongoing PD and support for mentors
 - Protected time for mentor-teacher interactions
 - Mentors and beginning teachers should have 1.25—2.5 hours per week to allow for the most rigorous mentoring activities. This time should be protected by teachers and administrators.
 - Multi-year mentoring
 - <u>At least two years</u>; research suggests that most deep learning happens in the second and third years of teaching.
 - Professional teaching standards and data-driven conversations
 - Data collection and documentation of mentor conversations should happen whenever possible.
 - \circ $\,$ Clear roles and responsibilities for administration
 - Administrators play a key role in ensuring the success of the mentor program by setting boundaries around the time that beginning teachers have with their mentors, creating a positive culture of ongoing learning, and communicating with new teachers about their needs.
 - Collaboration with all stakeholders
- Induction programs or beginning teacher mentor programs have a positive impact on teacher commitment and retention, classroom instructional practices, and student achievement.⁵

Principal Pipeline/Mentor Programs

"The term principal pipeline is shorthand for the range of talent management activities that fall within a school district's scope of responsibility when it comes to school leaders."⁶ These activities include selective hiring and placement, preparation opportunities for principals and assistant principals, having leader standards, and the process of induction, evaluation, and continued support.

• One study of over 10,000 school districts nationwide found that "respondents from large districts were more likely than respondents from medium districts to report having school leadership standards, processes to encourage individuals to become



school leaders, standards-aligned evaluation, objective criteria—such as performance tasks to evaluate principal candidates, a dedicated office of school leadership."⁶

- In this same study, virtually all districts indicated that they provided individual coaching to at least some of the principals in their district, with roughly 60% of these districts reporting that they provided individualized coaching or mentoring to all principals in their district.
- Another study that looked at the efficacy of a principal pipeline found that newly placed principals in districts that used a principal pipeline were nearly 6 percentage points more likely to remain in their school for two years than principals in districts that did not use this model.⁷

School Supports

School administration can provide four supports to increase teacher retention:²

- Support teacher wellbeing
 - Create a culture that fosters staff wellness that includes fair leave policies, good benefits, a safe environment, sufficient supervision, the support and resources to do the work, and processes for shared decision making.
 - One district made Wednesdays an asynchronous learning day where teachers were able to leave at 1pm. This gives teachers time to plan and refresh.
 - Reducing classroom size enables teachers to focus more time on individual students and reduces all other work (paperwork, parent interaction, classroom management, etc.).
- Promote teacher engagement
 - Having open and early communication about initiatives
 - Keeping initiatives realistic
- Create a supportive school climate
- Monitor teacher retention and recruitment
 - Identify and track trends in teacher attrition

Principal supports for new teachers:4

- Frequent communication/having an open-door policy so new teachers are comfortable discussing issues
- Regular classroom observations and feedback
- Protected time for new teachers for mentorship, PD, and classroom observation.
- Limiting extracurricular expectations; ensuring that new teachers can focus on their classroom
- Support when new teachers communicate with parents
- Essential information on the evaluation process early in the year
- A complete school orientation



References

- 1. Best Practices in Retention and Advancement of Diverse Staff. (2019). Hanover Research. Retrieved April 4, 2022.
- 2. 4 Strategies to Increase Teacher Retention. Hanover Research. (2021). Retrieved April 4, 2022.
- Caven, M., Durodoye, R., Zhang, X., & Bock, G. (2021). Variation in mentoring practices and retention across new teacher demographic characteristics under a large urban district's New Teacher Mentoring Program (REL 2021–100). U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Regional Educational Laboratory Northeast & Islands.
- 4. Implementing and Managing Teacher Induction Programs. Hanover Research. (2021). Retrieved April 4, 2022.
- 5. Impact of Teacher Mentoring on Student Achievement. (2014). Hanover Research. Retrieved April 4, 2022.
- 6. Gates, S. M., Kaufman, J. H., Doan, S., Tuma, A. P., & Kim, D. (2020). Taking stock of principal pipelines: What Public School Districts Report doing and what they want to do to improve school leadership. Rand Corporation.
- 7. Gates, S. M., Baird, M., Master, B. K., & Chavez-Herrerias, E. R. (2019). Principal pipelines: A feasible, affordable, and effective way for districts to improve schools. RAND.



Proximity Learning

May 2022 Author: Shelby Roberts, Ph.D.

Key Findings

- Proximity learning can help school districts mitigate the current teacher shortages in the United States.
- Students felt supported and engaged when taught using synchronous online instruction compared to asynchronous.
- Lessons taught by proximity instructors can be recorded and stored as a resource for students.
- Quality of the instructor is still more important than the method of delivery in promoting student learning.
- Technology issues can frustrate students and cause missed instruction.

Strategy

Memphis-Shelby County Schools (MSCS) allocated a portion of the ESSER funds to utilize proximity teachers. In the 2021–22 school year, specific high school instructors teaching courses with end-of-course exams (EOC) were partnered with proximity teachers who supported those classrooms virtually. MSCS utilizes proximity teachers as support teachers instead of as the teacher of record.

Overview

Proximity teaching is a term "used to describe a teacher's nearness to [their] students during a lesson."¹ In a proximity learning model, students can be together in a classroom with the teacher online or the students and their teacher can connect online at the same time all from different locations. Proximity learning is often used by K-12 districts to shore up staff shortages, deliver virtual instructions, and to add specialty courses for districts.¹⁵

As a method of instruction, proximity learning is the same as synchronous online learning.¹⁵ This brief will synthesize research on both topics and use the terms interchangeably. Additional best practices for proximity learning are listed in Appendix D.

Benefits

Synchronous online learning is not new in the field of education, although historically not as popular as asynchronous online learning environments.¹⁸ However, due to the Covid-19 pandemic the popularity in synchronous online instruction has increased and more research is emerging on this method of instruction in K-12 settings.

• Classrooms that utilized proximity learning did not have as many challenges as traditional students whose schools had to shift to online learning due to the pandemic.⁸



- Compared to asynchronous online learning, students felt more supported, had more peer-centered activities, had more feedback, and reported higher satisfaction when their online teacher was delivering instruction synchronously.⁴
- Synchronous online "webinars" were more effective at promoting student content knowledge than asynchronous and face-to-face courses, but there was no difference in students' satisfaction levels between the groups.⁴
- "Advantages of using a synchronous learning environment include real time sharing of knowledge and learning and immediate access to the instructor to ask questions and receive answers." ¹⁷
- Lessons taught by the proximity teacher can be recorded and added into a video library for students to access later or if they need additional support on the topic.¹³

Disadvantages

- Blended online classrooms did not outperform "purely online classes" indicating that the quality of instruction is more important that the type of delivery of the instruction.^{3, 9}
- Classroom management is still a concern with proximity learning. When the students are in a room together, but their instructor is virtual, local distractions can be difficult to manage.¹⁸
- Technology issues with proximity teaching can cause students to miss instruction and is often frustrating for students.⁷

Outcomes

Many of the studies on proximity learning or synchronous instruction used survey and interview data focused on student engagement, motivation, connectedness, or satisfaction.^{5, 6, 11, 12, 16} Few studies used rigorous quantitative methods or large sample sizes to show the outcome of learning in a synchronous environment compared to face-to-face or asynchronous in a K-12 setting. The studies showed disparate findings and often cited the impact of the quality of the instructor as paramount to student performance.^{3, 9}

- Synchronous courses have shown more frequent and better-quality student interactions than asynchronous courses which in turn led to higher course exams and course performance.³
- However, findings from an Algebra I course found that students in the synchronous section had lower end-of-course scores than those in the asynchronous section.²
- Proximity Learning[®] conducted an internal study over six terms and found that students taught by proximity learning instructors averaged an 80.3% (a B to B-average) which was sufficient for college admissions.⁸

Conclusion

While proximity teaching and synchronous learning are not new in education, their use in K-12 educational settings has expanded due to the Covid-19 pandemic. School districts can utilize this instruction method of alleviate the staffing strain due to teacher shortages. When looking at student academic outcomes confounding results were found, though students' attitudes and engagement in proximity courses were typically more positive.



References

- 1. Alexandria City Public Schools. (2015). *Proximity*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.acpsk12.org/pl/coachs-cuts/proximity/</u>
- 2. Berry, S. (2017). Educational outcomes of synchronous and asynchronous high school students: A quantitative causal-comparative study of online algebra 1 (Doctoral dissertation, Northeastern University).
- 3. Duncan, K., Kenworthy, A., & McNamara, R. (2012). The effect of synchronous and asynchronous participation on students' performance in online accounting courses. *Accounting Education*, *21*(4), 431-449.
- 4. Ebner, C., & Gegenfurtner, A. (2019, September). Learning and satisfaction in webinar, online, and face-to-face instruction: a meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Education* (Vol. 4, p. 92). Frontiers Media SA. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2019.00092</u>
- Fabriz, S., Mendzheritskaya, J., & Stehle, S. (2021). Impact of synchronous and asynchronous settings of online teaching and learning in higher education on students' learning experience during COVID-19. Frontiers in Psychology, 12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.733554</u>
- 6. Lin, X., & Gao, L. (2020). Students' Sense of Community and Perspectives of Taking Synchronous and Asynchronous Online Courses. Asian Journal of Distance Education, 15(1), 169-179.
- McBrien, J. L., Jones, P., & Cheng, R. (2009). Virtual spaces: Employing a synchronous online classroom to facilitate student engagement in online learning. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 10(3).
 - http://www.irrodl.org/index.php/irrodl/article/view/605/1264
- 8. McClendon, G., Elhage, R., & Laosebikan, O. (2020). Grade Efficacy, Grade Point Average Aggregation, and Covid-19 Readiness at Proximity Learning®-A Company Providing Certified Teachers and Accredited Courses through Online Streaming. International Journal of Education and Social Science, 7.
- 9. Means, B., Toyama, Y., Murphy, R., Bakia, M., & Jones, K. (2009). Evaluation of evidence-based practices in online learning: A meta-analysis and review of online learning studies. *USDOE*. <u>Link</u>
- Moser, S., & Smith, P. (2015). Benefits of Synchronous Online Courses. ASCUE Proceedings, (pp. 43-48). <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED571270.pdf</u>
- O'Brien, A., & Fuller, R. (2018). Synchronous teaching techniques from the perspective and observation of virtual high school teachers: An investigative study. *International Journal of Information and Communication Technology Education (IJICTE)*, 14(3), 55-67. DOI: 10.4018/IJICTE.2018070105
- 12. Peterson, A. T., Beymer, P. N., & Putnam, R. T. (2018). Synchronous and asynchronous discussions: Effects on cooperation, belonging, and affect. *Online Learning*, 22(4), 7-25.
- Perveen, A. (2016). Synchronous and Asynchronous E-Language Learning: A Case Study of Virtual University of Pakistan. Open Praxis, 8(1), 21-39. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1093436.pdf</u>
- 14. Proximity Learning. (2022). *About Us.* Retrieved from <u>https://www.proxlearn.com/#:~:text=Live%200nline%20Instruction,ask%20questions%20in%20rea</u> <u>l%2Dtime</u>.
- 15. Proximity Learning. (2022). How it Works. Retrieved from https://www.proxlearn.com/how-it-works
- 16. Racheva, V. (2018, December). Social aspects of synchronous virtual learning environments. In AIP Conference Proceedings (Vol. 2048, No. 1, p. 020032). AIP Publishing LLC.
- 17. Skylar, A. A. (2009). A Comparison of Asynchronous Online Text-Based Lectures and Synchronous Interactive Web Conferencing Lectures. *Issues in Teacher Education*, *18*(2), 69–84. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ858506.pdf</u>
- 18. Watts, L. (2016). Synchronous and asynchronous communication in distance learning: A review of the literature. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 17(1), 23.



Appendix D

Best Practices in Proximity/Synchronous Learning Environments⁹

- 1. Provide a welcome message that is displayed approximately 15 minutes before class.
- 2. Notify Class of your presence and encourage equipment checks.
- 3. Provide easily accessed methods to connect/enter the virtual classroom
- 4. Record class meetings.
- 5. Discourage unnecessary use of video sharing.
- 6. Maintain virtual office hours.
- 7. Pre-load software that will be used during class presentation.
- 8. If possible have more than one monitor/display.
- 9. Equip your teaching/production facility with various video options.
- 10. Use electronic Textbooks and other reference materials.
- **11**. Encourage (require?) students to participate in virtual study sessions/group meetings.
- **12**. Integrate additional software systems to augment the virtual classroom experience.

BOARD OF EDUCATION

Michelle Robinson McKissack, Chair Althea Greene, Vice Chair Miska Clay Bibbs Joyce Dorse Coleman Charles Everett Sheleah Harris Stephanie Love William "Billy" Orgel Kevin D. Woods

Dr. Joris M. Ray, Superintendent

Memphis-Shelby County Schools offers educational and employment opportunities without regard to race, color, religion, sex, creed, age, disability, national origin, or genetic information.